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Scythian Biosciences Corp. (the "Issuer") is an international cannabis company with a 
focus on the world's leading markets outside of Canada. It seeks out strategic investments 
and regional partnerships in the cultivation and distribution of cannabis products across 
Europe, the United States, South America and the Caribbean where such activities are 
legally permitted. In addition to seeking out cannabis investments and opportunities, 
Scythian is researching and developing medical cannabis drug therapies. The first 
research project underway is the development of a proprietary marijuana-based 
combination drug therapy for the treatment of concussions and traumatic brain injury in 
conjunction with the University of Miami, Miller School of Medicine in Miami, Florida (the 
"University"). See "Narrative Description of the Business". In the United States, there is a 
conflict between state and federal law related to marijuana with certain U.S. states 
permitting its use and sale within a regulatory framework notwithstanding that the 
cultivation, possession and distribution of marijuana is illegal under U.S. federal law. See 
"Regulatory Developments in the United States". 

In light of the political and regulatory uncertainty surrounding the treatment of marijuana 
activities in the U.S., the Canadian Securities Administrators published Staff Notice 51-352 
– Issuers with U.S. Marijuana-Related Activities (the "Staff Notice"), as amended, setting 
out the Canadian Securities Administrators disclosure expectations for issuers with direct, 
indirect or ancillary involvement in the U.S. marijuana industry ("U.S Marijuana-Related 
Activities").  

The Issuer currently conducts U.S. Marijuana-Related Activities through its contractual 
arrangement with the University whereby the University possesses marijuana to conduct 
medical marijuana research on behalf of the Issuer in the United States pursuant to a U.S. 
federal license issued by the U.S. federal Drug Enforcement Agency. If the Issuer 
completes its acquisition of CannCure (as described further in this Listing Statement), then 
the Issuer will become involved in additional U.S. Marijuana-Related Activities comprised 
of the cultivation and proposed distribution of medical marijuana in the State of Florida. 
Such activities will be in compliance with applicable Florida state laws but illegal under 
U.S. federal law.  

There is no guarantee that state laws legalizing and regulating the sale and use of cannabis 
will not be repealed or overturned, or that local governmental authorities will not limit the 
applicability of state laws within their respective jurisdictions. Unless and until the United 
States Congress amends federal laws with respect to medical and/or adult-use cannabis 
(and as to the timing or scope of any such potential amendments there can be no 
assurance), there is also a risk that U.S. federal authorities may enforce current federal 
law. If the U.S. federal government begins to enforce federal laws relating to cannabis in 
states where the sale and use of cannabis is currently legal, or if existing applicable state 
laws are repealed or curtailed, it could potentially result in a material adverse effect on the 
Issuer, including its reputation and ability to conduct business, the listing of its securities 
on various stock exchanges, the market potential of its developmental drug therapy, or the 
market price of its publicly traded shares. 

The Issuer expects to have robust access to both public and private capital in Canada in 
order to support its continuing operations. In 2017, the privately-held predecessor entity 
that effected a reverse takeover of the Issuer raised an aggregate of $16,250,946 by way of 
two private placements. On February 13, 2018, the Issuer completed a public offering of 
units on a "bought deal" basis for aggregate gross proceeds of $14,376,740 (the 



 

 

"Prospectus Offering") and a concurrent "bought deal", brokered private placement of units 
to Aphria Inc. for additional gross proceeds of $14,376,740. In addition, there are also a 
number of Canadian credit unions and at least one major Canadian bank that provide, and 
continue to provide, debt facilities for companies with marijuana-related activities. 

The Issuer will seek the discharge and cancellation of an undertaking it provided to the 
Ontario Securities Commission dated February 6, 2018 whereby the Issuer agreed to limit 
its investments to entities that are not engaged in any U.S. Marijuana-Related Activities 
until such time as the Canadian Securities Administrators communicate a position 
regarding issuers with U.S. marijuana-related activities. 
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NOTES TO READER 

On April 12, 2018, Scythian completed a forward stock split of its issued and outstanding 
common shares on a four (4) for one (1) basis. Except where otherwise noted, information 
relating to the securities of the Issuer in this Listing Statement have been presented on a 
post-stock split basis. 

Subject to the approval of shareholders, Scythian will be changing its name to "SOL Global 
Investments Corp." 

 

1. GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

The following is a glossary of certain terms used in this Listing Statement. Words below importing 
the singular, where the context requires, include the plural and vice versa, and words importing 
any gender include all genders. All dollar amounts herein are in Canadian dollars, unless 
otherwise stated. 

"2016 Share Consolidation" means the consolidation of the Common Shares on a 10:1 basis 
effected on December 5, 2016. 

"3 Boys Farms" means 3 Boys Farms, LLC.  

"ABP" means ABP S.A.  

"Act" means Securities Act (Ontario).  

"Aphria" means Aphria Inc. (TSX: APH).  

"Aphria Sale Transaction" has the meaning set out in "Narrative Description of the Business – 
General – Proposed Acquisition and Sale of South American and Caribbean Assets to Aphria – 
Aphria Sale Transaction". 

"BCBCA" means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as amended from time to 
time. 

"Board" or "Board of Directors" means the board of directors of Scythian.  

"BrazilCo" means Brazil Investments Inc. 

"CannCure" means CannCure Investments Inc. 

"CannCure Acquisition" has the meaning set out in "Narrative Description of the Business – 
General – Florida Expansion".   

"CBCA" means the Business Corporations Act (Canada), as amended from time to time. 

"CBD" means cannabidiol, one of the primary cannabinoids contained in cannabis.  

"CBN" means cannabinol, a cannabinoid contained in cannabis.  
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"CEO" means Chief Executive Officer. 

"CFO" means Chief Financial Officer.  

"Colcanna" means Colcanna SAS.  

"Combination Therapy" has the meaning set out in "General Development of the Business – 
General Business of the Issuer". 

"Common Shares" means the common shares in the capital of the Issuer.  

"CSA" means the United States federal Controlled Substances Act of 1970.  

"CSE" or "Exchange" means the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

"DSU" means deferred share unit.  

"DSU Participant" means the directors, full-time employees and officers of the Issuer or of any 
affiliate or associate of the Issuer permitted to participate in the DSU Plan in accordance with its 
terms.  

"DSU Plan" means Scythian's deferred share unit plan.  

"FDA" means the United States Food and Drug Administration.  

"Healthcare Organization" means the undisclosed Florida-based multi-specialty primary 
care/health and wellness medical organization being acquired by CannCure as described in this 
Listing Statement. 

"IND" means a pre-investigational new drug and investigational new drug.  

"Issuer" or "Scythian" means Scythian Biosciences Corp. 

"Kitrinor" means Kitrinor Metals Inc., the former name of the Issuer prior to the RTO Transaction. 

"Marigold" means Marigold Acquisitions Inc.  

"Marigold Jamaica" means Marigold Projects Jamaica Limited. 

"MMJ Argentina" means MMJ International Investments Inc. 

"MMJ Colombia" means MMJ Colombia Partners Inc. 

"Nasdaq" means the Nasdaq Capital Market.  

"OBCA" means the Business Corporations Act (Ontario), as amended from time to time. 

"OTCQB Marketplace" means the OTCQB Venture Market of the U.S.-based OTC Markets 
Group. 

"PrivateCo" means privately-held Scythian Biosciences Inc., a medical cannabinoid-based 
research and development company.  
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"PrivateCo Consolidation" means the consolidation of the PrivateCo common shares on an 80:1 
basis.  

"R&D Agreement" means the collaborative research agreement between Scythian and the 
University dated July 25, 2016 and subsequently amended February 10, 2017 and October 16, 
2017. 

"RTO Business Combination Agreement" means the business combination agreement dated 
June 6, 2017 between the Issuer, PrivateCo and 10188760 Canada Inc. 

"RTO Share Consolidation" means the consolidation of the Common Shares on a 20:1 basis 
pursuant to the RTO Transaction.  

"RTO Transaction" means the reverse takeover of the Issuer by PrivateCo completed on 
August 1, 2017.  

"SEC" means the United States Securities Exchange Commission. 

"service providers" means, pursuant to the Stock Option Plan, directors, officers, employees 
and persons engaged to provide ongoing management and consulting services.  

"Shareholders" means the holders of the Common Shares.  

"Stock Option Plan" means the Scythian's stock option plan.  

"Stock Split" means the forward stock split of the Common Shares on a four (4) for one (1) basis 
completed on April 12, 2018.  

"THC" means delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol. 

"TSX" means the Toronto Stock Exchange. 

"TSXV" means the TSX Venture Exchange. 

"UConcussion Program" means the University's UConcussion Treatment & Management 
Program.  

"University" means the University of Miami, in the City of Miami, Florida. 

"we", "us", "our", or "the Issuer" means Scythian and any of its subsidiaries. 

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

This Listing Statement contains certain information that may constitute "forward-looking 
information" and "forward-looking statements" (collectively, "forward-looking statements") 
which are based upon the Issuer's current internal expectations, estimates, projections, 
assumptions and beliefs. Such statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking 
terminology such as "expect," "likely", "may," "will," "should," "intend," "anticipate", "potential", 
"proposed", "estimate", "believe", "anticipates" "plan", "expect", "forecast" and other similar words, 
including negative and grammatical variations thereof, or statements that certain events or 
conditions "may" or "will" happen, or by discussions of strategy. Actual results and developments 
may differ materially from those contemplated by these statements. Forward-looking statements 
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include estimates, plans, expectations, opinions, forecasts, projections, targets, guidance, or 
other statements that are not statements of fact. The forward-looking statements included in this 
Listing Statement are made only as of the date of this Listing Statement. Forward-looking 
statements in this Listing Statement include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to: 

(a) the strategic plans of the Issuer to grow and expand its business and operations; 

(b) any commentary related to the legalization of cannabis in Canada, the United 
States and elsewhere and the timing related thereto; 

(c) changes in laws, regulations and guidelines relating to Scythian's business, 
liabilities inherent in cannabis development operations;  

(d) the terms and conditions of the proposed acquisitions and dispositions relating to 
MMJ Argentina, ABP, Marigold, Marigold Jamaica, MMJ Colombia, Colcanna, 
LATAM Holdings Inc., BrazilCo and CannCure including timing on the closing of 
the transactions; 

(e) the strategic growth plans of the Healthcare Organization and 3 Boys Farms; 

(f) the Issuer's plans to develop a program for monitoring compliance with any 
changes to Florida state laws and U.S. federal laws if the proposed CannCure 
Acquisition is completed; 

(g) the anticipated use of funds from the Aphria Sale Transaction to partially pay for 
the proposed CannCure Acquisition;  

(h) the expectation that the Issuer's general and administration expenditures will likely 
increase as the business expands with further acquisitions and investments; 

(i) timing on the completion of pre-clinical and clinical trials of the Combination 
Therapy;  

(j) the research and development stages, including the timing and costs thereof, in 
respect of bringing the Combination Therapy to market;  

(k) plans to seek a manufacturing and marketing partner in the event any of the 
Issuer's drug candidates are successfully developed;  

(l) patent applications, protection and commercialization of intellectual property; and 

(m) the Issuer's plans to retain any earnings to finance growth and expand its 
operations instead of paying any dividends on the Common Shares for the 
foreseeable future. 

Although the Issuer believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements 
are reasonable, it can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. The 
Issuer's forward-looking statements are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary 
statement. A number of factors could cause actual events, performance or results to differ 
materially from what is projected in the forward-looking statements. The purpose of forward-
looking statements is to provide the reader with a description of management's expectations, and 
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such forward-looking statements may not be appropriate for any other purpose. Undue reliance 
should not be placed on forward-looking statements contained in this Listing Statement. We 
undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result 
of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by applicable law. 

2. CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

2.1 Corporate Name 

The full corporate name of the Issuer is Scythian Biosciences Corp. The principal and registered 
office of the Issuer is 100 King Street West, Suite 5600, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5X 1C9. The 
head office address is 100 King Street West, Suite 5600, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5X 1C9. 

2.2 Incorporation 

The Issuer was originally incorporated under the OBCA on January 28, 2005 under the name 
"Canexco Resources Ltd.". On February 25, 2005 the Issuer filed Articles of Amendment 
changing its name to "Norcanex Resources Ltd.". On June 6, 2011, the Issuer filed Articles of 
Amendment changing its name to "Kitrinor Metals Inc.". On November 13, 2012, the Issuer 
became a reporting issuer in the Provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario and its 
common shares began trading on the TSXV under the symbol "KIT".  

On December 5, 2016, the Issuer filed Articles of Amendment consolidating the Common Shares 
on a ten (10) to one (1) basis (the "2016 Share Consolidation").  

On February 16, 2017, trading of the Issuer's common shares ("Common Shares") on the TSXV 
was halted pending approval of the RTO Transaction by the TSXV. 

On August 1, 2017, the Issuer completed the RTO Transaction with PrivateCo pursuant to which, 
among other things, the Issuer filed Articles of Amendment to change its name from "Kitrinor 
Metals Inc." to "Scythian Biosciences Corp." and to effect the RTO Share Consolidation. 
Following completion of the RTO Transaction, the Common Shares resumed trading on the TSXV 
on August 8, 2017 under the symbol "SCYB".  

On April 12, 2018, the Issuer filed Articles of Amendment effecting a stock split of the Common 
Shares on a four (4) for one (1) basis (the "Stock Split"). 
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2.3 Intercorporate Relationships 

The Issuer has two subsidiaries and their authorized share structure is as follows: Scythian's 
structure is as follows: 

 

Scythian Biosciences Inc. is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares of which 
one (1) common share is issued and outstanding.  

LATAM Holdings Inc. is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares of which one 
(1) common share is issued and outstanding. 

3. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 

3.1 General Business of the Issuer 

Scythian is an international cannabis company with a focus on the world's leading markets outside 
of Canada. It seeks out strategic investments and regional partnerships in the cultivation and 
distribution of cannabis products across Europe, the United States, South America and the 
Caribbean where such activities are legally permitted. In addition to seeking out cannabis 
investments and opportunities, Scythian is researching and developing medical cannabis drug 
therapies. This comprehensive approach is expected to position Scythian as a potential global 
frontrunner in the global medical cannabis industry. 

The first research project underway is the development of a proprietary cannabinoid-based 
combination drug therapy for the treatment of concussions and traumatic brain injury 
("Combination Therapy"). To further the development of the Combination Therapy, the Issuer 
has subcontracted its research and development to the University of Miami, Miller School of 
Medicine in Miami, Florida (the "University"). Pursuant to a collaborative research agreement 
between the Issuer and the University dated July 25, 2016 and subsequently amended on 
February 10, 2017 and further amended on October 16, 2017 (the "R&D Agreement"), the 
University, through its "UConcussion Treatment & Management Program" (the "UConcussion 
Program"), conducts and coordinates the Issuer's research activities, including pre-clinical and 

Scythian Biosciences Corp. 
(formerly, Kitrinor Metals Inc.) 

(Incorporated under the OBCA) 

Scythian Biosciences Inc. 
(formed through the amalgamation of 

PrivateCo and 10188760 Canada Inc.) 

(Amalgamated under the CBCA) 

LATAM Holdings Inc. 

(Incorporated under the BCBCA) 

100 % 100 % 
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clinical trials, for the Combination Therapy. The UConcussion Program is a centre for academic 
research on brain and spinal cord injuries. 

The Issuer is also evaluating several strategic initiatives and pursuing partnerships with local 
cultivators, pharmaceutical import and distribution entities and universities on an international 
basis including in North America, South America, the Caribbean and Europe. Scythian recently 
announced the proposed acquisition of pharmaceutical, healthcare and medical cannabis 
businesses in Argentina, Jamaica, Colombia, Brazil and the State of Florida, of which the Issuer 
has since agreed to sell certain of the interests to Aphria for the benefit of the Issuer.  

Events Prior to the RTO Transaction 

The Issuer was previously a junior mining exploration company engaged in the acquisition, 
exploration and development of mineral resource properties in Canada. The Issuer divested itself 
of its mineral properties and focused on identifying and evaluating businesses and assets with a 
view to completing a transaction to enhance shareholder value. Below is a summary of the mineral 
properties held by the Issuer in the last three years. 

Caley Lake Property 

The Issuer staked mining claims located in the Patricia Mining Division southwest of Pickle Lake, 
Ontario. On July 15, 2010, the Issuer optioned the Caley Lake Property to a third party providing 
such party an undivided 80% right, title and interest in and to the claims in consideration for 
completion of certain work costs during the option period expiring on July 15, 2015 such that the 
cumulative sum of all work costs totaled $250,000 or the sum of all work costs and a direct cash 
payment made by the optionee totaled $250,000. The Issuer retained a 2% net smelter 
return/royalty, of which the optionee held the exclusive right and option to purchase one half of 
the royalty (1%) at any time for $750,000. 

On June 25, 2015, the Issuer transferred title to the property in accordance with the agreement, 
with the Issuer retaining a 20% interest. 

On January 20, 2017, the Issuer entered into an assignment agreement to assign all of its 
remaining right, title and interest in the property. The Issuer assigned the net smelter return and 
royalty pursuant to the assignment agreement on January 20, 2017. 

Culroc Property 

On September 27, 2011, the Issuer entered into a mining claim acquisition agreement whereby 
the Issuer acquired 100% interest in a property located in the Township of Sothman in the 
Porcupine mining division of Ontario ("Culroc Property"). The Issuer paid $10,000 upon the 
execution of the agreement and was required to pay to the vendors a three percent (3%) net 
smelter return production royalty from the production or sale of gold or other minerals from the 
Culroc Property. The Issuer retained the sole and exclusive right and option to purchase 1% of 
the royalty (such that the remaining royalty would be reduced to 2% of the net smelter return) for 
a price equal to the reduction price of $1,500,000. 

On November 24, 2016, the Issuer sold its 100% interest in the Culroc Property for a cash 
payment of $500. 
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Feather River Property 

In March 2011, the Issuer entered into an option agreement, as amended in February 2014, 
whereby it was granted the sole, exclusive and irrevocable right and option to acquire up to an 
undivided 100% interest in St. Germain Township, Sault Ste. Marie Mining Division, Province of 
Ontario ("Feather River Property") in the Mishibishu Lake area west of Wawa. The Issuer could 
exercise its option and thereby earn its interest in the property upon fulfilling the commitment to 
pay the seller $150,000 and 15,000 Common Shares as follows: 

 $15,000 (paid) and 1,000 Common Shares (issued) upon signing of the option agreement; 

 an additional $25,000 (paid) and 1,000 Common Shares on March 1, 2012 (issued); 

 an additional $35,000 (paid) and 1,000 Common Shares on March 1, 2013 (issued); 

 an additional 7,000 Common Shares on March 1, 2014; (issued); 

 an additional $75,000 and 5,000 Common Shares on March 1, 2015 (see below); and 

 by carrying out expenditures to keep the claims in good standing. 

The Issuer was required to pay to the vendors a net smelter return production royalty from the 
production or sale of gold or other minerals from the Feather River Property. The production 
royalty rate was 2%. The Issuer had the sole and exclusive right and option to buy back the 
entirety of the royalty in increments of $500,000 per 0.5% each for a total of $2,000,000. The 
Issuer's commitment with respect to the Feather River Property required the payment of cash and 
Common Shares on March 1, 2015. The Issuer has not yet made this payment but has not yet 
received a notice of termination of the option agreement. As the obligations under the option 
agreement were not met, the Issuer no longer has the exclusive and irrevocable right and option 
to acquire up to an undivided 100% interest in the Feather River Property. 

Bayview Property 

This property was staked by the Issuer and is contiguous to the Feather River Property. On 
February 16, 2017, the Issuer entered into a mining claim acquisition agreement whereby it sold 
100% interest in the Bayview Property for a cash payment of $100. 

Change in Auditors 

On October 5, 2016, MNP LLP replaced Parker Simone LLP as auditors of the Issuer. 

Special Warrant Private Placement 

On October 11, 2016, the Issuer closed a non-brokered private placement of 21,520,000 special 
warrants ("Special Warrants") at a price of $0.005 (the "Special Warrant Purchase Price") per 
Special Warrant for gross proceeds of $500,000 (the "Special Warrant Private Placement"). 
Each Special Warrant was exchangeable, at no additional consideration, for one-tenth (1/10) of 
a unit of the Issuer. Each whole unit was comprised of one Common Share and one common 
share purchase warrant of the Issuer, whereby each common share purchase warrant entitled 
the holder thereof to purchase one-tenth (1/10) of a Common Share at a price of $0.01 per share 
for a three year period following the closing date. Although the Special Warrant Private Placement 
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was non-brokered, certain eligible persons were compensated by way of a cash commission 
equal to 8% of the gross proceeds of the Special Warrant Private Placement and an aggregate 
of 1,600,000 non-transferable broker warrants ("Broker Warrants"), each such Broker Warrant 
entitling the holder thereof to acquire one unit at the Special Warrant Purchase Price for a period 
of two years following the closing date.  

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the Special Warrants, on January 19, 2017, all the 
Special Warrants were automatically exchanged for units following the completion of the 2016 
Share Consolidation and the receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals for the 2016 Share 
Consolidation and the Special Warrant Private Placement, including TSXV and shareholder 
approval.  

The RTO Transaction 

On August 1, 2017, the Issuer completed the RTO Transaction with PrivateCo. The RTO 
Transaction involved, among other things, the amalgamation of the Issuer's wholly-owned 
subsidiary, 10188760 Canada Inc. and PrivateCo, the exchange of all of the issued and 
outstanding securities of PrivateCo for securities of the Issuer, the reconstitution of the Issuer's 
management and Board of Directors and a change of name of the Issuer. The RTO Transaction 
constituted a change of business and a reverse takeover transaction of the Issuer pursuant to 
TSXV Policy 5.2 – Changes of Business and Reverse Takeovers. The RTO Transaction was 
originally announced on February 1, 2017 pursuant to the entering into of an arm's length letter 
of intent between the parties followed by the execution of a formal business combination 
agreement on June 6, 2017 (the "RTO Business Combination Agreement").  

The RTO Transaction was comprised of a series of transactions beginning with certain financings 
conducted by PrivateCo. On March 13, 2017, PrivateCo completed the first tranche of a brokered 
private placement offering (the "PrivateCo Brokered Financing") of 6,542,000 PrivateCo 
subscription receipts ("Subscription Receipts") at a price of $2.00 per Subscription Receipt for 
aggregate gross proceeds of $13,085,000. PrivateCo completed the second tranche of the 
PrivateCo Brokered Financing on March 31, 2017, pursuant to which it issued an additional 
100,000 Subscription Receipts for gross proceeds of $200,000. In accordance with their terms, 
the Subscription Receipts were automatically exchangeable, without any additional consideration, 
for PrivateCo common shares on a post-PrivateCo Consolidation basis (defined below). An 
investor syndicate comprised of both new investors, including institutional investors, and existing 
shareholders participated in the PrivateCo Brokered Financing. 

On March 20, 2017, PrivateCo completed the first tranche of a non-brokered private placement 
offering of PrivateCo common shares (the "PrivateCo Non-Brokered Financing") pursuant to 
which it issued 1,185,473 PrivateCo common shares at a price of $2.00 per share for gross 
proceeds of $2,370,946. PrivateCo completed a second tranche of the PrivateCo Non-Brokered 
Financing on March 31, 2017 pursuant to which it issued an additional 297,500 PrivateCo 
common shares for gross proceeds of $595,000. 

On August 1, 2017, the Issuer completed the RTO Share Consolidation and PrivateCo effected a 
consolidation of its issued and outstanding shares on the basis of eighty (80) common shares to 
one (1) common share held (the "PrivateCo Consolidation").  

Immediately following the RTO Share Consolidation and the PrivateCo Consolidation, 10188760 
Canada Inc. and PrivateCo amalgamated and the Subscription Receipts were converted into 
PrivateCo common shares in accordance with their terms. The Issuer then issued a total of 
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11,548,204 Common Shares to PrivateCo shareholders in exchange for PrivateCo common 
shares on an 80-1 basis, 327,500 options of the Issuer were issued in exchange for equivalent 
PrivateCo options and 568,784 warrants of the Issuer were issued in exchange for equivalent 
PrivateCo warrants.  

The Issuer also issued 300,000 options to certain members of the Issuer's reconstituted 
management team exercisable at $2.00 for a period 5 years pursuant to the Stock Option Plan 
and 445,000 DSUs to members of the reconstituted management team and Board of Directors 
pursuant to the Issuer's recently adopted DSU Plan, each such DSU representing the right to 
receive one Common Share or its cash equivalent.  

The Issuer also issued 198,800 Common Shares to satisfy a finder's fee payable to Duck Capital 
Inc., as payment of a finder's fee due under the terms of an agreement dated January 10, 2017.  

The Issuer changed its financial year end from December 31 to March 31 as part of the RTO 
Transaction to inherit the financial year end of PrivateCo in accordance with applicable accounting 
rules. 

Immediately following the completion of the RTO Transaction, a total of 21,027,636 Common 
Shares were issued and outstanding of which former Kitrinor shareholders held 2,638,128 
Common Shares (representing 10.54% on a fully diluted basis), former PrivateCo shareholders 
held 2,887,052 of the Common Shares (representing 46.15% on a fully diluted basis) and former 
PrivateCo Subscription Receipt holders held 11,548,208 of the Common Shares (representing 
26.54% on a fully diluted basis). Additionally, 2,881,784 warrants of the Issuer (representing 
11.52% on a fully diluted basis), 670,200 options (representing 2.68% on a fully diluted basis) and 
445,000 DSUs (representing 1.78% on a fully diluted basis) were issued and outstanding.  

As a result of the RTO Transaction, the Issuer met the listing requirements for a "Tier 2" life 
sciences issuer on the TSXV. On August 4, 2017, the Issuer received final approval from the 
TSXV, and the Issuer's Common Shares resumed trading on the TSXV on August 8, 2017 under 
the new ticker symbol "SCYB". 

Events Following the RTO Transaction 

Since the RTO Transaction, Scythian has continued to pursue its business objective of engaging 
in research and development of cannabis-related pharmaceutical products, with a focus on 
Scythian's Combination Therapy and finding a solution for the prevention and treatment of 
concussions and other traumatic brain injuries through its proprietary Cannabinoid combination. 

On August 14, 2017, the Issuer's Common Shares started trading on the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange under the symbol SCCYF.  

On August 17, 2017, Scythian engaged the services of Hybrid Financial Ltd. for strategic investor 
relations activities.  

On October 18, 2017, Scythian retained the services of Star Finance GmbH to assist the Issuer 
with investor relations, business development and management advisory services.  

On August 28, 2017, Scythian engaged the services of The Weinberg Group, to provide 
assistance with the Issuer's Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") application, including pre-
investigational new drug and investigational new drug ("IND") consulting services.  
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On August 29, 2017, Scythian submitted an initial listing application to list its Common Shares on 
the Nasdaq.  

On September 5, 2017, Scythian appointed Mr. Maghsoud Dariani as Chief Scientific Officer to 
the Issuer. Mr. Dariani was previously on the Issuer's advisory board and has over 35 years of 
experience in the development and commercialization of products in the pharmaceutical industry. 
Mr. Dariani's experience includes, among other things, management positions at Semorex, Focus 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Celgene Corporation and Chiral Pharmaceuticals. 

On September 27, 2017, the Issuer formed its Professional Athlete Advisory Committee, the 
purpose of which is to bring together various current and former professional athletes who have 
experienced or share concern for the pain and suffering associated with concussions that occur 
during sports competitions. Mr. Bart Oates, a former star NFL player with the New York Giants 
and San Francisco 49ers, was selected to lead the Professional Athlete Advisory Committee and 
is tasked with recruiting new members from various professional sports. On December 11, 2017, 
Mr. Ottis Jerome "O.J." Anderson was appointed to the Professional Athlete Advisory Committee. 
Mr. Anderson was the NFL Offensive Rookie of the Year in 1979 and the MVP of Super Bowl XXV 
in 1991.  

On November 29, 2017, the Issuer completed the sale of its subsidiary, Go Green B.C. Medicinal 
Cannabis Ltd. ("Go Green"), to 1065703 B.C. Ltd. Go Green, which had been a wholly owned 
subsidiary of PrivateCo prior to the RTO Transaction, was in the process of acquiring a license to 
sell and cultivate medical cannabis under the Marihuana for Medical Purposes Regulations. 
Under the terms of the sale, 1065703 B.C. Ltd. paid an aggregate cash consideration of $200,000, 
consisting of an upfront payment of $100,000 and future payments totaling $100,000. In addition 
to the cash consideration, 108,000 Common Shares held by 1065703 B.C. Ltd. were returned to 
the Issuer for cancellation.  

On January 10, 2018, the Common Shares, which were initially listed on the OTC Pink 
Marketplace were upgraded to the OTCQB Marketplace. The Common Shares began trading on 
the OTCQB Marketplace under the ticker "SCCYF".  

On January 15, 2018, the Issuer announced that Mr. Vic Neufeld, the Chief Executive Officer and 
a director of Aphria, and Mr. George Scorsis, the Chief Executive Officer and a director of Liberty 
Health Sciences Inc., had joined the Issuer's Board of Directors effective the same date. In 
connection with the appointments of Mr. Neufeld and Mr. Scorsis, Mr. Michael Petter and Mr. 
Peter Benz resigned as directors of the Issuer effective January 15, 2018. 

On February 13, 2018, the Issuer closed its previously announced "bought deal" short form 
prospectus offering of a total of 3,091,772 units of the Issuer ("Units") at a price of $4.65 per Unit 
(the "Offering Price") for gross proceeds of $14,376,740 (the "Prospectus Offering"). The 
Prospectus Offering was completed by a syndicate of underwriters led by Clarus Securities Inc., 
as lead underwriter and sole bookrunner, and including Haywood Securities Inc. and INFOR 
Financial Inc. (the "Underwriters"). Each Unit was comprised of one Common Share and one 
Common Share purchase warrant. Each such warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one 
Common Share at a price of $5.50 for a period of 24 months following the issuance date.  

In connection with the Prospectus Offering, on February 13, 2018, the Issuer also issued and sold 
on a concurrent, "bought deal" brokered private placement basis, 3,091,772 Units for re-sale to 
Aphria on the same terms and conditions as the Prospectus Offering for gross proceeds of 
$14,376,740 (the "Concurrent Private Placement", together with the Prospectus Offering, the 
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"February 2018 Offerings"). The Concurrent Private Placement was also led by Clarus 
Securities Inc., as lead underwriter and sole bookrunner on behalf of the Underwriters. The 
aggregate gross proceeds of the February 2018 Offerings was $28,753,480.  

In consideration for their services, the Underwriters received a cash commission equal to 7% of 
the gross proceeds of the February 2018 Offerings and compensation options equal to 7% of the 
Units sold pursuant to the February 2018 Offerings. Each compensation option is exercisable into 
one unit at the Offering Price until February 13, 2020.  

On February 14, 2018, the Issuer received the Nasdaq International Designation for the trading 
of the Common Shares on the OTCQB Marketplace.  

On February 15, 2018, Professor Michael Barnes joined the Issuer as Chief Medical Officer. 
Professor Barnes is considered to be a leading world authority in neurological rehabilitation and 
has emerged as an influential voice in medical cannabis policy in Europe.  

On March 7, 2018, the Issuer held a special shareholder meeting where Shareholders approved 
the Stock Split, the appointments of Victor Neufeld, George Scorsis, Robert Reid and Renah 
Persofsky to the Board of Directors and certain amendments to the Issuer's DSU Plan. Concurrent 
with the election of the new directors, Mr. Roger Rai and Mr. Gary Leong resigned as members 
of the Issuer's Board of Directors.  

On March 12, 2018, Scythian announced a non-binding letter of intent with MMJ International 
Investments Inc. ("MMJ Argentina") to acquire MMJ Argentina, a company pursuing medical 
cannabis opportunities in South America. MMJ Argentina is the owner of ABP S.A. ("ABP"), an 
established Argentine company in the business of importing, selling and distributing 
pharmaceutical and medical products and derivatives in the Argentine Republic. See Section 4 – 
Narrative Description of the Business – General – Proposed Acquisition and Sale of South 
American and Caribbean Assets to Aphria – Argentina. 

On March 12, 2018, the Issuer announced that the Stock Split would be effected on a 4-for-1 
basis. On the same day, the Issuer also announced the appointment of Victor Neufeld as the 
Issuer's new Chairman of the Board of Directors, replacing Mr. Jonathan Gilbert. Mr. George 
Scorsis was also appointed Lead Director of the Issuer.  

On March 22, 2018, the Issuer announced a binding letter of intent to acquire Marigold 
Acquisitions Inc. ("Marigold"). The acquisition would result in the Issuer becoming a major 
stakeholder of Marigold Projects Jamaica Limited ("Marigold Jamaica"), a Jamaican medical 
cannabis company. See Section 4 – Narrative Description of the Business – General – Proposed 
Acquisition and Sale of South American and Caribbean Assets to Aphria – Jamaica. 

On March 29, 2018, the Issuer announced the departure of Mr. David Schrader as the Issuer's 
Chief Operating Officer.  

On April 9, 2018, Scythian announced that it had entered into a binding letter of intent to acquire 
MMJ Colombia Partners Inc. ("MMJ Colombia"). MMJ Colombia is an Ontario company that was 
in the process of purchasing 90% of the voting securities of Colcanna SAS ("Colcanna"), a 
Colombian medical cannabis company. See Section 4 – Narrative Description of the Business – 
General – Proposed Acquisition and Sale of South American and Caribbean Assets to Aphria – 
Colombia.  
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On April 12, 2018, the Issuer completed the Stock Split. Pursuant to the Stock Split, each 
shareholder of record as of the close on business April 13, 2018, received three additional 
Common Shares for each Common Share held.  

On April 17, 2018, the Issuer announced the appointments of Gabriel Meneses and Roberto 
Pérez Ruiz to the Issuer's executive and senior leadership teams and the engagement of 
Houston, Texas-based Winning Media LLC for investor relations activities. Mr. Meneses was 
appointed Vice President of Latin America and Caribbean and would oversee the development of 
new market opportunities in Latin America while leading other initiatives to further stimulate the 
Issuer's growth in international markets. Mr. Ruiz was appointed Senior Director of Business 
Development and would support and contribute to the strategy and execution in the development 
of new market opportunities and specific objectives in Latin America.  

On April 25, 2018, Mr. Robert Reid was appointed Chief Executive Officer and Mr. George Scorsis 
as Chairman of the Board of Directors. Mr. Roger Rai was also reinstated to the Board of 
Directors. In connection with these appointments, Mr. Victor Neufeld and Ms. Renah Persofsky 
each resigned from the Board of Directors. Additionally, Mr. Jonathan Gilbert stepped down as 
Chief Executive Officer of Scythian and took on a new role managing the partnership with the 
University.  

On May 7, 2018, Scythian announced that it had signed a letter agreement with Isodiol 
International Inc. ("Isodiol"), a developer and manufacturer of CBD products, to export and 
distribute Isodiol products to certain countries in the Caribbean, Central America and South 
America, including Argentina, Jamaica and Colombia. Scythian also committed to invest 
$2,000,000 into Isodiol in exchange for 2,739,726 units of Isodiol, with each unit consisting of one 
common share of Isodiol and one whole common share purchase warrant. Each common share 
purchase warrant is exercisable for a period of three years from the issue date at a price of $1.00 
per common share.  

On May 11, 2018, the Issuer announced a definitive business combination agreement with MMJ 
Argentina, whereby the Issuer would acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
MMJ Argentina by way of a three-cornered amalgamation between the Issuer, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Issuer and MMJ Argentina. The agreement superseded the non-binding letter of 
intent between Scythian and MMJ Argentina previously announced on March 12, 2018. 

On June 5, 2018, Scythian announced a proposed change of name of the Issuer to "SOL Global 
Investments Corp.". The name change is subject to Shareholder approval.  

On July 17, 2018, Scythian announced the entering into of a definitive share purchase agreement 
with Aphria Inc. whereby it agreed to sell and Aphria agreed to purchase, MMJ Argentina, 
Marigold and MMJ Colombia, together with each of their business interests and assets in 
Argentina, Jamaica and Colombia, respectively, all of which the Issuer is currently in the process 
of acquiring in accordance with previously-announced binding agreements, for a purchase price 
of $193 million plus the assumption of US$1 million in aggregate liabilities owing to the Issuer (the 
"Aphria Sale Transaction"). In accordance with the terms of the share purchase agreement, 
subject to the completion of the Issuer's acquisitions of MMJ Argentina, Marigold and MMJ 
Colombia, each such company will be transferred to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Issuer, 
LATAM Holdings Inc., whose common shares will then be sold to Aphria upon closing of the 
Aphria Sale Transaction. See Section 4 – Narrative Description of the Business – General – 
Proposed Acquisition and Sale of South American and Caribbean Assets to Aphria – Aphria Sale 
Transaction. 
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On July 23, 2018, Scythian announced a binding letter of intent to acquire 15% of the issued and 
outstanding common shares of Brazil Investments Inc. ("BrazilCo"), a British Columbia company 
in the process of acquiring 100% of the voting securities of Green Farma Brasil ("Green Farma"). 
See Section 4 – Narrative Description of the Business – General – Proposed Acquisition and Sale 
of South American and Caribbean Assets to Aphria – Aphria Sale Transaction. 

On July 26, 2018, the trading of the Common Shares on the TSXV was halted at the request of 
the Issuer pending the release of material information. 

On July 27, 2018, Mr. George Scorsis resigned from the Board of Directors.  

On July 30, 2018, Scythian announced a letter of intent to acquire CannCure Investments Inc., 
an Ontario company in the process of acquiring: (i) an interest in an undisclosed Florida-based 
multi-specialty primary care/health and wellness medical organization; and (ii) 3 Boys Farms, 
LLC, an established Florida agricultural company with licenses to cultivate, process and dispense 
medical cannabis in the State of Florida and to operate medical cannabis treatment centers in 
Florida. Concurrent with the acquisition of CannCure, Mr. Brady Cobb was appointed to the 
Board. See Section 4 – Narrative Description of the Business – General – Proposed Acquisition 
and Sale of South American and Caribbean Assets to Aphria – Florida Expansion. 

Scythian further announced on July 30, 2018 that it had received conditional approval to list its 
Common Shares for trading on the CSE and that it would voluntarily de-list from the TSXV. The 
trading of the Common Shares on the TSXV is expected to remain halted until listing on the CSE 
is completed. In addition, Scythian would voluntarily withdraw its application to list its Common 
Shares on the Nasdaq and apply to the SEC to de-register its Common Shares under the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Common Shares will continue to trade 
on the OTCQB Marketplace under the symbol "SCCYF" with its Nasdaq International Designation.  

On August 1, 2018, Mr. Jonathan Gilbert resigned from the Board of Directors.  

On August 8, 2018, Scythian announced that MMJ Colombia had completed its acquisition of 
90% of the voting securities of Colcanna and that Colcanna had obtained its Colombian license 
to cultivate and import THC. In addition, Scythian and MMJ Colombia had amended the terms of 
their binding letter of intent. See Section 4 – Narrative Description of the Business – General – 
Proposed Acquisition and Sale of South American and Caribbean Assets to Aphria – Colombia. 

For the remainder of the year, Scythian will focus on research & development, completing the 
Aphria Sale Transaction, completing the proposed acquisitions of BrazilCo and CannCure, and 
pursuing and evaluating medical cannabis opportunities in other jurisdictions with emerging 
regulations that permit the legal cultivation, distribution or use of medical marijuana as well as 
other strategic investments tied to the cannabis space. 

3.2 Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties 

The commercial medical marijuana industry is a relatively new industry and Scythian anticipates 
that such regulations will be subject to change. Scythian's existing operations are subject to a 
variety of laws, regulations, guidelines and policies relating to the manufacture, import, export, 
management, packaging/labelling, advertising, sale, transportation, distribution, storage and 
disposal of the product candidates but also including laws and regulations relating to drugs, 
controlled substances, health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the 
environment. While to the knowledge of management Scythian is currently in compliance with all 
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such laws and regulations, any changes to such laws and regulations including any applicable 
guidelines and policies may have an adverse material effect on Scythian's operations and 
prospects. 

Regulatory Regime in Canada 

The cultivation, possession and distribution of marijuana was originally outlawed in Canada in the 
early 1920s. However, in July 2000, the Ontario Court of Appeal ruled in R. v. Parker that 
individuals with a medical need have the right to possess marijuana for medical purposes. In 
response to the court decision, the Government of Canada implemented the Marihuana Medical 
Access Regulations ("MMAR") in July 2000. The MMAR, which were promulgated pursuant to the 
federal Controlled Drugs and Substances Act ("CDSA") and administered by Health Canada, 
enabled patients with the authorization of their health care practitioner to access and possess 
dried marijuana for medical purposes by producing their own marijuana plants, designating 
someone to produce for them or purchasing from Health Canada's supply. 

In June 2013, the Government of Canada implemented the Marihuana for Medical Purposes 
Regulations ("MMPR"). The MMPR created conditions for a commercial industry responsible for 
the production and distribution of marijuana for medical purposes. Under the MMPR, patients 
could access quality-controlled dried marijuana produced under secure and sanitary conditions 
from licensed producers. However, patients did not have the option to grow their own cannabis 
under the MMPR, unlike the initial MMAR. 

On October 19, 2015, the Liberal Party of Canada (the "Liberal Party") was elected and obtained 
a majority government in Canada. The Liberal Party had made electoral commitments to legalize, 
regulate and tax recreational marijuana use in Canada. 

In February 2016, the Federal Court of Canada ruled in Allard v. Canada that requiring individuals 
to get their marijuana only from licensed producers violated liberty and security rights protected 
by section 7 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms. The Court found that individuals 
who required marijuana for medical purposes did not have "reasonable access". In response, the 
Government of Canada introduced the Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations 
("ACMPR") in August 2016. Similar to the MMPR, the ACMPR set out a framework for the 
commercial production of quality-controlled fresh or dried marijuana or cannabis oil or starting 
materials in secure and sanitary conditions. Similar to the MMAR, the ACMPR set out provisions 
for individuals to produce a limited amount of cannabis for their own medical purposes or to 
designate someone to produce it for them.  

On April 13, 2017, the Liberal Party tabled Bill C-45, An Act respecting cannabis and to amend 
the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, the Criminal Code and other Acts (the "Cannabis Act 
(Canada)"), which would legalize and regulate the production, distribution and sale of marijuana 
for unqualified adult recreational use across Canada. The Cannabis Act (Canada) was passed by 
the House of Commons on November 27, 2017 and was passed by the Senate on June 19, 2018. 
On June 21, 2018, the legislation received Royal Assent and is currently expected to come into 
force on October 17, 2018. When the Cannabis Act (Canada) and its regulations come into force, 
cannabis will cease to be regulated under the CDSA and will instead be regulated under the 
Cannabis Act (Canada). The ACMPR will be repealed and replaced by the Cannabis Regulations, 
which will be promulgated pursuant to the Cannabis Act (Canada). The Cannabis Act (Canada) 
will continue to impose a strict licensing regime on the commercial production of cannabis 
products and require robust physical and personnel security protocols on the part of licensed 
producers. In addition, the new statute will strictly limit the ability of licensed producers to market 
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and brand their cannabis commercial retail packages and will require mandatory health warning 
labels. 

Under the Cannabis Act (Canada), the provinces and territories of Canada will have authority to 
regulate other aspects of recreational cannabis (similar to what is currently the case for liquor and 
tobacco products), such as the sale and distribution, minimum age requirements, places where 
cannabis can be consumed, and a range of other matters. 

To date, all of the provincial and territorial governments have announced regulatory regimes for 
the distribution and sale of cannabis for recreational purposes within their respective jurisdictions. 
Each of the provinces and territories has established a minimum age of 19 years old for the legal 
consumption of cannabis, except for Quebec and Alberta, where the minimum age will be 18. 
Although permitted under the Cannabis Act (Canada), Manitoba and Quebec will ban the home 
cultivation of cannabis. 

The Issuer is currently not engaged in the cultivation or distribution of medical marijuana in 
Canada pursuant to the ACMPR or otherwise. It is not yet clear what, if any, negative impact the 
introduction of the Cannabis Act (Canada) and the Cannabis Regulations might have on the 
Issuer's business and on the Canadian medical marijuana industry as a whole. See Section 17 - 
Risk Factors - Changes in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines.  

Regulatory Regime in the United States  

In the United States, marijuana is largely regulated at the state level. There are to date a total of 
29 states, plus the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico and Guam that have legalized marijuana in 
some form. Notwithstanding the permissive regulatory environment of medical marijuana at the 
state level, marijuana continues to be categorized as a Schedule I controlled substance under the 
U.S. Controlled Substances Act of 1970 (the "CSA") and as such, the cultivation, processing and 
distribution of cannabis still technically violates federal law in the United States. 

The United States has a complex regulatory landscape when it comes to medical marijuana. The 
CSA regulates the possession, importation, manufacture, distribution and dispensing of controlled 
substances under United States federal law. Under the CSA, controlled substances are classified 
into schedules based on their potential for abuse by a patient or other user. Marijuana is and 
always has been classified as a Schedule 1 substance under the CSA. Under the CSA, all 
Schedule 1 substances are subject to strict production quotas and, unlike drugs in other 
schedules, no medical prescription may be written for Schedule 1 substances. The CSA, does, 
however, permit the possession, manufacture, or distribution of marijuana or other Schedule 1 
substances in furtherance of a government-approved research study via a license issued by the 
federal Drug Enforcement Agency.  

On August 29, 2013, then U.S. Deputy Attorney General, James Cole, authored a memorandum 
(the "Cole Memorandum") directing that individuals and businesses that rigorously comply with 
state regulatory provisions in states that have strictly-regulated legalized medical or recreational 
marijuana programs should not be a prosecutorial priority for violations of federal law. The Cole 
Memorandum outlined certain priorities for the Department of Justice relating to the prosecution 
of cannabis offenses. In particular, the Cole Memorandum noted that in jurisdictions that have 
enacted laws legalizing marijuana in some form and that have also implemented strong and 
effective regulatory and enforcement systems to control the cultivation, distribution, sale and 
possession of marijuana, conduct in compliance with those laws and regulations is less likely to 
be a priority at the federal level. Notably, however, the Department of Justice has never provided 
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specific guidelines for what regulatory and enforcement systems it deems sufficient under the 
Cole Memorandum standard. In light of limited investigative and prosecutorial resources, the Cole 
Memorandum concluded that the Department of Justice should be focused on addressing only 
the most significant threats related to marijuana. States where medical marijuana had been 
legalized were not characterized as a high priority.  

The United States Congress has passed appropriations bills each of the last three years that 
included the Rohrabacher Amendment Title: H.R.2578 — Commerce, Justice, Science, and 
Related Agencies Appropriations Act, 2016 ("Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment"), which 
by its terms does not appropriate any federal funds to the United States Department of Justice for 
the prosecution of medical marijuana offenses of individuals who are in compliance with state 
medical marijuana laws. This enacted legislation remains in force today. American courts have 
construed these appropriations bills to prevent the federal government from prosecuting 
individuals when those individuals comply with state law. However, because this conduct 
continues to violate federal law, American courts have observed that should Congress at any time 
choose to appropriate funds to fully prosecute the CSA, any individual or business—even those 
that have fully complied with state law—could be prosecuted for violations of federal law. If 
Congress restores funding, the United States government will have the authority to prosecute 
individuals for violations of the law before it lacked funding under the CSA's five-year statute of 
limitations. 

In March 2017, newly appointed U.S. Attorney General Jeff Sessions again noted limited federal 
resources and acknowledged that much of the Cole Memorandum had merit. However, he 
disagreed that it had been implemented effectively and, on January 4, 2018, U.S. Attorney 
General Jeff Sessions issued a memorandum (the "Sessions Memorandum") that rescinded the 
Cole Memorandum. The Sessions Memorandum rescinded previous nationwide guidance 
specific to the prosecutorial authority of United States Attorneys relative to marijuana enforcement 
on the basis that they are unnecessary, given the well-established principles governing federal 
prosecution that are already in place. Those principals are included in chapter 9.27.000 of the 
United States Attorneys' Manual and require federal prosecutors deciding which cases to 
prosecute to weigh all relevant considerations, including federal law enforcement priorities set by 
the Attorney General, the seriousness of the crime, the deterrent effect of criminal prosecution, 
and the cumulative impact of particular crimes on the community.  

As a result of the Sessions Memorandum, federal prosecutors will now be free to utilize their 
prosecutorial discretion to decide whether to prosecute marijuana activities despite the existence 
of state-level laws that may be inconsistent with federal prohibitions. No direction was given to 
federal prosecutors in the Sessions Memorandum as to the priority they should ascribe to such 
marijuana activities, and resultantly it is uncertain how actively federal prosecutors will be in 
relation to such activities. Furthermore, the Sessions Memorandum did not discuss the treatment 
of medical marijuana by federal prosecutors. Medical marijuana is currently protected against 
enforcement by enacted legislation from United States Congress in the form of the Rohrabacher-
Blumenauer Amendment, which similarly prevents federal prosecutors from using federal funds 
to impede the implementation of medical marijuana laws enacted at the state level, subject to 
Congress restoring such funding. Due to the ambiguity of the Sessions Memorandum in relation 
to medical marijuana, there can be no assurance that the federal government will not seek to 
prosecute cases involving marijuana businesses that are otherwise compliant with state law.  

Subsequent to the issuance of the Sessions Memorandum on January 4, 2018, the United States 
Congress passed its omnibus appropriations bill, SJ 1662, which for the fourth consecutive year 
contained the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment language and continued the protections for 
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the medical cannabis marketplace and its lawful participants from interference by the Department 
of Justice up and through the 2018 appropriations deadline of September 30, 2018. American 
courts have construed these appropriations bills to prevent the federal government from 
prosecuting individuals when those individuals comply with state law. However, because this 
conduct continues to violate federal law, American courts have observed that should Congress at 
any time choose to appropriate funds to fully prosecute the CSA, any individual or business—
even those that have fully complied with state law—could be prosecuted for violations of federal 
law. If Congress restores funding, the United States government will have the authority to 
prosecute individuals for violations of the law before it lacked funding under the CSA's five-year 
statute of limitations. 

Additionally, under U.S. federal law it may potentially be a violation of federal money laundering 
statutes for financial institutions to accept any proceeds from cannabis sales or any other 
Schedule I narcotics. Canadian banks are similarly reluctant to transact with cannabis companies, 
due to the uncertain legal and regulatory framework characterizing the industry at present. Banks 
and other financial institutions could be prosecuted and possibly convicted of money laundering 
for providing services to cannabis businesses. Under U.S. federal law, banks or other financial 
institutions that provide a cannabis business with a checking account, debit or credit card, small 
business loan, or any other service could be found guilty of money laundering or conspiracy. 
Despite these laws, in February 2014, the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network ("FCEN") of 
the Treasury Department issued a memorandum (the "FCEN Memo") providing instructions to 
banks seeking to provide services to cannabis-related businesses. The FCEN Memo states that 
in some circumstances, it is permissible for banks to provide services to cannabis-related 
businesses without risking prosecution for violation of federal money laundering laws. It refers to 
supplementary guidance that Deputy Attorney General Cole issued to federal prosecutors relating 
to the prosecution of money laundering offenses predicated on cannabis-related violations of the 
CSA. It is unclear at this time whether the current administration will follow the guidelines of the 
FCEN Memo. 

Although recreational use of marijuana is criminalized at the state level, medical marijuana is now 
legal under the Florida Constitution. The process of legalization began in 2014, when the 
legislature for the State of Florida passed the Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act which 
legalized a non-euphoric strain of marijuana for medical use in Florida for certain patients with 
terminal illnesses and certain other conditions. In November 2016, Amendment 2 to the Florida 
Constitution was approved which expanded the reach of the Florida Constitution to include 
medical marijuana to treat twenty plus medical conditions and/or those conditions that a physician 
would opine could be alleviated with the use of medical marijuana. The Florida legislature was 
granted an opportunity to draft and pass legislation to implement Amendment 2 during the 2017 
legislative session, and the legislature passed and the governor signed Senate Bill 8A, which is 
now codified as Fla. Stat 381.986 et seq. The Florida Department of Health, Office of Medical 
Marijuana Use has issued a series of rules to implement section 381.986, and additional rules 
regarding dosing, edibles, and related topics are in process. To date, several procedural and 
administrative rules have been enacted pertaining to pesticide use, penalties for statutory 
violations and other administrative matters. 

The Issuer's business and its association with the University through the pre-clinical and clinical 
trials of its Combination Therapy, which includes the use and/or handling of marijuana as a 
Schedule 1 substance, is in compliance with the laws in the State of Florida and the federal laws 
of the United States. The University was awarded a license from the Federal Drug Enforcement 
Agency ("DEA") to conduct the R&D Agreement as a government approved research project 
involving marijuana in accordance with the CSA. If the Issuer completes the CannCure 
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Acquisition, then the Issuer will also begin cultivating and distributing medical marijuana in the 
State of Florida. Such additional activities will be in compliance with applicable Florida state laws 
but illegal under U.S. federal law.  

The approach to enforcement of medical marijuana by both the State of Florida and the United 
States government is subject to change, and any such change in the laws relating to medical 
marijuana may adversely affect the Issuer. See Section 17 - Risk Factors - Changes in Laws, 
Regulations and Guidelines. 

The Issuer provided an undertaking to the Ontario Securities Commission in connection with the 
Prospectus Offering whereby the Issuer agreed to limit its investments to entities that are not 
engaged in any U.S. marijuana-related activities (as such term is contemplated in Staff Notice 51-
352 of the Canadian Securities Administrators), until such time as the Canadian Securities 
Administrators communicate a position regarding issuers with U.S. marijuana-related activities. 

Regulatory Regime in Argentina 

The production, commercialization, use and consumption of cannabis for strictly medical and 
scientific purposes was recently legalized in the Argentine Republic following the Argentine 
government's passing of Law 27,350 and Decree 738/2017 in March 2017.  

The National Administration of Drugs, Foods and Medical Technology ("ANMAT") is the agency 
of the Argentinian Ministry of Health responsible for regulating food, medical devices, dietary 
supplements and pharmaceuticals in Argentina. ANMAT is also responsible for regulating the 
production, commercialization and import/export of medical cannabis. Each province of Argentina 
also has a health authority which regulates the production and commercialization of drugs within 
its respective territory. Entities carrying out activities involving the production and distribution of 
medical cannabis products may therefore be subject to both ANMAT and the applicable provincial 
regulator. 

To date, ANMAT has not approved any cannabis oil or derivative for commercialization, whether 
domestically produced or imported. Consequently, pharmacies and wholesale drug distribution 
companies ("WDDCs") in Argentina currently cannot sell medical cannabis-based products to the 
public. Only patients registered in the "National Program for the Study and Research of the 
Medical Uses of Cannabis and its Derivatives and Non-Conventional Treatments" can access 
cannabis oil and its derivatives. The National Program is currently limited to patients suffering 
from refractory epileptic encephalopathy. Cannabis oil or derivatives may be imported on a single-
patient basis pursuant to permission from ANMAT and the Argentine Customs Service but cannot 
be re-sold in Argentina. The possession and consumption of cannabis for recreational purposes 
remains illegal in Argentina. 

The cultivation of cannabis is strictly controlled in Argentina. Two governmental agencies, the 
National Scientific and Technical Research Council ("CONICET") and the National Agricultural 
Technology Institute ("INTA") are the only entities in Argentina entitled to cultivate and harvest 
cannabis for medical or scientific purposes. Law 27,350 enables both public and private 
laboratories in Argentina to produce cannabis oil and derivatives, however, public laboratories 
registered with the National Public Laboratories Agency have priority as to the cannabis 
production requirements of CONICET and INTA. 

On March 12, 2018, the Issuer announced a non-binding letter of intent to acquire MMJ Argentina, 
and thereby indirectly acquire ABP, an established Argentine company in the business of 
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importing, selling and distributing pharmaceutical and medical products and derivatives in 
Argentina. On May 11, 2018, the Issuer announced a definitive business combination agreement 
with MMJ Argentina, whereby the Issuer would acquire all of the issued and outstanding common 
shares of MMJ Argentina by way of a three-cornered amalgamation between the Issuer, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of the Issuer and MMJ Argentina. On July 17, 2018, the Issuer announced an 
agreement to sell MMJ Argentina, including all of its interests in ABP, to Aphria pursuant to the 
Aphria Sale Transaction. The sale of MMJ Argentina and ABP to Aphria is subject to, among other 
things, the Issuer completing its acquisition of MMJ Argentina. See Section 4 – Narrative 
Description of the Business – General – Proposed Acquisition and Sale of South American and 
Caribbean Assets to Aphria – Argentina.  

Regulatory Regime in Jamaica 

Until recently, the cultivation and distribution of marijuana was prohibited in the country of Jamaica 
pursuant to the Jamaican Dangerous Drugs Act (the "Dangerous Drugs Act"). In 2015, the 
Jamaican government passed an amendment, the Dangerous Drugs (Amendment) Act, 2015, 
thereby creating a regulated licensing regime for the production and sale of marijuana for medical, 
scientific, therapeutic and religious purposes. Among other things, the licensing regime permits 
tourists with a medical cannabis prescription from their home country to purchase and consume 
medical marijuana. The Jamaican Cannabis Licensing Authority administers the licensing regime 
for the cultivation, processing, transportation, retail use, and research and development of 
medical and therapeutic cannabis. The types of cannabis licenses available are as follows: 

Type of License Scope of License 

Cultivator's 
License   

Tier 1 

Cultivate up to 1 acre (4,047 square 
meters) of land with cannabis for 
medical, scientific and therapeutic 
purposes. 

Tier 2 

Cultivate between 1 and 5 acres (4,047 
– 20, 235 square meters) of land with 
cannabis for medical, scientific and 
therapeutic purposes. 

Tier 3 

Cultivate over 5 acres (20,235 square 
meters) of land with cannabis for 
medical, scientific and therapeutic 
purposes.  

Processing 
License 

Tier 1 

Process cannabis for medical, scientific 
and therapeutic purposes, including the 
manufacturing of cannabis-based 
products, in a space of up to 200 square 
meters. 

Tier 2 

Process cannabis for medical, scientific 
and therapeutic purposes, including the 
manufacturing of cannabis-based 
products, in a space of over 200 square 
meters. 

Transport 
License 

- 
Transport cannabis between two 
licensed premises in an approved motor 
vehicle. 
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Type of License Scope of License 

Retail License 

Herb House − Retail 
Sell cannabis products for medical, 
scientific and therapeutic purposes. 

Herb House − Smoking 

Sell cannabis products for medical, 
scientific and therapeutic purposes, with 
a space for immediate consumption by 
consumers. 

Therapeutic 
Provide therapeutic or spa services 
utilising ganja products 

Research and 
Development 
License 

Experimental   

Undertakes all activities involved in the 
assessment, study, research, 
development and testing of products 
derived from all or any part of the 
cannabis plant, including the analytical 
services for own use. 

Analytical Services 

Provide commercial services exclusively 
for the determination of any or all of the 
constituents, characteristics, quality or 
safety parameters of cannabis or 
cannabis products by accepted and/or 
accredited methods. 

 

A company that is applying for a cannabis license must be registered with the Companies Office 
of Jamaica and must be 'substantially' owned and controlled by persons 'ordinarily resident' of 
Jamaica.  

A cultivator's license requires the licensee to enter into an agreement with the Cannabis Licensing 
Authority to sell the entire crop to a downstream buyer identified by the licensee, or an 
independent third party, for medical, therapeutic or scientific purposes. Additionally, a licensee is 
required to notify the Jamaican Cannabis Licensing Authority at least 14 days in advance prior to 
the harvesting of any cannabis and cannot harvest the cannabis unless a representative of the 
Cannabis Licensing Authority is present. Once harvested, the cannabis must be handed over to 
the Cannabis Licensing Authority within 21 days.  

Licensees must adhere to strict security guidelines from the Cannabis Licensing Authority 
regarding their cultivation sites. Among other things, cultivation licensees must fence their 
cultivation sites with chain link or similar perimeter fencing and must provide for a strict access 
control system for entries and exits including a 24-hour security surveillance system.  

On March 22, 2018, the Issuer announced a binding letter of intent to acquire Marigold, which 
owns a 49% interest in Marigold Jamaica. On July 17, 2018, the Issuer announced an agreement 
to sell Marigold, including all of its interests in Marigold Jamaica, to Aphria pursuant to the Aphria 
Sale Transaction. The sale of Marigold and its interest in Marigold Jamaica to Aphria is subject 
to, among other things, the Issuer completing its acquisition of Marigold. See Section 4 – Narrative 
Description of the Business – General – Proposed Acquisition and Sale of South American and 
Caribbean Assets to Aphria – Jamaica. 
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Regulatory Regime in Colombia 

The Republic of Colombia is a recently legalized market for the commercial production and 
distribution of medicinal cannabis products. Colombia initially took a liberal approach to cannabis 
use in the early 20th century. In the 1970s, the Colombian government began taking a hardline, 
punitive approach to the regulation of narcotics in response to the growing influence of 
international treaties and the efforts of governments, including those of the United States, to 
combat the illicit drug trade. The 1980s saw an emphasis on comprehensive regulation, leading 
to the adoption of Law 30 (the ENE) in 1986, which focused on the control and enforcement of 
criminal drug consumption and trafficking. On December 20, 1988, Colombia signed the United 
Nations Convention Against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances which 
Colombia later ratified on June 10, 1994. 

Beginning in the late 1990s and through the 2000s, Colombian legislation began to pivot towards 
a preventative and rehabilitative approach with respect to cannabis. This approach culminated in 
December 2015 with then Colombian President Juan Manuel Santos signing a decree legalizing 
and regulating marijuana for medical purposes. Following the President's decree, Colombia's 
Congress adopted Law 1787 of 2016, thereby legislating the legalization of cannabis for medical 
and scientific purposes. Law 1787, together with Decree 613 (issued April 20, 2017), now allow 
for the commercial cultivation, processing and export of medical marijuana products. 

Law 1787 and its related regulations are overseen by two Colombian governmental bodies, 
namely the Ministry of Health and Social Protection and the Ministry of Justice and Law. The 
Ministry of Health and Social Protection is responsible for the manufacture of cannabis derivatives 
for national use, scientific research and for export. The Ministry of Justice and Law oversees the 
cultivation of psychoactive cannabis and non-psychoactive cannabis cultivation (namely hemp) 
including activities such as seed production, grain production, the manufacture of derivatives, the 
storage, destruction and the use for scientific purposes, in respect of both. The Ministry of Justice 
and Law is equally responsible for the marketing and delivery of cannabis seeds and the use of 
such seed for scientific purposes. 

Decree 613 authorizes the granting of 4 types of licenses permitting the following activities: 

 Production of derivatives from cannabis: This license authorizes activities related to the 
transformation of the psychoactive constituent elements of cannabis in oils, resins, and 
other forms for medical and scientific purposes. The license may include an authorization 
by the Ministry of Health to carry out any of the following activities: manufacture, 
acquisition, import, export, storage, transport, trade, and distribution of psychoactive or 
non-psychoactive cannabis by-products.  

 Use of seeds for sowing: This license authorizes the management of seeds for planting 
which comprises their acquisition, import, storage, trade, distribution, possession, and final 
disposal, as well as their export and use for medical and scientific purposes. 

 Cultivation of psychoactive cannabis plants: This license authorizes the cultivation of High 
THC Medicinal Cannabis plants, which comprises planting, acquisition, and production of 
seeds, storage, trade, distribution, and final disposal, as well as export and use for medical 
and scientific purposes. 

 Cultivation of non-psychoactive cannabis plants: This license authorizes the cultivation of 
Low THC Medicinal Cannabis plants, and comprises the planting, acquisition, and 
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production of seeds, storage, trade, distribution, and final disposal of plants, as well as 
export and use for medical and scientific purposes. 

Licenses are not transferable, exchangeable or assignable and are valid for 5 years and may be 
renewed for an equal period as many times as requested by the licensee, provided the licensee 
meets the requirements for renewal. In the course of carrying on business, licensees are restricted 
from engaging in a number of activities such as the advertisement and promotion of cannabis, 
cannabis derivatives and products including through social media or social networks. Medical 
marijuana may only be advertised or promoted in scientific or technical publications, addressed 
to the medical and/or veterinary community.  

As of the date of this Listing Statement, Colombia's national legislature has yet to indicate any 
intention of legalizing the recreational use of cannabis. 

On April 9, 2018, the Issuer announced a binding letter of intent to acquire MMJ Colombia. MMJ 
Colombia owns 90% of the voting securities of Colcanna. On July 17, 2018, the Issuer announced 
an agreement to sell MMJ Colombia, including its interests in Colcanna, to Aphria pursuant to the 
Aphria Sale Transaction. The sale of MMJ Colombia and Colcanna to Aphria is subject to, among 
other things, the Issuer completing its acquisition of MMJ Colombia. See Section 4 – Narrative 
Description of the Business – General – Proposed Acquisition and Sale of South American and 
Caribbean Assets to Aphria – Colombia. 

4. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

4.1 General 

Scythian is an international cannabis company with a focus on the world's leading markets outside 
of Canada. It seeks out strategic investments and regional partnerships in the cultivation and 
distribution of cannabis products across Europe, the United States, South America and the 
Caribbean where such activities are legally permitted. In addition to seeking out cannabis 
investments and opportunities, Scythian is researching and developing medical cannabis drug 
therapies. The first research project underway is the development of a proprietary cannabinoid-
based combination drug therapy for the treatment of concussions and traumatic brain injury. This 
comprehensive approach is expected to position Scythian as a potential global frontrunner in the 
global medical cannabis industry. 

Cannabinoid-Based Drug Therapy Research  

Scythian is developing a proprietary cannabinoid-based combination drug therapy for the 
treatment of concussions and traumatic brain injury. Generally, a concussion causes injury and 
damage to the brain in three ways. First, the initial physical impact and the force exerted cause a 
direct impact to, and/or acceleration of, the brain resulting in direct brain tissue damage. Following 
the force of the initial impact, brain tissue begins to swell. The result of such inflammation is 
increased intracranial pressure due to the limited amount of space surrounding an individual's 
brain in the skull cavity. As the individual's brain expands with inflammation, the brain presses 
against the skull with increasing pressure and can cause extensive damage. Other components 
of the immune response trigger a cascade of chemical processes, including the release of 
cytokines and the infiltration of white blood cells (leukocytic and macrophage infiltration). Changes 
in calcium and potassium concentrations also disrupt cell function. Scythian's therapy is designed 
to disrupt or reduce the extent of these processes. 
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To advance the development of Scythian's proprietary treatment methodology, the Issuer has 
contracted with the University through its UConcussion Program to advance the research and 
clinical studies of Scythian's proprietary Combination Therapy. The Issuer entered into the R&D 
Agreement, whereby the University's UConcussion Program committed to conduct pre-clinical 
and clinical research studies using Scythian's proprietary Combination Therapy, including any 
necessary animal or preliminary testing, clinical testing, from inception through Phase 3 testing 
and to develop for commercial application, certain targeted therapeutics identified or otherwise 
contemplated by the R&D Agreement. 

The components of the drug regimen are derivatives of cannabis which are being purchased by 
the University pursuant to its DEA license. The drugs are subject to strict regulatory controls which 
could impact or interfere with the Issuer's ability to obtain a sufficient supply of the drugs for its 
testing program. 

Proposed Acquisition and Subsequent Sale of South American and Caribbean Assets to Aphria 

Argentina 

On March 12, 2018, the Issuer announced a non-binding letter of intent to acquire all of the issued 
and outstanding common shares of MMJ Argentina. MMJ Argentina is the owner of ABP, an 
established Argentine company in the business of importing, selling and distributing 
pharmaceutical and medical products and derivatives in Argentina.  

ABP operates one pharmacy and one WDDC in the City of Buenos Aires. Through its wholesale 
business, ABP sells drugs and medical products both in the City of Buenos Aires and throughout 
multiple Argentinean provinces. Since 2014, ABP has generated revenues in excess of 
US$10,000,000 per year with over US$11,000,000 in 2017. No WDDCs are currently permitted 
to sell medical cannabis-based products to the public in Argentina. However, on March 20, 2018, 
ANMAT authorized ABP to import and supply 1,500 units of CBD oil, produced by Aphria, to the 
Dr. Juan P. Garrahan Paediatric Hospital for medical research purposes. The CBD oil will be used 
by the hospital for a clinical study on the treatment of refractory epilepsy in children using 
pharmaceutical grade CBD oil. If additional supplies of CBD oil are required by the hospital, ABP 
will require further authorizations from ANMAT, as each import request is approved separately on 
a case-by-case basis by ANMAT.  

ABP has a supply agreement with Aphria whereby Aphria exclusively supplies ABP with 
pharmaceutical grade cannabis products for research and development purposes as well as 
distribution to hospitals, retail pharmacies, and private health providers in Argentina. 

Additionally, ABP has partnered with the Universidad Nacional De La Plata to support advances 
in medical cannabis research and education.  

On May 11, 2018, the Issuer announced a definitive business combination agreement with MMJ 
Argentina, whereby the Issuer would acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
MMJ Argentina by way of a three-cornered amalgamation between the Issuer, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Issuer and MMJ Argentina. In consideration, Scythian will issue an aggregate of 
6,176,320 Common Shares to the shareholders of MMJ Argentina. 
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Jamaica 

On March 22, 2018, the Issuer announced a binding letter of intent to acquire all of the issued 
and outstanding common shares of Marigold. Marigold owns 49% of Marigold Jamaica, a 
Jamaican medical cannabis company.  

Marigold Jamaica holds a "tier 3" license from the Jamaican Cannabis Licensing Authority to 
cultivate more than five acres of land with cannabis for medical, scientific and therapeutic 
purposes. Marigold Jamaica also holds a "tier 2" conditional license for the manufacturing of 
medical cannabis-based products, a conditional license to operate herb house retail stores to sell 
medical cannabis, including to tourists, a conditional therapeutic retail license to provide 
therapeutic or spa services utilizing medical cannabis products, a conditional research and 
development license and a conditional transportation license. Further, Marigold Jamaica holds a 
permit from the Jamaican Ministry of Science and Technology permitting it to cultivate marijuana 
for scientific research as approved by the Jamaican Cannabis Licensing Authority and the Ministry 
of Health. Marigold is entitled to 95% of Marigold Jamaica's net profits pursuant to an intellectual 
property licensing agreement between Marigold Jamaica and a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Marigold.  

Marigold Jamaica and the University of West Indies are also partners in developing and testing 
high cannabidiol cannabis sativa strains to treat diabetes, hypertension, pain and other ailments. 
Researchers at the University of West Indies have been exploring the medical applications of 
marijuana since 1980.  

In accordance with the terms of the letter of intent, Scythian and Marigold will negotiate and enter 
into a binding definitive agreement governing the acquisition. In consideration, Scythian will issue 
an aggregate of 6,000,000 Common Shares, on a pro rata basis, to the selling shareholders.  

Colombia 

On April 9, 2018, Scythian announced a binding letter of intent to acquire all of the issued and 
outstanding common shares of MMJ Colombia. MMJ Colombia owns 90% of the voting securities 
of Colcanna SAS, a medical cannabis producer based in the Republic of Colombia.  

Colcanna holds a license to cultivate non-psychoactive CBD, licenses for the extraction, 
production and research for the local market and export to international markets of cannabis 
derivatives and a license to cultivate, produce, research and export THC extracts. It is the first 
company to be granted a license to cultivate medicinal cannabis extracts in the region of the 
country commonly referred to as the "Colombian coffee zone". Colcanna has 35 acres of available 
land in Chinchiná, Caldas, Colombia, all of which is expected to be developed and used for the 
cultivation of cannabis. Colcanna's first cannabis harvest is expected to be in late 2018. Colcanna 
is also currently in the process of constructing over 500,000 square feet of total greenhouse 
production space and is planning to build a laboratory for the processing of cannabis extracts in 
the city of Pereira.  

Additionally, Colcanna has a supply agreement with Aphria whereby Aphria exclusively supplies 
Colcanna with pharmaceutical grade cannabis products for research and development purposes 
as well as distribution to hospitals, retail pharmacies, and private health providers in Colombia. 
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In accordance with the terms of the letter of intent, as amended, Scythian and MMJ Colombia will 
negotiate and enter into a binding definitive agreement governing the acquisition. As 
consideration for the acquisition, Scythian will: 

(1) advance US$6,200,000 in cash prior to the closing date;  

(2) issue on the closing date $24,300,000 of Common Shares at an issue price equal to the 
volume weighted average price of the Common Shares over the 20 trading days prior to 
the closing date of the acquisition, provided that no less than 4,768,875 Common Shares 
will be issued as share consideration; and 

(3) assume on the closing date US$5,000,000 in non-interest bearing, unsecured promissory 
notes for the following principal amounts due on the following dates: 

 US$4,000,000, due on October 15, 2018; and 

 US$1,000,000, due on December 31, 2018. 

The promissory notes may be paid by way of cash or Common Shares at the option of the Issuer. 

Aphria Sale Transaction 

On July 17, 2018, Scythian announced a definitive share purchase agreement with Aphria 
whereby it has agreed to sell and Aphria has agreed to purchase, MMJ Argentina, Marigold and 
MMJ Colombia, together with each of their business interests and assets in Argentina, Jamaica 
and Colombia, respectively, all of which the Issuer is currently in the process of acquiring in 
accordance with previously-announced binding agreements, for a purchase price of $193 million 
plus the assumption of US$1,000,000 in aggregate liabilities owing to the Issuer. To satisfy the 
$193,000,000 component of the consideration, Aphria will issue to Scythian 15,678,310 common 
shares in the capital of Aphria ("Aphria Shares") at a deemed price per share of $12.31, 
representing the volume weighted average trading price of the Aphria Shares on the TSX for the 
20 trading days immediately preceding the date of the share purchase agreement. The remaining 
component of the Consideration will be satisfied by Aphria assuming aggregate liabilities owing 
to Scythian equal to US$1,000,000. In accordance with the terms of the share purchase 
agreement, subject to the completion of the acquisitions of MMJ Argentina, Marigold and MMJ 
Colombia, each such company will be transferred to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Issuer, 
LATAM Holdings Inc., whose common shares will then be sold to Aphria upon closing of the 
Aphria Sale Transaction.  

The Aphria Sale Transaction is subject to a number of closing conditions including, among other 
things, receipt of various regulatory and applicable stock exchange approvals, the completion of 
the acquisitions of MMJ Argentina, Marigold and MMJ Colombia by the Issuer, new employment 
and/or consulting agreements between Aphria and certain employees and consultants of the 
target companies, the Issuer executing a three (3) year non-competition and confidentiality 
agreement with Aphria in respect of Argentina, Colombia and Jamaica and the approval of the 
Aphria Sale Transaction by the Shareholders (as further discussed below). The share purchase 
agreement also provides for, among other things, a non-solicitation covenant on the part of the 
Issuer, as well as a "fiduciary out" provision that entitles the Issuer to consider and accept a 
superior proposal, and a right in favour of Aphria to match any superior proposal. If the share 
purchase agreement is terminated in certain circumstances, including if the Issuer enters into a 
definitive agreement with respect to a superior proposal, Aphria is entitled to a break-fee payment 
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of $5.8 million. The Transaction is anticipated to close on or about September 30, 2018 or such 
later date as provided in the share purchase agreement, but in any event, no later than 
December 31, 2018. 

As the Aphria Sale Transaction constitutes a related party transaction under 61-101 – Protection 
of Minority Security Holders in Special Transactions ("MI 61-101"), it is subject to the minority 
approval and formal valuation requirements under MI 61-101. The Issuer will seek the approval 
of the Aphria Sale Transaction from Shareholders (other than Aphria and its related parties) at a 
special meeting to be held no later than September 15, 2018. In order for the Aphria Sale 
Transaction to proceed, it must be approved by no less than a simple majority of the votes cast 
by Shareholders at the meeting and a simple majority of the votes cast by Shareholders at the 
meeting excluding, for this purpose, votes attached to Common Shares held by persons described 
in items (a) through (d) of section 8.1(2) of MI 61-101. 

In connection with the Aphria Sale Transaction and pursuant to the terms of the share purchase 
agreement, the Issuer agreed to grant Aphria a right of first refusal/right of first option in relation 
to a future target Brazilian business. In the event the Issuer is able to successfully negotiate an 
acquisition of a cannabis business in the country of Brazil (the "Brazil Target"), Aphria will have 
the right to purchase, in one or more separate tranches, up to 90% of the issued and outstanding 
common shares of the Brazil Target (the "Brazil Option"). If the Brazil Option is exercised, Aphria 
will purchase 50.1% of outstanding equity of the Brazil Target for an aggregate price of 
US$24,000,000 and the remaining 20% to 39.9% of the equity of the Brazil Target will be 
purchased by Aphria at the fair market value of such equity at the time of purchase. The Brazil 
Option exercise price will be satisfied by the issuance of Aphria Shares at a price per share equal 
to the volume weighted average trading price of the Aphria Shares on the TSX for the 20 trading 
days immediately preceding the closing of the acquisition by Aphria of at least 50.1% of the equity 
of the Brazil Target. If the Issuer receives a third party offer for the Brazil Target (or any portion 
thereof), Aphria will have the right to match such third party offer. 

The Board of Directors has, after receiving legal and financial advice, unanimously approved the 
Aphria Sale Transaction. In so doing, it unanimously determined that the entering into of the share 
purchase agreement was in the best interests of the Issuer. The Board also unanimously 
determined to recommend that Shareholders (other than Aphria and its affiliates) vote their 
Common Shares in favour of the Aphria Sale Transaction. 

Certain directors, officers and shareholders of the Issuer, collectively holding 42.7% of the 
Common Shares as at the date hereof, have entered into support and voting agreements pursuant 
to which they intend to vote all of their common shares in favour of the Aphria Sale Transaction 
and against any resolution submitted by any other Shareholder that is inconsistent therewith. 
These are irrevocable hard lock-ups (i.e., they cannot be terminated in the event of a superior 
proposal). 

Brazil 

On July 23, 2018, Scythian announced a binding letter of intent to acquire 15% of the issued and 
outstanding common shares of BrazilCo, a British Columbia company in the process of acquiring 
100% of the voting securities of Green Farma. Green Farma is backed by Mr. Adalmiro Dellape 
Baptista Junior, a member of the family that founded Ache Pharmaceutical Labroratories, one of 
Brazil's largest pharmaceutical companies. Green Farma intends to become a leader in Brazil's 
medical cannabis market, if and when the possession, distribution and use of medical cannabis 
becomes legalized in Brazil.  
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In accordance with the terms of the letter of intent, Scythian and BrazilCo will negotiate and enter 
into a binding definitive agreement governing the acquisition. In consideration, Scythian will pay 
the selling shareholders $2,400,000 to be satisfied by the issuance of Common Shares at a 
deemed price equal to the volume weighted average price of the Common Shares for the 20 
trading days immediately prior to the first business day before the closing date. The acquisition of 
BrazilCo is subject to a number of closing conditions including the completion of the acquisition 
of Green Farma by BrazilCo and the execution and delivery of a unanimous shareholders 
agreement, in form and content satisfactory to Scythian, pertaining to among other things, the 
granting of rights of first refusal and "drag along" rights in the event of any proposed transfer of 
BrazilCo shares.  

In accordance with the terms of the Aphria Sale Transaction, Scythian has granted Aphria a right 
to purchase from Scythian, in one or more separate tranches, up to 90% of BrazilCo pursuant to 
the Brazil Option.  

Florida Expansion 

On July 30, 2018, the Issuer announced an arm's length letter of intent with CannCure 
Investments Inc. ("CannCure") and the shareholders of CannCure to acquire 70% of the issued 
and outstanding common shares of CannCure (the "CannCure Acquisition") for a purchase 
price of $136,500,000, of which $93,300,000 will be satisfied by the issuance of Common Shares 
at a deemed price per share equal to the greater of $4.00 or the 20 day volume weighted average 
price of the Common Shares prior to the closing date with the remaining balance of $43,200,000 
to be satisfied in cash invested into CannCure. A maximum of 23,325,000 Common Shares will 
be issuable in exchange for the 70% interest in CannCure. The Issuer will hold a 15 month option 
to purchase the remaining 30% of CannCure at an option price of $58,500,000, to be payable in 
cash or Common Shares at the discretion of the Issuer.  

CannCure is an Ontario company in the process of acquiring: (i) 60% of the voting securities in 
the Healthcare Organization; and (ii) 60% of the voting shares in 3 Boys Farms. It is a condition 
to the closing of the CannCure Acquisition that CannCure shall have completed its acquisition of 
60% of each of the Healthcare Organization and 3 Boys Farms.  

The Healthcare Organization is a professional association existing under the laws of the State of 
Florida and founded in June 1991. The Healthcare Organization provides an "all-in-one" health 
service delivery model, ranging from diagnostic testing to nutritional guidance, through six clinics 
located across the State of Florida. The Healthcare Organization intends to roll out 12 additional 
centers state-wide over the next 24 months, including the acquisition of primary care 
practices/groups, which will substantially increase the group's patient base state-wide.  

3 Boys Farms, a Florida limited liability company incorporated in May 1981, possesses 40,000 
square feet of fully-operational greenhouses located on an eight-acre parcel of land. 3 Boys 
Farms intends to also roll out a dispensary concept providing for a unique and patient-centric 
experience and the sale and distribution of health and wellness products, including approved 
medical cannabis options. Dispensary openings and/or operations will be subject to the receipt of 
all required approvals from the Florida Department of Health, Office of Medical Marijuana Use. 
3 Boys Farms has secured and is finalizing leases for locations in retail and medical corridors in 
Fort Lauderdale, West Palm Beach, North Miami Beach, Dania/Hollywood, Fort Myers, Port St. 
Lucie, Stuart and St. Petersburg, with other potential locations in Orlando, Tampa and 
Jacksonville.  
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The cultivation and proposed distribution of medical marijuana by 3 Boys Farms in the State of 
Florida is illegal under U.S. federal law. 3 Boys Farms and the Healthcare Organization currently 
comply with all applicable Florida state laws and licensing requirements relating to their 
businesses except as follows: under Rules 64-4.004(3)(b) and 64-4.005(4) of the Florida 
Administrative Code, as promulgated pursuant to Section 120.542 of the Florida Statutes, 3 Boys 
Farms was obligated to begin dispensing cannabis derivative products within 210 days of being 
granted a cultivation license, such deadline being July 31, 2018. 3 Boys Farms is currently in 
breach of the rule as it has not yet begun dispensing cannabis derivative products. 3 Boys Farms 
has applied to and is currently awaiting for relief or a "variance" order from the Florida Department 
of Health, Office of Medical Marijuana Use, to extend such deadline to April 1, 2019.  

The table below provides select unaudited financial information prepared by management of each 
of 3 Boys Farms and the Healthcare Organization as at and for the year ended December 31, 
2017: 

 

 3 Boys Farms Healthcare Organization (1) 

Assets                 US $1,951,621                         US $7,435,105  

Liabilities                 US $3,870,173                         US $5,208,545  

Revenue                                 -                         US $19,703,381  

EBITDA                 (US $1,764,225)                        US $3,954,858  

Notes: 

(1) The Healthcare Organization is comprised of multiple, affiliated entities and therefore the financial information 
of the Healthcare Organization has been prepared on a combined basis in accordance with US GAAP. 

Closing of the CannCure Acquisition is subject to, among other things, the execution and delivery 
of a definitive agreement reflecting the terms and conditions of the letter of intent, the preparation 
and delivery by CannCure of audited annual financial statements of the Healthcare Organization 
and 3 Boys Farms prepared in accordance with IFRS for their most recently completed financial 
years, respectively, and the Issuer obtaining a fairness opinion from an independent dealer 
indicating that the consideration the Issuer has agreed to pay for CannCure is, from a financial 
point of view, fair to the Shareholders. The CannCure Acquisition is also subject to the satisfactory 
completion of the Issuer's due diligence of CannCure, 3 Boys Farms and the Healthcare 
Organization, at the sole discretion of the Issuer. Closing of the CannCure Acquisition is expected 
to occur on or about October 15, 2018, subject to the satisfaction of the foregoing conditions and 
the additional conditions described below.  

CannCure will purchase 60% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Healthcare Organization 
prior to the closing of the CannCure Acquisition. CannCure's acquisition of the Healthcare 
Organization is subject to a number of closing conditions including the receipt of required 
governmental approvals in the State of Florida, the waiver of any rights of first refusal held by 
stakeholders in the Healthcare Organization, key executives and principals of the Healthcare 
Organization having entered into non-competition agreements and/or new employment 
agreements in favour of CannCure, the execution and delivery of a new operating agreement 
between the principals of the Healthcare Organization and CannCure and the execution and 
delivery of a put option agreement with each vendor requiring CannCure to purchase the 
remaining 40% of the Healthcare Organization based on a to-be-determined EBITDA earn-out. 
The operating agreement will also state that CannCure will be solely obligated to fund 100% of 
all capital expenditures of the Health Organization and its growth subsequent to the closing date 
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and up to and through a mutually agreed upon date and/or revenue/cost based target that will be 
included in the definitive agreement. 

CannCure will purchase 60% of the issued and outstanding shares of 3 Boys Farms on or before 
August 31, 2018 and hold an option to acquire the balance of the issued and outstanding shares 
on or before December 31, 2018. The acquisition of 3 Boys Farms is subject to a number of 
closing conditions including the receipt of all necessary governmental approvals in the State of 
Florida, including approvals mandated by the Florida Department of Health and/or the Office of 
Medical Marijuana Use, 3 Boys Farms being free and clear of any debts and liabilities on the 
closing date and 3 Boys Farms having settled any and all outstanding claims and actions against 
it prior to closing.  

The law firms of Greenberg Traurig LLP, based out of Miami, Florida, and Cobb Eddy, PLLC, 
based out of Fort Lauderdale, Florida, each provided the Issuer with an opinion relating to the 
legality of the activities being conducted by the Healthcare Organization and 3 Boys Farms as 
well as the corresponding risk and exposure of their cannabis-related activities, whether existing 
or proposed, under U.S. federal law. If the CannCure Acquisition is completed, the Issuer intends 
to develop a program for monitoring compliance with any changes to Florida state laws and U.S. 
federal laws affecting the business and activities of the Healthcare Organization and 3 Boys 
Farms, including regular consultations with its U.S.-based attorneys.  

The closing of the CannCure Acquisition will not occur until after the closing of the Aphria Sale 
Transaction. The Issuer intends to use the proceeds from the Aphria Sale Transaction to pay for 
the cash component of the CannCure Acquisition.  

Available Funding 

As at March 31, 2018, the Issuer had cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of 
$32,164,233.  

On February 13, 2018, the Issuer completed a financing, including the full exercise of the 
underwriter's over-allotment option raising gross proceeds of $28,753,480 through the issuance 
of 6,183,544 units at $4.65 per unit. Each unit consists of one common share and one common 
share purchase warrant exercisable for a period of 24 months from the closing date at an exercise 
price of $5.50 per Unit. The Issuer incurred share issuance costs of $4,660,769, which included 
agent's commission, legal fees and expenses directly attributable to the transaction, including 
$1,808,117 related to the issuance of broker warrants. 

The funds available to the Issuer have been allocated as follows as at June 30, 2018: 

Remaining Funds Allocated 

Research and Development 6,000,000 

General, administrative and operating 9,090,179 

Acquisitions and transaction costs 15,997,283 

TOTAL 31,087,462 

 
(a) Research and Development Costs: 

Based on the current payment schedule with the University, the Issuer has additional estimated 
expenditures through 2022 of $20,000,000 (US$15,215,000). The Issuer expects to also spend 
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US$1,500,000 towards FDA regulatory costs and the engagement of FDA consultants in 
connection with the development of the Combination Therapy. The Issuer currently has allocated 
$6,000,000 towards the upcoming obligations under the R&D Agreement and the FDA. The Issuer 
will be continuously assessing the development of the Combination Therapy based on the results 
and data received throughout the research and development process.  

Under the R&D Agreement with the University, the pre-clinical studies are expected to be 
completed in approximately 1½ to 2 years depending upon the success of the specific test trials. 
The clinical studies are expected to take 3 years to complete following the end of the pre-clinical 
trials, although certain aspects of the clinical studies have already been commenced by the 
University.  

The Issuer currently has three major milestones with respect to the Combination Therapy:  

1. The first milestone is the completion of the pre-clinical studies with an estimated cost of 
approximately US$3-4 million. Although the Issuer believes that the pre-clinical studies 
will take approximately 1 ½ to 2 years to complete, there is no fixed deadline for completing 
the pre-clinical stage as the outcome from the data and testing cannot be predicted. The 
pre-clinical studies are a series of tests using three different injury models. For each model 
of brain injury, the trials will compare the different compositions of the drug and will then 
also compare different dosage levels and timing on dose administration. As a result, there 
are numerous permutations that will need to be tested. The exact timing is not known 
since decisions about dose changes (to create a dose response curve) are made based 
upon the results of the past round of testing. Once the complete packet of information is 
created, it will be sent to the FDA as part of the Issuer's application for an IND.  

2. The second major milestone is the IND application and the grant of any IND.  

3. The third major milestone is the completion of the clinical studies with an estimated cost 
of US$11-15 million. The clinical studies will be comprised of two separate parts. The first 
part is the examination of patients to create a data map of the nature of the injury including 
the location and severity against different symptoms and measuring the physical changes 
that have occurred for each injury type. This will create a baseline against which to 
measure the success of the administration of the drug testing in human subjects 
(assuming approval of human testing by the FDA). This part is estimated to cost 
approximately US$5-6 million. Once the IND is obtained, the second part of the clinical 
studies will involve the administration of the drug (again, as compared against a control 
group and the individual drug components) to assess safety and efficacy and to ascertain 
the best dosage and timing for the drug administration. The second part is estimated to 
cost approximately US$6-9 million. The clinical testing will be done in phases, including 
Phase I, II and III. See "R&D Agreement" below.  

The costs and timelines are estimates as to what it will cost to complete the parts of the project, 
and actual results may vary. It should also be noted that the payments to the University are based 
on an agreed-upon payment schedule, and not upon the milestones described and listed above.  

(b) Strategic Acquisitions and Investments: 

The Issuer currently has allocated $15,997,283 toward potential acquisitions and associated 
expenses (including legal and accounting expenses related thereto). In addition to the pending 
acquisitions of MMJ Argentina, Marigold and MMJ Colombia, the Issuer continues to review 



 

 32 

opportunities for growth and expansion in the cannabis sector that it believes will enhance 
shareholder value. The Issuer believes that there are significant opportunities internationally 
where countries have introduced policies to legalize medical and/or recreational cannabis.  

(c) General and Administrative Expenditures: 

The Issuer currently has allocated approximately $9,090,179 towards general and administrative 
expenditures related to the operations of the business. As the Issuer's business expands through 
further acquisitions and investments, the Issuer expects that its general and administrative 
expenditures will likely increase as well. 

Principal Products and Services 

Combination Therapy  

Scythian is developing a proprietary cannabinoid-based combination drug therapy for the 
treatment of concussions and traumatic brain injury. The Issuer has contracted with the University 
through the R&D Agreement to advance the research and clinical studies of Scythian's proprietary 
Combination Therapy. 

Cannabinoids are a class of molecules found in both plants and animals. Cannabinoids are most 
commonly derived from cannabis plants. The two primary cannabinoids contained in cannabis 
are CBD and THC. THC is the constituent compound that has psychoactive effects while CBD 
does not have such effects during routine consumption. Extensive scientific studies have been 
performed to explore the anti-inflammatory properties of CBD. CBD also crosses the blood brain 
barrier and targets a specific brain receptor, the cannabinoid receptor type 2 ("CB2 receptor"), 
involved in the immune and inflammatory response in the brain. This makes it an ideal compound 
for potential development in respect of the treatment of traumatic brain injury. Interest in 
cannabinoid therapeutics has increased significantly over the past several years as preclinical 
and clinical data has emerged highlighting the potential efficacy and safety benefits of 
cannabinoid therapeutics. 

On October 16, 2015, Scythian filed US Provisional Patent Application No. 62-242-457 Methods 
for Treating Traumatic Brain Injury. The proprietary methodology forming the basis of Scythian's 
patent application utilizes a combination of two drugs to inhibit both inflammation and other 
aspects of the immune response in the brain that occur following a concussion or other traumatic 
brain injury. This immune response and inflammation is a significant contributing cause of brain 
tissue damage following a head trauma. Scythian's patent application focuses on using two or 
more alternative therapies in combination in order to combat the injury resulting from such 
inflammation and the immune systems response. 

More generally, a concussion causes injury and damage to the brain in three ways. First, the initial 
physical impact and the force exerted cause a direct impact to, and/or acceleration of, the brain 
resulting in direct brain tissue damage. Following the force of the initial impact, brain tissue begins 
to swell. The result of such inflammation is increased intracranial pressure due to the limited 
amount of space surrounding an individual's brain in the skull cavity. As the individual's brain 
expands with inflammation, the brain presses against the skull with increasing pressure and can 
cause extensive damage. Other components of the immune response trigger a cascade of 
chemical processes, including the release of cytokines and the infiltration of white blood cells 
(leukocytic and macrophage infiltration). Changes in calcium and potassium concentrations also 
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disrupt cell function. Scythian's therapy is designed to disrupt or reduce the extent of these 
processes. 

Scythian's treatment strategy has been to target multiple receptors on parallel pathways that each 
affect these immune processes. Scythian's patent proposes multiple drugs in each class as 
alternative treatments; however, the pre-clinical trial is focusing on two specific drugs. Scythian 
has not created new drugs but rather has found a way to apply several pre-existing drugs in a 
way not previously done before. 

The Issuer is also focused on seeking a strategic partner to undertake the manufacturing and 
marketing in the event the Issuer's drug candidates are successfully developed. In order for the 
Issuer to achieve its business objective, it is important that the following milestones are met: 

 the completion of a pre-clinical study over the next year, with an estimate cost of 
US$3-4 million;  

 the completion of a successful clinical study over the next four (4) years, with an 
estimated cost of US$11-15 million; 

 the successful grant of the Combination Therapy drug's patent application over the 
next two (2) to six (6) years, with an estimated cost of US$35,000; and 

 regulatory approval of the Combination Therapy for traumatic brain injury.  

Under the R&D Agreement, Scythian has agreed to pay a 5% royalty of net profits from the 
commercialization, including licensing, or any inventions or discoveries made during the term of 
the agreement, as well as from the commercialization of the specific drug regimen being tested 
under the R&D Agreement and as set out in Scythian's patent. Any intellectual property developed 
during the course of the testing program remains and/or becomes the property of Scythian. 

The initial term of the R&D Agreement ends January 30, 2022, and may be extended. The R&D 
Agreement may be terminated by either party on 90 days' written notice upon an uncured material 
breach; upon the filing for creditor protection under the United States Bankruptcy Code or the 
appointment of a bankruptcy trustee or receiver; or, upon either party determining in its sole 
judgment that the purpose of the R&D Agreement will not achieve a positive outcome. 

Pursuant to the terms of the R&D Agreement, any inventions and discoveries conceived and 
reduced to practice, and any applications for patents or patents granted therefore, are the 
exclusive property of the Issuer. 

In order to conduct pre-clinical and clinical studies, the University applied for and was granted a 
DEA license, which allows the University to conduct preclinical and clinical studies using the 
component drugs in the Combination Therapy, which would otherwise be controlled substances.  

As of the date hereof, the Issuer has paid US$5,425,000 for initial set up and pre-clinical work 
under the R&D Agreement. Based on the timing of payments under the R&D Agreement, over 
the next 1½ to 2 years, the Issuer is scheduled to advance US$8,107,500 (including the 
US$1,000,000 currently due) through January 1, 2020 for both pre-clinical and clinical trials 
(representing approximately US$3-4 million of pre-clinical work with the remaining being for 
clinical trials). The remaining amounts due under the R&D Agreement, estimated to be 
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US$7,107,500, are for further clinical and other work once the pre-clinical trials have been 
completed.  

As with any research project, the timeline and costs expended cannot be guaranteed, and the 
Issuer will continuously assess expenditures in light of the status of the project to ensure that 
funds are being applied appropriately. It should also be noted that because of the nature of the 
project, there will be some overlap between the pre-clinical and clinical phases. It should also be 
noted that, the funding schedule does not always correspond with the cost incurred and at points 
in time, the Issuer may have pre-paid amounts with or payables to the University. 

At the conclusion of the pre-clinical phase, the Issuer intends to apply to the FDA for an IND 
which, if granted, would permit the Issuer to begin human testing. Depending upon the results of 
the pre-clinical trials and the data collected, the FDA could grant the IND or it could reject the IND 
application. Additionally, certain outside laboratory testing will be required regarding the 
pharmacokinetics and other metabolic characteristics of the Combination Therapy prior to 
submission of the IND.  

In the event that the IND is granted, the Issuer will commence the clinical trial phase of the testing, 
which will include testing on human subjects. This testing process may be broken into various 
phases, with Phase I focusing on safety and Phases II and III thereafter focusing on efficacy 
issues. Securing final regulatory approval for the manufacture and sale of human therapeutic 
products in the U.S., Europe, Canada and other commercial territories, is a long and costly 
process that is controlled by that particular territory's national regulatory agency. The national 
regulatory agency in the United States is the FDA, in Canada, it is Health Canada, and in Europe, 
it is the European Medicines Agency, or EMA. Other national regulatory agencies have similar 
regulatory approval processes, but each national regulatory agency has its own approval 
processes. Approval in U.S., Canada or Europe does not assure approval by other national 
regulatory agencies, although often test results from one country may be used in applications for 
regulatory approval in another country. 

In the U.S., the FDA, is responsible for the drug approval process. The FDA's mission is to protect 
human health by ensuring that all medications on the market are safe and effective. The FDA's 
approval process examines potential drugs and only those that meet strict requirements are 
approved. 

The U.S. Food and Drug Regulations require licensing of manufacturing facilities, carefully 
controlled research and testing of products, governmental review and approval of test results prior 
to marketing of therapeutic products, and adherence to good manufacturing practices. The drug 
approval process begins with the discovery of a potential drug. Pharmaceutical companies then 
test the drug extensively. A description of the different stages in the drug approval process in the 
U.S. follows: 

Stage 1: Preclinical Research. After an experimental drug is discovered, research is conducted 
to help determine its potential for treating or curing an illness. This is called preclinical research. 
Animal studies are conducted to determine if there are any harmful effects of the drug and to help 
understand how the drug works. Information from these experiments is submitted in an IND 
application to the FDA for review to determine if the drug is safe to proceed for study in humans. 

Stage 2: Clinical Research. In Stage 2, the experimental drug is studied in humans in clinical 
trials. Clinical trials are carefully designed and controlled experiments in which the experimental 
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drug is administered to patients to test its safety and to determine the effectiveness of an 
experimental drug. The four general phases of clinical research are described below. 

Phase I. Phase I includes the initial introduction of an IND into humans. Phase I studies 
are typically conducted in patients or healthy volunteer subjects. These studies are 
designed to determine the metabolism and pharmacologic actions of the drug in humans, 
the side effects associated with increasing doses, and, if possible, to gain early evidence 
on effectiveness. During Phase I, sufficient information about the drug's pharmacokinetic 
and pharmacological effects is obtained to permit the design of well-controlled, 
scientifically valid, Phase II studies. Phase I studies also include studies of drug 
metabolism, structure-activity relationships, and mechanism of action in humans, as well 
as studies in which investigational drugs are used as research tools to explore biological 
phenomena or disease processes. 

Phase II. Phase II includes the controlled clinical studies to evaluate the effectiveness of 
the drug for a particular indication or indications in patients with the disease or condition 
under study and to determine the common short-term side effects and risks associated 
with the drug. 

Phase III. Phase III studies are expanded controlled and uncontrolled trials. They are 
performed after preliminary evidence suggesting effectiveness of the drug has been 
obtained, and are intended to gather the additional information about effectiveness and 
safety that is needed to evaluate the overall benefit-risk relationship of the drug and to 
provide an adequate basis for physician labeling. 

Phase IV. Phase IV studies are undertaken after the drug or treatment has been marketed 
to gather information on the drug's effect in various populations and any side effects 
associated with long-term use. 

Stage 3: FDA Review for Approval. Following Phase III, the pharmaceutical Issuer prepares 
reports of all studies conducted on the drug and a complete dossier on the manufacturing of the 
product and submits the reports to the FDA in a New Drug Application, or "NDA" or "BLA". The 
FDA reviews the information in the NDA/BLA to determine if the drug is safe and effective for its 
intended use. If the FDA determines that the drug is safe and effective, the drug will be approved. 

Stage 4: Marketing. After the FDA has approved the drug, the pharmaceutical Issuer can make 
it available to physicians and their patients. A company may also continue to conduct research to 
discover new uses for the drug. Each time a new use for a drug is discovered, the drug is once 
again subject to the entire FDA approval process before it can be marketed for that purpose. 

The total cost of the project pursuant to the R&D Agreement, from inception, is US$20,640,000 
over 5 years to conduct both the preclinical and clinical trials (including charges for institutional 
overhead). There is approximately US$16,215,000 still owing under the balance of the R&D 
Agreement, including the US$1,000,000 past due. 

The work performed by the University through December 31, 2017, included, generally: preparing 
and finalizing the research plans (for the preclinical and clinical research phases of the project); 
initiating the internal board review process and obtaining animal study approvals; reviewing the 
drug regulations for federal and state licensing; submitting the licensing application and approval 
for Schedule 1 drug handling; researching the Combination Therapy drug components; building 
project infrastructure, purchasing equipment and moving to new space; hiring new staff for the 
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project; reviewing safety issues with the study; reviewing previous research in the field; visiting 
other labs and experts in Israel at Hebrew University; ordering compounds for the Combination 
Therapy; training of new team members; scheduling team meetings, activities and budgeting; 
setting up reporting systems; participating in meetings with Scythian regarding the project; 
analyzing dosing and drug administration methodology; running certain control animals to 
calibrate hearing testing after blunt head injury; and receiving the first supply of drug product. 

As at June 30, 2018, the University had completed the pre-clinical studies involving the "fluid 
percussion" model and had obtained encouraging data demonstrating improved cognitive function 
in animals treated with the Combination Therapy relative to animals treated only with individual 
components of the Combination Therapy. No adverse side effects were observed from either the 
Combination Therapy or its individual components. The University is currently conducting 
experiments involving the "blast" model of mild traumatic brain injury with data expected during 
the third quarter of 2018. Additional pre-clinical experiments will be designed upon the complete 
analyses of data from these two models.  

Material Leases or Mortgages 

Other than leases for office space, the Issuer does not lease or own any real property. 

Specialized Skill and Knowledge 

The research is being conducted at the University Miller School of Medicine, a leading institution 
in traumatic brain injury and concussion treatment, management and prevention. The primary 
investigator of the project, Gillian A. Hotz, PhD, is a leading expert in neurotrauma. Dr. Hotz is a 
Professor of Neurological Surgery at the University Miller School of Medicine and the University's 
The Miami Project to Cure Paralysis. Dr. Hotz has acted as Director of the UConcussion Program 
for the past twenty years, part of University Health System Sports Medicine, and the KIDZ 
Neuroscience Center, at The Miami Project to Cure Paralysis. Dr. Hotz is nationally recognized 
as a behavioural neuroscientist and expert in paediatric, adult neurotrauma and concussion 
prevention and management. Dr. Hotz has put together a core team of leading experts at the 
University in neuroscience, neurosurgery, neurology, neuropsychology and injury prevention, 
including: 

 Dalton Dietrich,  PhD   Scientific Director, The Miami Project to Cure Paralysis, Senior 
Associate Dean for Discovery Science, Professor of Neurological Surgery, Neurology, 
Biomedical Engineering and Cell Biology; 

 Helen Bramlett, PhD Professor of Neurological Surgery, The Miami Project to Cure 
Paralysis; 

 Michael Hoffer, MD Professor Otolaryngology and Neurotology; 

 Bonnie Levin, PhD Professor of Neurology and Director of the Division of 
Neuropsychology, Department of Neurology; 

 Tatiana Rundek, MD Professor of Clinical Neurology; 

 Steve Olvey, MD Associate Professor of Clinical Neurology & Neurosurgery; 
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 Mohan Kottapally, MD Assistant Professor of Clinical Neurology Neurocritical Care 
Division; and 

 Kester Nedd, DO Associate Professor of Clinical Neurology. 

Patent Applications and Components  

On October 16, 2015, the Issuer filed US Provisional Patent Application No. 62-242-457 Methods 
for Treating Traumatic Brain Injury (the "TBI Methodology"). On October 17, 2016, the Issuer 
filed PCT/US2016/057304 Methods and Compositions for Treating Traumatic Brain Injury through 
the International Patent System (the "PCT TBI Methodology"). As of the date of hereof, both 
patent applications are still pending. The PCT TBI Methodology patent application claims priority 
to U.S. Provisional Application Serial No. 62/242,457. The expected expiration date is October 17, 
2036. The type of patent protection being sought is use and composition of matter. Jurisdictions 
will be limited to patent cooperation treaty ("PCT") member countries and will be selected on or 
around April 16, 2018. 

The proprietary methodology forming the basis of the Issuer's patent application utilizes a 
combination of two drugs to inhibit both inflammation and other aspects of the immune response 
in the brain that occur following a concussion or other traumatic brain injury. One formulation of 
drugs under the TBI Patent Application is a combination of Dexanabinol and CBD, the subject of 
our ongoing pre-clinical study. The immune response and inflammation is a significant 
contributing cause of brain tissue damage following a head trauma. The Combination Therapy 
focuses on using a combination of drugs in order to combat the injury resulting from such 
inflammation and the immune systems response by effecting both the CB2 receptor and NMDA 
receptor. Neither CBD nor Dexanabinol have been approved by the FDA for use; however there 
is currently a CBD-based New Drug Application for the drug Epidiolex pending before the FDA 
for the treatment of seizures associated with specific types of epilepsy. Moreover, Marinol, a drug 
containing THC, has already been approved by the FDA for the treatment of nausea during 
chemotherapy and weight loss related to Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome, or AIDS. 
According to the Issuer's patent counsel, there is no known current patent protection which would 
interfere with the Issuer's use of CBD or Dexanabinol in its Combination Therapy. It should be 
noted that the Combination Therapy does not include THC and is not psychoactive and that prior 
research utilizing Dexanabinol as a sole therapeutic agent were inconclusive, with reports of both 
positive and negative efficacy findings reported in different Phase II and Phase III studies 
conducted in the late 1990s and early 2000s. 

Although not the subject of current testing, the Issuer has a second drug in development for 
treatment of gastro-inflammatory disease (the "GI Methodology") which is the subject of the 
Issuer's second patent application. The drug uses the same combination of therapeutic agents as 
the TBI Combination Therapy and focuses on the gastrointestinal tract. The Issuer filed 
PCT/US2016/057313 Methods and Compositions for Treating Gastrointestinal Inflammation 
through the International Patent System (the "PCT GI Methodology"). As of the date hereof, both 
patent applications are still pending. The PCT GI Methodology claims priority to U.S. Provisional 
Application Serial No. 62/242,469. The expected expiration date is October 17, 2036. The type of 
patent protection being sought is use and composition of matter. Jurisdictions will be limited to 
PCT member countries and will be selected on or around April 16, 2018. The Issuer intends to 
focus on preparation for pre-clinical trials for this second therapy in late 2018 to early 2019, 
provided we raise sufficient capital to support these clinical studies. 
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Cyclical or Seasonal Business 

The Issuer's business is not cyclical or seasonal.  

Environmental Protection 

The Issuer is not bound by any environmental protection requirements.  

Employees 

From December 31, 2016 to August 1, 2017, the date of the completion of the RTO Transaction, 
the Issuer did not have any employees. As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Issuer has 
11 employees. 

Risks Associated with Foreign Operations 

Please refer to "Risk Factors – Changes in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines".  

Material Contract 

The R&D Agreement is the only contract upon which the Issuer's business is substantially 
dependent upon. For details on the R&D Agreement, please see discussion on the R&D 
Agreement in "Principal Products and Services – Combination Therapy".  

Competitive Conditions 

Scythian's competitors include multinational pharmaceutical companies and specialized 
biotechnology companies, as well as universities and other research institutions who are 
conducting research in both Cannabinoid products, as well as those focusing on a treatment 
therapy for traumatic brain injuries and concussions. This notwithstanding, there is currently no 
medically accepted standard drug protocol for traumatic brain injuries. 

More established companies may have a competitive advantage over Scythian due to their 
greater size, capital resources, cash flows and institutional experience. Compared to Scythian, 
our competitors may have significantly greater financial, technical and human resources at their 
disposal. As a result of these factors, competitors may have an advantage in marketing their 
approved products and may obtain regulatory approval of their product candidates before 
Scythian can, which may limit Scythian's ability to develop or commercialize its product 
candidates. Competitors may also develop drugs that are safer, more effective, more widely used 
and less expensive, and may also be more successful in manufacturing and marketing their 
products. These advantages could materially impact Scythian's ability to develop and 
commercialize our Combination Therapy. 

Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even 
more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller and 
other early stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through 
collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These third parties compete 
with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, management and commercial personnel, 
establishing clinical trial sites and subject registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring 
technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our programs. 
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As for Scythian's expansion into the international cannabis market, there is potential that the 
Issuer will face intense competition from other companies, some of which can be expected to 
have longer operating histories and more financial resources than the Issuer. Increased 
competition by larger and better financed competitors could materially and adversely affect the 
business, financial condition and results of operations of the Issuer. 

Lending Operations 

As the Issuer is not in the business of lending, this section is not applicable.  

Bankruptcy and Receivership 

Within the three most recently completed financial years and the current financial year, there have 
been no bankruptcy, or any receivership or similar proceedings against the Issuer or any of its 
subsidiaries or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings. 

Material Restructuring  

The following material restructuring transactions of the Issuer occurred within the three most 
recently completed financial years, completed during the current financial year, or are proposed 
for the current financial year: 

 On December 5, 2016, the Issuer filed Articles of Amendment consolidating the Common 
Shares on a ten (10) to one (1) basis. 

 On August 1, 2017, the Issuer completed the RTO Transaction and filed Articles of 
Amendment to change its name from "Kitrinor Metals Inc." to "Scythian Biosciences 
Corp." and to effect the RTO Share Consolidation. Following the completion of the RTO 
Transaction, the Common Shares resumed trading on the TSXV on August 8, 2017 under 
the symbol "SCYB".  

 On April 12, 2018, the Issuer effected the Stock Split.  

Social or Environmental Policies 

The Issuer has not implemented social or environmental policies that are fundamental to its 
operations. Thus, this section is not applicable to the Issuer.  

4.2 Asset Backed Securities 

The Issuer does not have asset-backed securities. 

4.3 Companies with Mineral Projects 

The Issuer does not have any mineral projects.  

4.4 Companies with Oil and Gas Operations 

The Issuer does not have oil and gas operations. 
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5. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

5.1 Annual Information of Issuer 

The following table summarizes financial information of the Issuer for the three most recently 
completed financial years. This summary financial information should only be read in conjunction 
with the Issuer's financial statements, including the notes thereto, included elsewhere in this 
document. 

 Financial Year Ended, 

Operating Data: 
March 31, 

2018(1)  
March 31, 

2017 
March 31, 

2016 

Total revenues $Nil $Nil $Nil 

Total operating expenses excluding 
research and development $13,923,469 $2,694,315 $2,856,558 

Net loss for the period $25,931,386 $2,976,064 $3,058,535 

Basic and diluted loss per share1 $1.61 $0.95 $1.89 

Dividends $Nil $Nil $Nil 

Balance Sheet Data:    

Total assets $35,103,721 $2,732,335 $1,204,421 

Total long-term liabilities 

 

$Nil $Nil $Nil 

Notes: 

(1)  The Issuer changed its financial year end from December 31 to March 31 as part of the RTO Transaction to 
inherit the financial year end of PrivateCo in accordance with applicable accounting rules. 

5.2 Quarterly Information 

The summary of quarterly results for each of the eight most recently completed quarters of the 
Issuer has been prepared in accordance with IFRS: 

Quarter Ended Revenues Net Income (Loss) 
Income (Loss)  
per share1 

March 31, 2018 $Nil $7,821,972 $0.59 

December 31, 2017 $Nil $4,442,235 $0.21 

September 30, 2017 $Nil $12,520,884 $0.70 

June 30, 2017 $Nil $1,146,295 $0.10 

March 31, 2017 $Nil $1,315,402 $0.19 

December 31, 2016 $Nil $735,766 $0.41 

September 30, 2016 $Nil $461,458 $0.26 

June 30, 2016 $Nil $463,439 $0.26 

Notes: 

(1) Income (Loss) per share has been calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding. 
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5.3 Dividends 

Subject to the OBCA, the directors may in their discretion, from time to time, declare and pay 
dividends wholly or partly by the distribution of specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, 
debentures or other securities of the Issuer, or a combination of these. 

The Issuer paid no dividends during its three previously completed financial years. The Issuer 
intends to retain any earnings to finance growth and expand its operations and does not anticipate 
paying any dividends on its common shares in the foreseeable future. 

5.4 Foreign GAAP 

The Issuer is not presenting consolidated financial information on the basis of foreign GAAP. 

6. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The Issuer's annual Management's Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") for the financial years 
ended March 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 is attached to this Listing Statement as Appendix A.  

7. MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

The Issuer is a reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, and Ontario. The 
Common Shares were previously listed and traded on the TSXV under the trading symbol 
"SCYB". The Common Shares are currently listed and trade under the symbol "9SB" on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange and under the symbol "SCCYF" on the OTCQB Marketplace.  

8. CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following lists the material changes in the share and loan capital of the Issuer, on a 
consolidated basis, since March 31, 2018, the date of the comparative financial statements for 
the Issuer's most recently completed financial year contained in this Listing Statement. 

Designation of Security Amount Authorized Amount Outstanding 

Common Shares Unlimited 29,583,588 

Warrants - 7,879,360(1) 

Stock Options 
10% of the issued and outstanding 
Common Shares less any issued and 
outstanding Stock Options and DSUs 

1,692,236 

DSUs 
10% of the issued and outstanding 
Common Shares less any outstanding 
DSUs and Stock Options 

689,313 

Note: 

(1) 432,848 of the warrants convert into units, with each unit consisting of one common share and one warrant. 
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9. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

The following table discloses all outstanding options to purchase securities of the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer that are held by the following groups of individuals as at the date hereof.  

Designation 
of Security 

Executive 
Officers and 

Past Executive 
Officers of the 

Issuer 

Directors 
and Past 

Directors of 
the Issuer(1)  

Employees 
and Past 

Employees 
of the 
Issuer 

Consultants 
of the Issuer 

Any other 
Person or 
Company 
including 

Finders and 
Underwriters  

 
Stock Options 

 
1,095,000 360,000 42,400 194,836 Nil 

DSUs  
 

552,646 120,000 16,667 Nil Nil 

Warrants  
 

Nil Nil Nil Nil 7,446,512 

Compensation 
Options 

 
Nil Nil Nil Nil 432,848(2) 

Notes: 

(1) Directors that are not executive officers only.  

(2) Each compensation option is exercisable to purchase one unit of the Issuer at a price of $4.65 until February 
13, 2020. Each such unit consists of one Common Share and one common share purchase warrant. Each 
such warrant entitles the holder thereof to acquire one Common Share at an exercise price of $5.50 until 
February 13, 2020.  

Description of the Stock Option Plan 

The Stock Option Plan is a "rolling" stock option plan which was last approved by the 
Shareholders on May 31, 2017. The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to, among other things, 
encourage Common Share ownership in the Issuer by directors, officers, employees and persons 
engaged to provide ongoing management and consulting services ("service providers"). The 
number of Common Shares reserved for issue under the Stock Option Plan may not exceed 10% 
of the issued and outstanding Common Shares of the Issuer at any given time. The options 
granted under the Stock Option Plan are non-assignable and may be granted for a term not 
exceeding ten years. Options may be granted under the Stock Option Plan only to directors, 
officers, employees and other service providers subject to the rules and regulations of applicable 
regulatory authorities and any Canadian stock exchange upon which the Common Shares may 
be listed or may trade from time to time. The exercise price of options issued under the Stock 
Option Plan may not be less than the market price of the Common Shares at the time the option 
is granted, subject to any discounts permitted by applicable legislative and regulatory 
requirements. 

The Stock Option Plan contains the following restrictions as to insider and individual eligibility 
thereunder: (i) the maximum number of Common Shares which may be reserved for issuance to 
insiders under the Stock Option Plan, any other employer stock option plans or options for 
services, shall be 10% of the Common Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the grant (on 
a non-diluted basis); (ii) the maximum number of options which may be granted to insiders under 
the Stock Option Plan, any other employer stock option plans or options for services, within any 
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12 month period, shall be 10% of the Common Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the 
grant (on a non-diluted basis); and (iii) the maximum number of Common Shares which may be 
issued to any one optionee, together with any other previously established or proposed share 
compensation arrangements, within a one year period shall be 5% of the Common Shares 
outstanding at the time of the grant (on a non-diluted basis). The maximum number of stock 
options which may be granted to any one consultant under the Stock Option Plan, any other 
employer stock options plans or options for services, within any 12 month period, must not exceed 
2% of the Common Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the grant (on a non-diluted 
basis). The maximum number of stock options which may be granted to "investor relations 
persons" under the Stock Option Plan, any other employer stock options plans or options for 
services, within any 12 month period must not exceed, in the aggregate, 2% of the Common 
Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the grant (on a non-diluted basis). 

Description of the DSU Plan 

The DSU Plan, which was last approved by the Issuer's shareholders on March 7, 2018, is 
intended to strengthen the alignment of interests between DSU Participants and the Shareholders 
by linking a portion of annual compensation, as determined by the Board, from time to time, to 
the future value of the Common Shares. In addition, the DSU Plan was adopted for the purpose 
of advancing the interests of the Issuer through the motivation, attraction and retention of 
directors, officers and employees of the Issuer and its affiliates, it being generally recognized that 
the DSU Plan will aid in attracting, retaining and encouraging director, officer and employee 
commitment and performance due to the opportunity offered to them to receive compensation in 
line with the value of the Common Shares.  

Pursuant to the DSU Plan, the Board may, from time to time, in its discretion and in accordance 
with TSXV requirements, grant DSU Participants deferred share units of the Issuer DSUs, 
representing the right of the DSU Participant to receive one previously unissued Common Share 
or cash equivalent (a "DSU Payment") for each whole vested DSU held by such DSU Participant. 

The maximum number of Common Shares issuable pursuant to outstanding DSUs shall be limited 
to 10% of the aggregate number of the then issued and outstanding Common Shares, less the 
number of Common Shares issuable pursuant to all other security based compensation 
arrangements.  

Under the terms of the DSU Plan, unless the Issuer has received disinterested Shareholder 
approval to do so, the number of Common Shares issuable to insiders, at any time, under all 
security based compensation arrangements shall not exceed 10% of the then issued and 
outstanding Common Shares. 

Under the terms of the DSU Plan, unless the Issuer has received disinterested Shareholder 
approval to do so, the number of Common Shares issuable to insiders, within any one year period, 
under all security based compensation arrangements shall not exceed 10% of the then issued 
and outstanding Common Shares. 

Subject to the terms of the DSU Plan and the compensation policies of the Issuer, the number of 
DSUs to be granted and issued to each DSU Participant on each DSU grant date shall be 
calculated by reference to (i) the dollar amount of the DSU Participant's remuneration as 
determined by the Board or the Issuer for the year that will be satisfied by such DSUs, and (ii) the 
last closing price of the Common Shares immediately prior to the relevant DSU Grant Date. The 
Board may, subject to applicable securities laws, also make additional determinations from time 
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to time with respect to the number of DSUs to be issued, and the DSU grant date of DSUs to new 
DSU Participants appointed or hired from time to time, as the case may be. On each DSU grant 
date, the number of DSUs so determined by the Board shall be granted by the Issuer to such 
DSU Participant without any further action being required by any of them. 

Upon a DSU Participant's death, or retirement from, or loss of office or employment with the Issuer 
(the "Termination Date"), the Issuer shall satisfy the DSU Payment for such DSU Participant by 
either (i) issuing to such DSU Participant one Common Share for each vested outstanding DSU 
held by such DSU Participant on such relevant Termination Date, or (ii) paying an amount in cash 
equivalent to the number of outstanding DSUs held by such DSU Participant multiplied by the last 
closing price of the Common Shares immediately prior to the Termination Date for such DSU 
Participant, subject to applicable deductions. Where DSUs have been granted to a DSU 
Participant with reference to his or her remuneration for a year, in the event such DSU Participant 
resigns or is otherwise no longer eligible under the DSU Plan, as the case may be, during that 
year, such DSUs will only partially vest and the DSU Participant will only be entitled to a pro-rated 
DSU Payment in respect of such DSUs. 

The aggregate number of Common Shares issuable to all DSU Participants retained to provide 
activities, by or on behalf of the Issuer or a Shareholder, that promote or could reasonably be 
expected to promote the sale of securities of the Issuer pursuant to the DSU Plan (or any other 
security-based compensation plans, including the Stock Option Plan) must not exceed 2% of the 
issued and outstanding Common Shares in any 12 month period, calculated on the DSU grant 
date. In addition, unless the Issuer has received disinterested Shareholder approval to do so, (i) 
the aggregate number of Common Shares issuable to insiders, at any time, under all 
compensation plans, shall not exceed 10% of the then outstanding Common Shares; (ii) the 
aggregate number of Common Shares issuable to insiders in any 12-month period under all 
security based compensation plans, shall not exceed 10% of the then outstanding Common 
Shares. 

Under no circumstances shall DSUs be considered Common Shares nor shall they entitle any 
DSU Participant to exercise voting rights or any other rights attaching to the ownership of common 
shares of the Issuer nor shall any DSU Participant be considered a shareholder by virtue of the 
award of DSUs. 

The rights or interests of a DSU Participant under the DSU Plan are not assignable or transferable, 
otherwise than by will or the laws governing the devolution of property in the event of death. 
Further, such rights or interests are not to be encumbered. 

The Board of Directors may from time to time amend, suspend or terminate the DSU Plan in whole 
or in part without further shareholder approval; however, the DSU Plan sets out what the Board 
may and may not do, without obtaining the approval of shareholders, in respect of amendments 
to the DSU Plan. 

10. DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

10.1 General 

There are no special rights or restrictions attached to the Common Shares. The holders of the 
common shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote at all meetings of the 
shareholders of the Issuer and each common share shall confer the right to one vote in person or 
by proxy at all meetings of the shareholders of the Corporation. The holders of the common 
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shares, subject to the prior rights, if any, of any other class of shares of the Issuer, are entitled to 
receive such dividends in any financial year as the board of directors of the Issuer may by 
resolution determine. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Issuer, 
whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the common shares are entitled to receive, subject 
to the prior rights, if any, of the holders of any other class of shares of the Issuer, the remaining 
property and assets of the Issuer. 

10.2 Debt Securities, Other Securities, Modification of Terms and Other Attributes 

None of the matters set out in sections 10.2 to 10.6 of CSE - Form 2A are applicable to the Issuer.  

10.7 Prior Sales 

The chart below represents the prices at which the Issuer's Common Shares to be listed have 
been sold or are to be sold within 12-month period before the date of this Listing Statement and 
the number of Common Shares sold or to be sold. 

Date 
Number of Common 
Shares Issued 

Issuance / Exercise Price per 
Security 

August 1, 2017 21,027,636(1) $2.00 

August 18, 2017 220,096(2) $0.50 

August 25, 2017 8,000(3) $0.25 

August 25, 2017 8,000(4) $0.50  

August 25, 2017 3,172(5) $0.50 

September 11, 2017 10,524(6) $0.50 

December 13, 2017 152,000(7) $0.25 

December 13, 2017 152,000(8) $0.50 

January 8, 2018 64,000(9) $0.50 

January 8, 2018 25,252(10) $3.00 

January 26, 2018 36,000(11) $0.50 

January 26, 2018 116,244(12) $2.00 

January 26, 2018 36,000(13) $2.00 

January 26, 2018 200,000(14) N/A 

February 13, 2018 6,183,544(15) $4.65 

February 14, 2018 40,320(16) $3.00 

February 14, 2018 16,664(17) $2.00 

March 29, 2018 200,000(18) N/A 

April 4, 2018 800,000(19)  $0.50 

June 8, 2018 250,000(20) $0.05 

To be issued in 
connection with the 
proposed acquisition of 
MMJ Argentina 

6,176,320 

To be issued at a price equal to 
the closing price of the Common 
Shares immediately prior to the 
closing date of the acquisition of 
MMJ Argentina 



 

 46 

Date 
Number of Common 
Shares Issued 

Issuance / Exercise Price per 
Security 

To be issued in 
connection with the 
proposed acquisition of 
Marigold 

6,000,000 

To be issued at a price equal to 
the closing price of the Common 
Shares immediately prior to the 
closing date of the acquisition of 
Marigold 

To be issued in 
connection with the 
proposed acquisition of 
MMJ Colombia 

6,075,000(21) 

To be issued at a deemed price 
equal to the 20 day volume 
weighted average price of the 
Common Shares prior to the 
closing of the acquisition of MMJ 
Colombia 

To be issued in 
connection with the 
proposed acquisition of 
15% of BrazilCo 

600,000(22) 

To be issued at a deemed price 
equal to the 20 day volume 
weighted average price of the 
Common Shares prior to the 
closing of the acquisition of 
BrazilCo 

To be issued in 
connection with the 
proposed acquisition of 
70% of CannCure 

 

23,325,000(23) 

To be issued at a deemed price 
equal to the greater of: (i) $4:00 
per share; or (ii) the 20 day 
volume weighted average price of 
the Common Shares prior to the 
closing of the acquisition of 
CannCure  

Notes: 

(1) Issued in connection with the RTO Transaction.  

(2) Issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants.  

(3) Issued in connection with the exercise of 2,000 Special Warrants. 

(4) Issued in connection with the exercise of warrants.  

(5) Issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants. 

(6) Issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants. 

(7) Issued in connection with the exercise of 38,000 Special Warrants. 

(8) Issued in connection with the exercise of warrants. 

(9) Issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants. 

(10) Issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants.  

(11) Issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants. 

(12) Issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants. 

(13) Issued pursuant to the exercise of options. 

(14) Issued in connection with the conversion of 50,000 DSUs into Common Shares upon the resignation of 
Messrs. Michael Petter and Peter Benz.  

(15) On February 13, 2018, the Issuer completed the Prospectus Offering of 672,125 units (the "Units") at a price 

of $18.60 per Unit for gross proceeds of $12,501,525. Each Unit was comprised of one Common Share and 
one Common Share purchase warrant (a "Warrant") with each Warrant being exercisable into one Common 
Share (a "Warrant Share") at an exercise price of $22.00 per Warrant Share for a period of twenty four (24) 
months after the closing date. The underwriters (the "Underwriters") exercised in full an over-allotment option 
(the "Over-Allotment Option") to purchase an additional 100,818 Units. The aggregate gross proceeds of 

the Prospectus Offering, including the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option, was $14,376,740. 

 In connection with the Prospectus Offering, the Issuer completed the Concurrent Private Placement of 672,125 
Units on the same commercial terms as the Prospectus Offering for gross proceeds of $12,501,525. The 
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Underwriters exercised an option (the "Underwriters' Private Placement Option") to purchase an additional 

100,818 Units for resale to additional subscribers on an exempt basis. The aggregate gross proceeds of the 
Private Placement, including the exercise of the Underwriters' Private Placement Option, was $14,376,740. 
An aggregate of 1,545,886 Units were issued pursuant to the February 2018 Offerings for combined gross 
proceeds of $28,753,480. The February 2018 Offerings closed concurrently. 

(16) Issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants. 

(17) Issued pursuant to the exercise of options. 

(18) Issued in connection with the conversion of 50,000 DSUs into Common Shares upon the resignation of 
Messrs. Gary Leong and Roger Rai.  

(19) Issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants. 

(20) Issued pursuant to the exercise of options. 

(21) In consideration of the purchase of all the issued and outstanding common shares of MMJ Colombia, Scythian 
will issue, on the closing date, CDN$24,300,000 of Common Shares at an issue price equal to the volume 
weighted average price of the Common Shares on the TSXV over the 20 trading days prior to the closing date 
of the acquisition, provided that no less than 4,768,875 Common Shares will be issued as consideration 
shares. At an estimated share price of $4.00, the Issuer would issue 6,075,000 Common Shares.  

(22) In consideration for the purchase of 15% of Brazil Investments Inc., Scythian will issue on the closing date, 
CDN$2,400,000 of Common Shares at an issue price equal to the volume weighted average price of the 
Common Shares on the TSXV over the 20 trading days prior to the closing date of the acquisition. At an 
estimated share price of $4.00, the Issuer would issue 600,000 Common Shares. 

(23) In consideration for the purchase of 70% of the issued and outstanding common shares of CannCure for a 
purchase price of $136,500,000, $93,300,000 will be satisfied by the issuance of Common Shares at a 
deemed price per share equal to the greater of $4.00 or the 20 day volume weighted average price of the 
Common Shares prior to the closing date with the remaining balance of $43,200,000 to be satisfied in cash. 
A maximum of 23,325,000 Common Shares will be issuable in exchange for the 70% interest in CannCure. 

 

10.8 Stock Exchange Price 

The Common Shares were previously listed and traded on the TSXV under the trading symbol 
"SCYB". The following table sets out the price ranges and volume traded on the TSXV for the 12 
months before the date of this Listing Statement [and adjusted to give effect to the Stock Split]: 

Period High Trading Price ($) Low Trading Price ($) Volume (#) 

2018  

July 2018(3)(4) 4.97 3.40 4,715,245 

June 2018(3) 4.22 3.04 3,596,428 

May 2018(3) 4.93 3.08 4,010,417 

April 2018(2)(3) 5.60 3.96 2,144,316 

March 2018 25.39 17.20 867,570 

February 2018 33.4 20.05 1,231,780 

January 2018 34.45 14.5 2,559,950 

2017  

December 2017 16.30 6.30 1,549,444 

November 2017 7.00 4.20 1,091,492 

October 2017 5.25 4.07 299,200 

September 2017 6.30 4.05 452,072 

August 2017(1)(2) 7.98 4.75 364,221 
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Period High Trading Price ($) Low Trading Price ($) Volume (#) 

July 2017 Halted Halted Halted 

June 2017 Halted Halted Halted 

May 2017 Halted Halted Halted 

April 2017 Halted Halted Halted 

March 2017 Halted Halted Halted 

February 2017(1) 0.16 0.15 10,800 

January 2017 0.19 0.115 260,699 
 

 Notes: 

(1) Trading in the Common Shares on the TSXV was halted on February 16, 2017 pending the announcement of 
the RTO Transaction and resumed August 8, 2017 following the completion of the RTO Transaction.  

(2) On August 1, 2017, the Issuer completed the RTO Share Consolidation. 

(3) On April 12, 2018, the Issuer completed the Stock Split.  

(4) On July 26, 2018, trading in the Common Shares on the TSXV was halted at the request of the Issuer pending 
the release of material information.  

11. ESCROWED SECURITIES 

11.1 Escrowed of Principal Securities 

The following table describes the number of securities of each class of the Issuer held, to the 
knowledge of the Issuer, in escrow and the percentage that number represents of the outstanding 
securities of that class as at the date hereof.  

Designation  
of Class Type of Restriction 

Number of securities 
held in escrow or that are 
subject to a contractual 
restriction on transfer 
escrow 

Percentage 
Class 

Common Shares Value Escrow Agreement and 
Surplus Escrow Agreement 

5,636,004(1) 19%(2) 

Options Surplus Escrow Agreement Nil - 

DSU Surplus Escrow Agreement 140,004(3) 20%(4) 

Notes: 

(1)  Held in escrow pursuant to a Value Escrow Agreement and a Surplus Escrow Agreement (as defined below). 

(2)  Based on 29,583,588 Common Shares issued and outstanding. 

(3)  Held in escrow pursuant to a Surplus Escrow Agreement (as defined below). 

(4)  Based on 689,313 issued DSUs. 

In connection with the RTO Transaction, certain Scythian shareholders entered into a Form 5D – 
Value Escrow Agreement (the "Value Escrow Agreement") and a Form 5D – Surplus Security 
Escrow Agreement (the "Surplus Escrow Agreement") with the Issuer and TSX Trust Company, 
as escrow agent, dated August 3, 2017 in accordance with the conditional approval of the RTO 
Transaction by the TSXV. Pursuant to the Value Escrow Agreement, a total of 7,900,000 Common 
Shares were deposited into escrow with TSX Trust Company (the "Value Escrow Securities"). 
Pursuant to the Surplus Security Escrow Agreement, a total of 600,000 Common Shares, 445,000 
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DSUs and 250,000 options, for an aggregate total of 323,750 securities were deposited into 
escrow with TSX Trust Company (the "Surplus Escrow Securities").  

Under the terms of the Value Escrow Agreement, 10% of the Value Escrow Securities were 
released from escrow on August 4, 2017 – the date of the final TSXV bulletin (the "Bulletin") 
approving the RTO Transaction was issued, with subsequent 15% releases occurring 6, 12, 18, 
24, 30 and 36 months from the date of the Bulletin. Under the terms of the Surplus Escrow 
Agreement, 5% of the Surplus Escrow Securities were released from escrow on September 6, 
2017, with an additional 5% that was released on the date 6 months following the date of the 
Bulletin, an additional 10% to be released on the dates 12 and 18 months following the date of 
the Bulletin, an additional 15% to be released on the dates 24 and 30 months following the date 
of the Bulletin, and an additional 40% to be released on the date 36 months following the date of 
the Bulletin. 

12. PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS  

Other than as set forth below, to the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Issuer, as of 
the date of this Listing Statement, no shareholder beneficially owns or exercises control or 
direction over Common Shares carrying more than 10% of the votes attached to common shares. 

Aphria is a principal shareholder. To the knowledge of the Issuer, Aphria currently owns 2,688,500 
Common Shares and 672,125 warrants. Each warrant entitles Aphria to acquire four (4) Common 
Shares at an exercise price of $5.50 per Common Share. To the knowledge of the Issuer, Aphria 
is the holder of record of all of its Common Shares.  

The 2,688,500 Common Shares owned by Aphria represent 9.09% of the issued and outstanding 
Common Shares as at the date hereof on a non-diluted basis. If the 672,125 warrants were to be 
fully exercised, Aphria would own approximately 16.66% of the Common Shares on a partially-
diluted basis. 

Messrs. Cole Caciavillani and John Cervini, through ownership of or control or direction over the 
securities of Aphria, is each a principal shareholder of Aphria.  

13. DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

13.1 The following table sets forth the names of all  directors and officers of the Issuer, their 
municipalities, provinces and countries of residence, their current positions with the Issuer, 
their principal occupations during the past five years, and the number and percentage of 
common shares owned, directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction is 
exercised, of voting securities of the Issuer, as of the date hereof: 



 

 50 

Name, Position and 
Municipality of Residence 

Principal Occupation for 
Previous Five Years 

Date Appointed 
as Director and 
when term 
expires 

Number and 
Percentage of 
Securities Beneficially 
Owned, Controlled or 
Directed, Directly or 
Indirectly 

Robert Reid  

Director 

Chief Executive Officer 

London, United Kingdom 

CEO of Scythian 

Co-founder of Prohibition 
Partners 

Co-founder of Cannabis 
Europe, Partner with 
European Cannabis 
Holdings 

Managing Director of 
Advertising M&A 

March 7, 2018 

See Item 13.2 

680,000 Options  

152,646 DSUs 

Roger Rai 

Director 

Toronto, Ontario, Canada 

Vice President, Business 
Development of Peeks 
Social Ltd.  

April 25, 2018 

 

195,000 Common 
Shares (0.7%) 

100,000 Options 

 

Brady Cobb 

Director 

Fort Lauderdale, Florida, 
United States of America  

 

Attorney and principal with 
Cobb Eddy, PLLC 

 

July 30, 2018 

 

40,000 Common Shares 
(0.1%) 

Jonathan Held 

Chief Financial Officer 

Toronto, Ontario, Canada 

 

Chartered Professional 
Accountant 

Chartered Accountant 

N/A 

 

80,000 Options 

110,000 DSUs 

Maghsoud Dariani 

Chief Scientific Officer 

Fanwood, New Jersey 

United States of America 

 

President and CEO of 
Semorex Inc. 

N/A 

 

100,000 Options 

 

Michael Barnes 

Chief Medical Officer 

London, United Kingdom 

 

Clinical Director, 
Christchurch Group 

N/A Nil  

13.2 The Articles of the Issuer provide that the number of directors should not be less than one 
director. Each director holds office until the close of the next annual general meeting of 
the Issuer, or until his or her successor is duly elected or appointed, unless his or her office 
is earlier vacated. The Issuer's Board of Directors currently consists of four directors, three 
of whom can be defined as "unrelated directors" or directors who are independent of 
management and are free from any interests and any business or other relationship which 
could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the directors' ability to 
act with a view to the best interests of the Issuer, other than interests and relationships 
arising from shareholders, and do not have interests in or relationships with the Issuer. 
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13.3 As of the date of this Listing Statement, the directors and executive officers of the Issuer 
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, as a group, 235,000 Common Shares of the Issuer 
representing approximately 0.8% of all outstanding voting securities of the Issuer.  

13.4 Board Committees 

On at the date hereof, the following are the members of the Audit Committee: 

Roger Rai Independent Member 
Brady Cobb Independent Member 
  

Each member of the Audit Committee is "financially literate" in accordance with section 5.2 of 
Policy 4 of the CSE.  

As at the date hereof, the following are the members of the Compensation Committee: 

Roger Rai Independent Member 
Brady Cobb Independent Member 
  

13.5 Other Reporting Issuer Experience 

In addition to their positions on the Board, the following directors and officers also serve as 
directors and officers of the following reporting issuers or reporting issuer equivalents: 

Name of Director or Officer 
Reporting Issuer(s)  

or Equivalent(s) Positions 

Roger Rai  Breaking Data Corp. (TSXV: BKD) Director 

Jonathan Held Signature Resources Ltd. (TSXV: SGU) 

Goldstream Minerals Inc. (TSXV: GSX.H) 

Director & CFO 

Director 

13.6 Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies  

Except as set out below, to the knowledge of the Issuer, no director nor officer of the Issuer, or a 
shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control 
of the Issuer, is, or within 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, has been, a director 
or officer of any other issuer that, while that person was acting in that capacity: 

(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other 
issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, for a period of more 
than 30 consecutive days; 

(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer ceased 
to be a director or executive officer, in the Issuer being the subject of a cease trade 
or similar order or an order that denied the relevant Issuer access to any exemption 
under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; 

(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold its assets; or 
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(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made 
a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject 
to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had 
a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

Roger Rai previously served as a director of The Mint Corporation. The Mint Corporation was 
subject to a management cease trade order which was outstanding for more than 30 days and 
which was lifted on February 12, 2008. The management cease trade order was imposed 
because The Mint Corporation was unable to file its annual financial statements and 
management's discussion and analysis for the year ended August 31, 2007. Roger Rai was a 
director of The Mint Corporation during the period of this management cease trade order.  

13.7 Penalties & Sanctions  

To the knowledge of the Issuer, no director nor officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding a 
sufficient number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, is, or 
within 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, has been, a director or officer of any 
other issuer that, while that person was acting in that capacity, has: 

(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian 
securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has 
entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory 
authority; or 

(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory 
body that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor 
making an investment decision. 

13.8 Personal Bankruptcies  

No director nor officer of the Issuer, nor a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Issuer to 
affect materially the control of the Issuer, or a personal holding Issuer of any such persons, has, 
within the 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal 
under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or officer. 

13.9 Conflicts of Interest  

Certain of the directors and officers of the Issuer are also directors and officers of other issuers. 
The directors of the Issuer are bound by the provisions of the OBCA to act honestly and in good 
faith with a view to the best interests of the Issuer and to disclose any interests, which they may 
have in any project or opportunity of the Issuer. If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the 
Board of Directors, any director in a conflict will disclose his interest and abstain from voting on 
such matter. 

To the best of the Issuer's knowledge, and other than disclosed herein, there are no known 
existing or potential conflicts of interest among the Issuer, its promoters, directors and officers or 
other members of management of the Issuer or of any proposed promoter, director, officer or 
other member of management as a result of their outside business interests except that certain 
of the directors and officers serve as directors and officers of other companies, and, therefore, it 
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is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties to the Issuer and their duties as a director 
or officer of such other companies. 

13.10 Management & Directors of Resulting Issuer 

Rob Reid – Age: 41 – Chief Executive Officer and Director 

Mr. Reid is a leading business figure in Europe's legal cannabis industry. He is co-founder of 
Prohibition Partners, a company that provides market data and intelligence to investors, 
entrepreneurs and regulators. He is also co-founder of Cannabis Europa, a conference series 
that will focus on the science and policy required to shape the future of Europe's medical cannabis 
industry. He is a partner of European Cannabis Holdings, a private investment firm focused on 
building out ancillary assets across the region. Mr. Reid has served as Managing Director at 
Advertising M&A, a global M&A consultancy for the digital and creative sectors. Previously, he 
ran one of Europe's leading digital marketing agencies where he spent 14 years working across 
regulated sectors for clients such as Diageo, RBS and Coca-Cola. He completed a successful 
exit from that business in 2014. 

Roger Rai – Age: 48 – Director  

Mr. Rai is the Managing Director of E.S. Rogers Enterprises and President of R3 Concepts Inc. 
As Managing Director at E.S. Rogers, Mr. Rai advises Edward Rogers on business, revenue, 
partnership and talent development. Mr. Rai was previously the Vice-President of Business 
Development of Peeks Social Ltd., a TSXV listed Issuer operating Keeks.com, a social networking 
service focusing on video content. Mr. Rai has managed and directed both private and public 
companies, having been a director for Sustain Co. Inc. (SMS), Pintree Capital Ltd. (PNP) and The 
Mint Corporation. Mr. Rai has significant experience in the digital and telecommunications 
markets, having held various managerial positions. Mr. Rai is the founder and a director of the 
ONEXONE Foundation, a charitable organization focused on global child welfare. Born and raised 
in Toronto, Ontario, Mr. Rai received his Bachelor of Arts (BA) from the University of Western 
Ontario. Mr. Rai successfully completed a number of courses related to financial reporting at 
Ryerson University from 1992 to 1994. Mr. Rai held management positions with C.O.R.E 
Animation, and was a founder of Fastvibe, both of which required the review and approval of 
financial statements. Mr. Rai previously served as a director of the Issuer from August 1, 2017 to 
March 7, 2018.  

Brady Cobb – Age: 37 – Director 

Mr. Cobb is an attorney, registered lobbyist, and consultant based in South Florida at the law firm 
of Cobb Eddy PLLC. Mr. Cobb has emerged as a leading voice in the medical cannabis industry 
in the United States and has been instrumental in the legal and regulatory development of the 
U.S. cannabis market, both at the state and U.S. federal level. As an attorney, he focuses his 
practice on state and federal lobbying and policy making, the development of efficient and 
reasonable regulatory systems and related compliance, complex license transfer/change of 
ownership transactions, capital markets transactions and compliance/shareholder disclosure 
issues with the Toronto Stock Exchange, CSE and Nasdaq. Prior to forming his own firm, Mr. 
Cobb was a director at Tripp Scott, P.A. in Fort Lauderdale, Florida which is a nationally 
recognized law firm that specializes in governmental relations, business law, and complex 
business litigation. Mr. Cobb still actively participates in the political process and serves on the 
host committees for candidates running for federal, state or local elected office. A lifelong 
Floridian, Mr. Cobb is based in Fort Lauderdale, Florida with his wife and two children.  
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Jonathan Held – Age: 33 – Chief Financial Officer 

Mr. Held is a Chartered Professional Accountant, Chartered Accountant, with CFO level 
experience with both private and public companies. Mr. Held has worked with a number of start-
up companies in a number of sectors including technology, real estate and resources, both 
domestic and international. Mr. Held has been involved in numerous successful public market 
transactions including initial public offerings, reverse takeovers and financings. Mr. Held holds a 
Bachelor of Mathematics and Masters of Accounting from the University of Waterloo. 

Maghsoud Dariani – Age: 65 – Chief Scientific Officer 

Mr. Dariani has over 35 years of diverse and progressive management experience in the 
development and commercialization of products in the pharmaceutical industry. Mr. Dariani has 
a successful record of business management, strategic planning, acquisition and divestiture, 
project management, production management, R&D management, economic evaluations, 
competitor analyses, and development and administration of multi-million dollar budgets. Mr. 
Dariani is an entrepreneurial business leader with a sound grasp of successful business 
strategies, an excellent foundation in science and engineering, and a strong background in 
product development and commercialization. He is currently the CEO of Semorex Inc. – a 
privately-held company focused on the discovery and development of novel therapeutics for 
cancer. Mr. Dariani also leads Myos Rens' science and technology efforts and has overall 
responsibility for manufacturing, basic science, pre-clinical and clinical studies. Prior to joining 
Semorex Inc., Mr. Dariani was President of Focus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. where he managed the 
development and approval of drug products, achieving one FDA approval and bringing another 
to the clinical evaluation stage. Prior to joining Focus, Mr. Dariani was Vice President of the chiral 
pharmaceutical business unit at Celgene Corporation. During his twelve years at Celgene, Mr. 
Dariani developed and implemented Celgene's manufacturing strategy, managed and 
successfully sold Celgene's chiral intermediates business unit, and formulated a strategic plan for 
leveraging Celgene's expertise in chiral technologies towards the development of chirally pure 
drug products. Mr. Dariani was responsible for the successful development and FDA approval of 
chirally pure versions of Ritalin, currently marketed by Novartis under the Focalin and Focalin XR 
trade names. Prior to his time at Celgene, Mr. Dariani held progressively more responsible 
engineering and development positions at Celanese Corporation. Mr. Dariani holds a Bachelor of 
Science from The City College of New York and a Master of Science from University of 
Massachusetts in Chemical Engineering. Mr. Dariani is a member of Board of Directors at 
Semorex Inc. and Mesa Therapeutics. 

Michael Barnes – Age: 66 – Chief Medical Officer 

Professor Barnes is the co-author of a report entitled Cannabis: The Evidence for Medical Use 
(the "Barnes Report"), an expert independent opinion commissioned by the United Kingdom's 
All-Party Parliamentary Group on Drug Policy Reform. The Barnes Report concluded that, based 
on a literary review of more than 20,000 research papers concerning the use of drugs containing 
cannabinoids, cannabis-based medication helped with a wide range of conditions. The Barnes 
Report has influenced law makers in Ireland, Jersey and Guernsey. Ireland is considering 
legalizing the use of cannabis for treating specific medical conditions, due, in part, to the 
conclusions of the Barnes Report. Professor Barnes has also been involved in the campaign to 
legalize medical cannabis in Ireland and presented the case to the Irish Parliament. Both Jersey 
and Guernsey are reviewing laws around cannabis. Professor Barnes' background is as a clinical 
neurologist and consultant in rehabilitation medicine. He is the Honorary Professor of Neurological 
Rehabilitation at the University of Newcastle, Founder and President of the World Federation of 
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Neurological Rehabilitation and past President of the British Society of Rehabilitation Medicine 
and was elected to the membership of the European Academy of Rehabilitation Medicine. He has 
also served as the chief executive of several NHS organizations. 

14. CAPITALIZATION  

14.1 Issued Capital  

As at June 28, 2018  

Number of 
Common 
Shares 
(non-

diluted)  

Number of 
Common 
Shares 

(fully-diluted) 

 
% of Issued  
(non-diluted) 

 
% of Issued  

(fully diluted) 

Public Float     

Total outstanding (A)  29,583,588 40,277,345 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons(1) (B)  3,298,500 7,734,646 11.15% 19.20% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 26,285,088 33,342,699 88.85% 80.80% 

Freely-Tradeable Float     

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to resale 
restrictions(2) (C)  

5,636,004 5,776,008 19.05% 14.34% 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 23,947,584 34,501,337 80.95% 85.66% 

Notes: 

(1) Includes employees of the Issuer or a Related Person of the Issuer, or by persons or companies who 
beneficially own or control, directly or indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the Issuer (or who would 
beneficially own or control, directly or indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the Issuer upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities held). 

(2)  Includes restrictions imposed by pooling or other arrangements or in a shareholder agreement and securities 
held by control block holders. 

Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other than persons 
enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart.  

Class of Security (As at June 1, 2018) 

Size of Holding  Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 Common Shares 227 8,886 

100 – 499 Common Shares 421 104,482 

500 – 999 Common Shares 157 104,656 

1,000 – 1,999 Common Shares 198 256,489 

2,000 – 2,999 Common Shares 117 259,030 

3,000 – 3,999 Common Shares 42 139,869 

4,000 – 4,999 Common Shares 57 235,132 

5,000 or more Common Shares 308 17,271,659 

Total 1,527 18,380,203 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial)  

For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders (beneficial)" include (i) beneficial holders 
holding securities in their own name as registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding 
securities through an intermediary. The table below does not include "non-public securityholders" 
being those persons enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital chart. 

Class of Security (As at July 5, 2018) 

Size of Holding  Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 Common Shares 261 9,673 

100 – 499 Common Shares 517 124,515 

500 – 999 Common Shares 212 136,402 

1,000 – 1,999 Common Shares 238 299,375 

2,000 – 2,999 Common Shares 140 313,012 

3,000 – 3,999 Common Shares 49 162,663 

4,000 – 4,999 Common Shares 62 257,305 

5,000 or more Common Shares 316 20,439,567 

Unable to confirm  - - 

Total 2,019 21,742,512 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this table, "non-public securityholders" are persons enumerated in Section 
(B) of the Issued Capital table above.  

Class of Security (As at August 7, 2018) 

Size of Holding  Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 Common Shares 0 0 

100 – 499 Common Shares 0 0 

500 – 999 Common Shares 0 0 

1,000 – 1,999 Common Shares 0 0 

2,000 – 2,999 Common Shares 0 0 

3,000 – 3,999 Common Shares 0 0 

4,000 – 4,999 Common Shares 0 0 

5,000 or more Common Shares 4 3,298,500 

Total 4 3,298,500 

14.2 Convertible/Exchangeable Securities 

The following details any securities convertible or exchangeable into Common Shares of the 
Issuer as at the date hereof: 

Options 

The Option Plan provides that the Board of Directors may, from time to time, in their discretion, 
grant to directors, senior officers, employees and consultants of the Issuer and its subsidiaries 
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and other designated persons as designated from time to time by the Board of Directors, options 
to purchase Common Shares. The purpose of the Option Plan is to recognize the contributions 
made by the Option Plan's participants and to create an incentive for their continuing assistance. 
The maximum number of Common Shares reserved for issuance of options that may be granted 
under the Option Plan is 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares. The options granted 
can be exercised for a maximum of 10 years and vest as determined by the Board of Directors. 
The exercise price of each option is determined by the Board of Directors, on the basis of the 
market price, where "market price" means the prior trading day closing price of the common 
shares on a stock exchange where such common shares are listed. As of the date of this Listing 
Statement, there are 1,692,236 options issued and outstanding to purchase Common Shares. 

Deferred Share Units 

The DSU Plan provides that the Board of Directors may, from time to time, in its discretion and in 
accordance with TSXV requirements, grant to directors, officers and full-time employees of the 
Issuer DSUs representing the right of the DSU holder to receive one previously unissued 
Common Share or cash equivalent for each whole vested DSU held by such holder. The purpose 
of the DSU Plan is to strengthen the alignment of interests between the Issuer's shareholders and 
the DSU Plan's participants by linking a portion of annual compensation to the future value of the 
Common Shares. In addition, the DSU Plan is intended to advance the interests of the Issuer by 
assisting in the attraction, motivation and retention of the plan's participants. The number of DSUs 
granted to each participant is calculated by reference to (i) the dollar amount of the participant's 
remuneration as determined by the Board of Directors for the upcoming year or portion of the year 
following the applicable DSU grant date that will be satisfied by such DSUs, and (iii) the last 
closing price of the Common Shares on the TSXV immediately prior to the date of the applicable 
DSU grant date. As of the date of this Listing Statement, there are 689,313 DSUs issued and 
outstanding. 

Warrants  

As of the date of this Listing Statement, the following warrants and compensation options are 
issued and outstanding: 

 6,183,544 warrants of the Issuer, each exercisable into a Common Share at an exercise 
price of $5.50, expiring February 13, 2020. 

 348,732 warrants of the Issuer, each exercisable into a Common Share at an exercise 
price of $2.00, expiring June 12, 2019. 

 37,888 warrants of the Issuer, each exercisable into a Common Share at an exercise price 
of $3.00, expiring March 20, 2020. 

 348 warrants of the Issuer, each exercisable into a Common Share at an exercise price 
of $3.00, expiring March 31, 2020. 

 876,000 warrants of the Issuer, each exercisable into a Common Share at an exercise 
price of $0.50, expiring October 19, 2019. 

 432,848 compensation options of the Issuer, each exercisable into one unit at an exercise 
price of $4.65, expiring February 13, 2020. Each unit is comprised of one Common Share 
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and one Common Share purchase warrant. Each such warrant entitles the holder thereof 
to acquire one Common Share at an exercise price of $5.50, expiring February 13, 2020.  

14.3 Other Listed Securities 

There are no other listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 14.2. 

15. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Attached as Appendix B is a Statement of Executive Compensation in Form 51-102F6V—
Statement of Executive Compensation—Venture Issuers under National Instrument 51-102—
Continuous Disclosure Obligations which sets out all direct and indirect compensation for, or in 
connection with, services provided to the Issuer and its subsidiaries for the two most recently 
completed financial years of the Issuer in respect of the CEO, the CFO and the most highly 
compensated executive officer of the Issuer other than the CEO and the CFO (collectively, the 
"Named Executive Officers"), as well as the directors of the Issuer. 

16. INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 

AGGREGATE INDEBTEDNESS ($) 

Purpose To the Issuer or 
its Subsidiaries 

To Another 
Entity 

   

Share purchases N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Other $249,724 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 59 

16.2 Indebtedness under Securities Purchase and Other Programs 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS UNDER (1) SECURITIES 
PURCHASE AND (2) OTHER PROGRAMS ($) 

Name 
and 
Principal 
Position 

Involvement 
of Issuer or 
Subsidiary 

Largest 
Amount 
Outstanding 
During 
Fiscal Year 
2018 ($) 

Amount 
Outstanding 
as at Date of 
Listing 
Statement 

Financially 
Assisted 
Securities 
Purchases 
During 
Fiscal Year 
2018 (#) 

Security for 
Indebtedness 

Amount 
Forgiven 
During 
Fiscal 
Year 
2018 ($) 

Share Purchases Programs 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Other Programs 

Roger 
Rai, 
Director 

Issuer is the 
Lender 

$129,166 $129.166 N/A N/A None 

Mr. Rai was elected as a director of the Issuer effective August 1, 2017. As compensation for his 
service, Mr. Rai was issued 100,000 DSUs pursuant to the DSU Plan which were escrowed 
pursuant to the Surplus Escrow Agreement. 

Mr. Rai resigned as a director of the Issuer following the Issuer's special shareholder meeting 
held on March 7, 2018. As permitted under the DSU Plan, each outstanding DSU held by Mr. Rai 
was converted into a Common Share following his resignation. The issuance of the Common 
Shares constituted a "taxable event" under applicable Canadian federal tax rules thereby 
resulting in Mr. Rai incurring a significant and immediate income tax liability but without the ability 
to trade the majority of the issued Common Shares because the majority of such shares remained 
subject to escrow under the Surplus Escrow Agreement.  

To assist Mr. Rai in mitigating such income tax liability, the Issuer advanced to Mr. Rai a loan in 
the amount $129,166 bearing an interest rate of one percent (1%). Such loan amount will be 
repaid in full to the Issuer on or before December 31, 2019. 

17.  RISK FACTORS  

There are a number of risk factors that could cause future results to differ materially from those 
described herein. The risks and uncertainties described herein are not the only ones the Issuer 
faces. Additional risks and uncertainties, including those that the Issuer does not know about now 
or that it currently deems immaterial, may also adversely affect the Issuer's business. If any of the 
following risks actually occur, the Issuer's business may be harmed and its financial condition and 
results of operations may suffer significantly. 

Financial Risks 

Scythian is in the research and development stage and has operated at a loss until one of its lines 
of business becomes established and therefore will require additional financing in order to 
complete its research and development and to fund its ongoing and future operations. The failure 
to raise such capital could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of current business 
objectives or the going out of business. Scythian's ability to secure any required financing to 
sustain its operations will depend in part upon prevailing capital market conditions, as well as 
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Scythian's business success. There can be no assurance that Scythian will be successful in its 
efforts to secure any additional financing or additional financing on terms satisfactory to Scythian's 
management. If additional funds are raised through issuances of equity or convertible debt 
securities, existing shareholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities 
issued could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of common 
shares. In addition, from time to time, Scythian may enter into transactions to acquire assets or 
the shares of other corporations. These transactions may be financed wholly or partially with debt, 
which may temporarily increase Scythian's debt levels above industry standards. Neither 
Scythian's articles nor its by-laws limit the amount of indebtedness that it may incur. The level of 
Scythian's indebtedness from time to time could impair its ability to obtain additional financing in 
the future on a timely basis to take advantage of business opportunities that may arise. 

Limited Operating History and No Assurance of Profitability 

Scythian is subject to all of the business risks and uncertainties associated with any early-stage 
enterprise, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitation with respect to personnel, 
financial and other resources, and lack of revenues. 

Scythian has incurred significant operating losses since inception and substantially all losses have 
resulted from expenses incurred in connection with research and development and general and 
administrative costs associated with operations. Scythian may not be able to achieve or maintain 
profitability and may continue to incur significant losses in the future. In addition, Scythian expects 
to continue to increase operating expenses as it implements initiatives to continue to grow its 
business. If Scythian cannot produce revenue to offset these expected increases in costs and 
operating expenses, Scythian will not be profitable. There is no assurance that Scythian will 
generate revenue and be successful in achieving a return on shareholders' investments and the 
likelihood of success must be considered in light of the early stage of operations. 

No Revenue to Date 

Scythian has not generated revenues as of the date hereof. The ability to generate revenue 
depends upon the ability to successfully commercialize its intellectual property or other product 
candidates that Scythian develops or acquires in the future. As of the date hereof, there is no 
expectation to generate revenue in the foreseeable future. 

There is no assurance that if regulatory approval is achieved for the product candidates, revenues 
will be generated. The ability to generate revenue further depends on additional factors, including: 

 successful completion of development activities, including the additional pre-clinical 
studies and planned clinical trials for the product candidates; 

 completion and submission of New Drug Applications to the FDA and Marketing 
Authorization Applications to the European Medicines Agency; 

 obtaining regulatory approval from the FDA and European Medicines Agency for 
indications for which there is a commercial market; 

 obtaining regulatory approval from Health Canada; 

 completion and submission of applications to, and obtaining regulatory approval from, 
other foreign regulatory authorities; 
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 raising substantial additional capital to fund operations; 

 securing and maintaining strategic collaborations with partners to test, commercialize and 
manufacture product candidates; 

 manufacturing approved products in commercial quantities and on commercially 
reasonable terms; 

 developing a commercial organization, or finding suitable partners, to market, sell and 
distribute approved products; 

 achieving acceptance among patients, clinicians and advocacy groups for any developed 
products; 

 the successful grant of patents for drugs under development; 

 obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement from third parties, including government 
payors; and 

 setting a commercially viable price for any approved products. 

Changes in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines 

The commercial medical marijuana industry is a relatively new industry in Canada, the United 
States and in those jurisdictions where the Issuer has announced its entrance. Even though the 
industry is relatively new, it is a highly regulated industry that is subject to a variety of laws, 
regulations, guidelines and policies relating to the manufacture, import, export, management, 
packaging/labelling, advertising, sale, transportation, distribution, storage and disposal of the 
product candidates, including laws and regulations relating to drugs, controlled substances, health 
and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the environment. These laws, 
regulations, guidelines and policies are subject to further change, modification and interpretation 
as governments and governmental authorities attempt to balance the emergence of this new 
industry with existing public policy interests. Although the Issuer is, to the knowledge of 
Management, in compliance with all such laws, any changes to such laws, regulations, guidelines 
and policies due to matters beyond the control of the Issuer may cause adverse effects to its 
operations. 

In particular, the Issuer's current business is sensitive to changes in laws and regulations in the 
United States. The Issuer's cannabis-related activities in the United States have been focused in 
the State of Florida where although recreational use is criminalized at the state level, medical 
cannabis is now legal under the Florida Constitution. Additionally, the CSA, does permit the 
possession, manufacture, or distribution of cannabis or other Schedule 1 substances in 
furtherance of a government-approved research study. 

The United States Federal Government has not, however, enacted similar legislation legalizing 
the sale and use of medical cannabis and thus the cultivation, sale and use of cannabis remains 
illegal under federal law pursuant to the CSA. 

In the last four years, appropriations bills were passed by the United States Congress which seek 
to not appropriate funds for the prosecution of cannabis offenses where individuals were in 
compliance with state medical cannabis laws. American courts have interpreted these 
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appropriations bills to prevent the United States Federal Government from prosecuting individuals 
when those individuals comply with state law. American courts have, however, observed that 
should the United States Congress at any time choose to appropriate funds to fully prosecute the 
CSA, any individual or business—even those that have fully complied with state law—could be 
prosecuted for violations of federal law. If the United States Congress restores funding, the 
Federal Government will have the authority to prosecute individuals for violations of the law that 
occurred prior to the budget appropriation, pursuant to the CSA's five-year statute of limitations. 

Due to conflicting views between state legislatures and the United States Federal Government 
regarding cannabis, investments in cannabis businesses in the United States are subject to 
inconsistent legislation and regulation. The response to this inconsistency was addressed in the 
Cole Memorandum, acknowledging that notwithstanding the designation of cannabis as a 
controlled substance at the federal level, several states have enacted laws relating to cannabis 
for medical purposes. 

On January 4, 2018, Attorney General Jeffrey Sessions authored the Sessions Memorandum. 
Under the new Department of Justice guidelines, individual federal prosecutors will have the 
authority to determine the degree to which federal cannabis law is enforced. With the Cole 
Memorandum rescinded, United States federal prosecutors can exercise their discretion in 
determining whether to prosecute cannabis-related violations of United States federal law. 
Although use of cannabis remains legal under Florida law, the Sessions Memorandum increases 
the uncertainty surrounding the legality of cannabis-related activities in states that have passed 
legislation allowing for the cultivation, distribution and use of cannabis, both recreationally and 
medically. The United States Congress has passed appropriations bills each of the last three 
years that included the Rohrabacher Amendment Title: H.R.2578 — Commerce, Justice, Science, 
and Related Agencies Appropriations Act, 2016 (the "Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment"), 
which by its terms does not appropriate any federal funds to the U.S. Department of Justice for 
the prosecution of medical cannabis offenses of individuals who are in compliance with state 
medical cannabis laws. Subsequent to the issuance of the Sessions Memorandum on January 4, 
2018, the United States Congress passed its omnibus appropriations bill, SJ 1662, which for the 
fourth consecutive year contained the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment language (referred 
to in 2018 as the "Rohrabacher-Leahy Amendment") and continued the protections for the 
medical cannabis marketplace and its lawful participants from interference by the Department of 
Justice up and through the 2018 appropriations deadline of September 30, 2018. American courts 
have construed these appropriations bills to prevent the federal government from prosecuting 
individuals when those individuals comply with state law. However, because this conduct 
continues to violate federal law, American courts have observed that should Congress at any time 
choose to appropriate funds to fully prosecute the CSA, any individual or business — even those 
that have fully complied with state law — could be prosecuted for violations of federal law. If 
Congress restores funding, the United States government will have the authority to prosecute 
individuals for violations of the law before it lacked funding under the CSA's five-year statute of 
limitations. 

There is no assurance that the United States Federal Government will not seek to prosecute 
cases involving medical cannabis businesses that are otherwise compliant with state law. Such 
enforcement could involve significant restrictions being imposed upon the Issuer or third parties. 
Enforcement could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's business, revenues, operating 
results and financial condition as well as the Issuer's reputation. 
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There is also no assurance that state laws legalizing and regulating the sale and use of cannabis 
will not be repealed or overturned, or that local governmental authorities will not limit the 
applicability of state laws within their respective jurisdictions. 

Additionally, if state or federal laws are enforced, significant fines, penalties, administrative 
sanctions, convictions or settlements arising from civil proceedings conducted by either the 
federal government or private citizens, or criminal charges could be possible, potentially resulting 
in a material adverse effect on the Issuer, including its reputation and ability to conduct business, 
the listing of its securities on various stock exchanges, its financial position, operating results, 
profitability liquidity, or the market price of its publicly traded shares. 

Heightened scrutiny by Canadian regulatory authorities 

In light of the political and regulatory uncertainty surrounding the treatment of marijuana activities 
in the United States, the Issuer's existing cannabis-related activities in the United States, and any 
future operations or investments, may become the subject of heightened scrutiny by regulators, 
stock exchanges and other authorities in Canada. As a result, the Issuer may be subject to 
significant direct and indirect interaction with public officials. There can be no assurance that this 
heightened scrutiny will not in turn lead to the imposition of certain restrictions on the Issuer's 
ability to invest in the United States or any other jurisdiction. 

It had been reported in Canada that the Canadian Depository for Securities Limited is considering 
a policy shift that would see its subsidiary, CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. ("CDS"), 
refuse to settle trades for cannabis issuers that have investments in the United States. CDS is 
Canada's central securities depository, clearing and settling trades in the Canadian equity, fixed 
income and money markets. The TMX Group, the owner and operator of CDS, subsequently 
issued a statement on August 17, 2017 reaffirming that there is no CDS ban on the clearing of 
securities of issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United States, despite media reports to 
the contrary and that the TMX Group was working with regulators to arrive at a solution that will 
clarify this matter, which would be communicated at a later time. 

On February 8, 2018, following discussions with the Canadian Securities Administrators and 
recognized Canadian securities exchanges, the TMX Group announced the signing of a 
Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") with Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., the CSE, the Toronto 
Stock Exchange, and the TSXV. The MOU outlines the parties' understanding of Canada's 
regulatory framework applicable to the rules, procedures, and regulatory oversight of the 
exchanges and CDS as it relates to issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United States. 
The MOU confirms, with respect to the clearing of listed securities, that CDS relies on the 
exchanges to review the conduct of listed issuers. As a result, there is no CDS ban on the clearing 
of securities of issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United States. However, there can 
be no guarantee that this approach to regulation will continue in the future. If such a ban were to 
be implemented at a time when the Common Shares are listed on a stock exchange, it would 
have a material adverse effect on the ability of holders of Common Shares to make and settle 
trades. In particular, the Common Shares would become highly illiquid until an alternative was 
implemented as investors would have no ability to effect a trade of the Common Shares through 
the facilities of the applicable stock exchange. 

Material Agreement 

The Issuer has subcontracted out its research and development to the University, Miller School 
of Medicine in Miami, Florida. The University, through its "UConcussion Program", conducts and 
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coordinates the Issuer's research and development, including pre-clinical and clinical trials, for 
the Issuer's Combination Therapy. Should the University ever elect to terminate the R&D 
Agreement, the Issuer will be forced to seek to collaborative relationships with other suitable, 
medical research institutions elsewhere around the world to further the Issuer's research and 
development objectives.  

Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Regulations 

Under United States federal law it may potentially be a violation of federal money laundering 
statutes for financial institutions to take and/or transmit any proceeds from cannabis sales or any 
other Schedule 1 substances to and/or from the United States. There is also hesitancy on the part 
of Canadian banks to deal with companies engaged in cannabis-related activities because of the 
uncertain legal and regulatory framework in the industry. Banks and other financial institutions 
could potentially be prosecuted and convicted of money laundering for providing services to 
companies with cannabis-related activities. Scythian is subject to a variety of laws and regulations 
that involved money laundering, financial record-keeping and proceeds of crime, including the 
Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970, as amended by Title III of the Uniting 
and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct 
Terrorism Act of 2001 (the USA PATRIOT Act), the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and 
Terrorist Financing Act (Canada), as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder, the 
Criminal Code (Canada) and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines, issued, 
administered or enforced by governmental authorities in the United States and Canada. 

In February 2014, the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network ("FCEN") of the United States 
Treasury Department issued a memorandum stating that in some circumstances, it is permissible 
for banks to provide services to cannabis-related businesses without risking prosecution for 
violation of federal money laundering laws. It is unclear at this time whether the current 
administration will follow the guidelines of the FCEN memorandum. Presently, the FCEN 
guidance is under review at the Department of Treasury. 

Regulatory Scrutiny of the Issuer's Activities in the United States 

The Issuer's existing cannabis-related activities in the United States, and any future operations or 
investments, may become the subject of heightened scrutiny by regulators, stock exchanges and 
other authorities in Canada. As a result, the Issuer may be subject to significant direct and indirect 
interaction with public officials. There can be no assurance that this heightened scrutiny will not 
in turn lead to the imposition of certain restrictions on the Issuer's ability to invest in the United 
States or any other jurisdiction. 

Expansion into Foreign Jurisdictions 

Due to the Issuer's proposed business expansion into new foreign jurisdictions, the Issuer may 
face new or unexpected risks or significantly increased exposure to one or more existing risk 
factors, including economic and political instability, civil and social unrest, changes in laws and 
regulations, and the effects of competition. These factors may limit the Issuer's ability to 
successfully expand its operations into such jurisdictions and may have a material adverse effect 
on the Issuer's business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Risks Associated with Acquisitions  

In addition to the proposed acquisitions of MMJ Argentina, Marigold, MMJ Colombia, BrazilCo 
and CannCure, the Issuer expects to continue seeking and evaluating other strategic acquisitions. 
The Issuer's ability to consummate and to integrate effectively any future acquisitions on terms 
that are favourable to it may be limited by the number of suitable acquisition targets, internal 
demands on the Issuer's resources and, to the extent necessary, the Issuer's ability to obtain 
financing on satisfactory terms, if at all. Acquisitions may expose the Issuer to additional risks 
including difficulties in integrating administrative, financial reporting, operational and information 
systems and managing newly acquired operations and improving their operating efficiency. In 
addition, future acquisitions could result in the incurrence of additional debt, costs, and contingent 
liabilities to the Issuer. The Issuer may also incur costs for and divert management attention to 
potential acquisitions that are never consummated. For acquisitions that are consummated, 
expected synergies may not materialize. The Issuer's failure to effectively address any of these 
issues could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's business, financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flows in the future.  

Foreign Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption  

If the Issuer's proposed international acquisitions are completed, it will result in the Issuer and 
certain of its subsidiaries and affiliated entities conducting business in countries where there is an 
elevated risk of government corruption. The Issuer is committed to doing business in accordance 
with all applicable foreign anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, but there is a risk that it, its 
subsidiaries or affiliated entities or their respective officers, directors, employees or agents may 
act in violation of such laws, including the Canadian Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act of 
1999, the UK Bribery Act 2010, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (1977) and the OECD 
Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business 
Transactions. Any such violations could result in substantial civil and criminal penalties and might 
materially adversely affect the Issuer's business and results of operations or financial condition. 

Regulatory Risks 

The activities of the Issuer are subject to regulation by governmental authorities, particularly in 
the United States and other jurisdictions where Scythian intends to test and, if approved, market 
its product candidates. Achievement of Scythian's business objectives is contingent, in part, upon 
compliance with regulatory requirements enacted by governmental authorities and obtaining all 
regulatory approvals, where necessary, for the sale of its products. The Issuer cannot predict the 
outcome of the FDA, European Medicines Agency or Health Canada's regulatory approval 
process. Similarly, the Issuer cannot predict the time required to secure all appropriate regulatory 
approvals for its products, or the extent of testing and documentation that may be required by 
governmental authorities. Any delays in obtaining, or failure to obtain regulatory approvals may 
significantly delay or impact the development of markets, products and sales initiatives and could 
have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of 
the Issuer. 

Current products under development contain controlled substances as defined in the CSA. As the 
product candidates contain a controlled substance, they may be subject to a high degree of 
regulation and/or the possibility that the product might not be approved for use. 

Scythian will incur ongoing costs and obligations related to regulatory compliance. Failure to 
comply with regulations may result in additional costs for corrective measures, penalties or 
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restrictions of Scythian's operations. In addition, changes in regulations, more vigorous 
enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive changes to Scythian's 
operations, increased compliance costs or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a 
material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Issuer. 

Reliance on Regulatory Approval 

The Issuer's ability to successfully produce the product candidates is dependent on extensive 
ongoing regulatory compliance and reporting requirements by the DEA, FDA, European 
Medicines Agency, Health Canada and other foreign regulatory authorities ("Reporting 
Requirements"). Failure to comply with the requirements and terms of the Reporting 
Requirements could have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and 
operating results of the Issuer. There is no assurance that continuous regulatory approval will be 
given for the product candidates. Should regulatory approval not be continued, the business, 
financial condition and operating results of the Issuer would be materially adversely affected. 

Even if Scythian receives regulatory approval for its product candidates, this approval may carry 
conditions that limit the market for the products or put the products at a competitive disadvantage 
relative to alternative therapies. For instance, regulatory approval may limit the indicated uses for 
which Scythian can market a product or the patient population that may utilize the product, or may 
be required to carry a warning on its packaging. Once a product candidate is approved, Scythian 
remains subject to continuing regulatory obligations, such as safety reporting requirements and 
additional post-marketing obligations, including regulatory oversight of promotion and marketing. 

Reliance on Pre-clinical Testing and Clinical Trials 

Prior to obtaining regulatory approval for the sale of the product candidates, the Issuer must 
conduct pre-clinical testing and clinical trials. The results of the pre-clinical testing and clinical 
trials are uncertain and a product candidate may fail at any stage of clinical development. The 
historic failure rate for product candidates is high due to scientific feasibility, safety, efficacy, 
changing standards of medical care and other variables. 

If Scythian does not successfully complete pre-clinical and clinical development, it will be unable 
to market and sell products derived from its product candidates and generate revenues. Even if 
clinical trials are successfully completed, those results are not necessarily predictive of results of 
additional trials that may be needed before a new drug application may be submitted to the FDA. 

The testing process may take several years and may include post-marketing studies and 
surveillance, which would require the expenditure of substantial resources. The Issuer cannot 
assure that pre-clinical or clinical trials will begin or be completed on schedule, as the 
commencement and completion of clinical trials can be delayed for various reasons. A clinical trial 
may be suspended or terminated by the Issuer, the FDA, the Institutional Review Board, ethics 
committees, data safety monitoring boards or other foreign or United States regulatory authorities 
overseeing the clinical trial at issue due to a number of factors, including, among others: failure 
to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements; inspection of clinical trial 
sites by regulatory authorities which requires corrective action by the Issuer, including the 
imposition of a clinical hold; unforeseen safety issues; adverse side effects or lack of effectiveness 
of the product candidates; or changes in government regulations or administrative actions. 

Pre-clinical or clinical trials may also be delayed, suspended or terminated due to a lack of 
effectiveness of product candidates during clinical studies; adverse events, safety issues or side 
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effects relating to the product candidates or their formulation; inability to raise additional capital in 
sufficient amounts to continue clinical trials or development programs; the need to sequence 
clinical studies as opposed to conducting them concomitantly in order to conserve resources; 
Scythian's inability to enter into collaborations relating to the development and commercialization 
of product candidates; failure by Scythian or its collaborators to conduct clinical trials in 
accordance with regulatory requirements; Scythian's inability, or the inability of its collaborators, 
to manufacture or obtain from third parties materials sufficient for use in pre-clinical and clinical 
studies; governmental or regulatory delays and changes in regulatory requirements, policy and 
guidelines, including mandated changes in the scope or design of clinical trials or requests for 
supplemental information with respect to clinical trial results; failure of Scythian's collaborators to 
advance its product candidates through clinical development; delays in patient enrolment, 
variability in the number and types of patients available for clinical studies, and lower-than 
anticipated retention rates for patients in clinical trials; difficulty in patient monitoring and data 
collection due to failure of patients to maintain contact after treatment; a regional disturbance 
where Scythian or its collaborative partners are enrolling patients in Scythian's clinical trials, such 
as a pandemic, terrorist activities or war, or a natural disaster; or varying interpretations of data 
by the FDA and similar foreign regulatory agencies. 

There is also the risk of a delay in the project due to the unavailability of the pharmaceutical 
components of the drug regimen or the willingness or availability of test subjects. The components 
of the drug regimen are experimental drugs which have limited manufacturers. These drug 
components may be or become unavailable. The drugs are also derivatives of cannabis and are 
subject to strict regulatory controls which could also impact or interfere with the Issuer's ability to 
obtain a supply of the drugs for its testing program. 

Reliance on Third Parties for Pre-clinical and Clinical Trials 

The Issuer relies on contract research organizations, particularly the University, clinical data 
management organizations and consultants to design, conduct, supervise and monitor pre-clinical 
studies due to a lack of internal resources to perform these functions. Outsourcing these functions 
involves the risk that third party providers may not perform to the Issuer's standards, may not 
produce results in a timely manner or may fail to perform at all. If any contract research 
organization fails to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, the data generated in the 
clinical trial may be deemed unreliable to regulatory authorities. Additional clinical trials may be 
required before approval of marketing applications will be given. The Issuer cannot provide 
assurance that all third party providers will meet the regulatory requirements for clinical trials. 
Failure of third party providers to meet regulatory requirements could result in the termination or 
repetition of pre-clinical and clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process. 
Reliance on third party providers could result in a material adverse effect on the Issuer's costs 
and results of operations. 

Vulnerability of Results of Planned Clinical Trials 

The results of the Issuer's pre-clinical testing may not necessarily be predictive of the results from 
the planned additional clinical trials in humans. The Issuer may encounter significant setbacks in 
clinical trials after achieving positive results in pre-clinical and early clinical development. 
Significant setbacks can be caused by, among other things, pre-clinical findings made while 
clinical trials are underway or safety, or efficacy observations made during clinical trials, including 
adverse events. Pre-clinical and clinical data is susceptible to varying interpretations and 
analyses. There is the potential that product candidates that performed satisfactorily in pre-clinical 
studies and clinical trials fail to obtain FDA and European Medicines Agency approval. Failure to 
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produce positive results in clinical trials of the product candidates could result in a material 
adverse effect to the development timeline, regulatory approval, commercialization prospects and 
business and financial prospects of the Issuer. 

Risk of Product Failure 

The Issuer will focus its financial and managerial resources on research programs relating to the 
use of the cannabinoid Combination Therapy for the prevention and treatment of concussions 
and traumatic brain injuries. There is a risk of product failure if the Combination Therapy proves 
to be unsafe, ineffective or inadequate for clinical development or commercialization. The 
Combination Therapy may also fail to exceed the efficacy of the individual component therapies 
applied separately. The Issuer may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product 
candidates that could prove to have commercial potential. The resource allocation decisions of 
the Issuer could result in failure to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market 
opportunities. 

If product development is successful and regulatory approval is obtained, the Issuer's ability to 
generate revenue will depend on the acceptance of the product candidates by physicians and 
patients. Factors which affect market acceptance include the indication statement and warnings 
approved by regulatory authorities on the product label, continued demonstration of efficacy and 
safety in commercial use, physicians' willingness to prescribe the product candidates, 
reimbursement from third-party payors such as government healthcare systems and insurance 
companies, the price of the product, the nature of any post-approval risk management plans 
mandated by regulatory authorities, competition, and marketing and distribution support. Factors 
preventing market acceptance of the product candidates could have a material adverse effect on 
the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Issuer. 

The Issuer's ability to generate revenue is based on its ability to market the product candidates in 
multiple jurisdictions where the Issuer has limited experience. This risk could have a material 
adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Issuer. 

Product Liability 

If the Issuer obtains regulatory approval for its product candidates, as a manufacturer and 
distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, the Issuer risks exposure to product 
liability claims, regulatory actions and litigation if its products are alleged to have caused 
significant loss or injury. In addition, the manufacture and sale of cannabis products involve the 
risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product 
contamination. Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of 
cannabis products alone or in combination with other medications or substances could occur. The 
Issuer may be subject to various product liability claims, including, among others, that the Issuer's 
products caused injury or illness, include inadequate instructions for use or include inadequate 
warnings concerning possible side effects or interactions with other substances. A product liability 
claim or regulatory action against the Issuer could result in increased costs, adversely affect the 
Issuer's reputation with its clients and consumers generally, and have a material adverse effect 
on the Issuer's results of operations and financial condition. There can be no assurances that the 
Issuer will be able to obtain or maintain product liability insurance on acceptable terms or with 
adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and may not be 
available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain sufficient insurance 
coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims 
could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of products. 
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Reliance on Third Parties 

The ability of the Issuer to compete and grow will be dependent on it having access, at a 
reasonable cost and in a timely manner, to skilled labour, equipment, parts and CBD components. 
No assurances can be given that the Issuer will be successful in maintaining its required supply 
of skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. 

The Issuer relies on third parties to supply the materials and complete research and development 
for the product candidates. The Issuer cannot provide assurance that the supply of research and 
development, pre-clinical and clinical development drugs and other materials will not be limited, 
interrupted, restricted in certain geographic regions, be of satisfactory quality or be delivered in a 
timely manner. For the purposes of conducting clinical human trials, the constituent products of 
the Combination Therapy must be produced by a Good Manufacturing Practices ("GMP") 
manufacturer. If the Issuer is unable to obtain constituent parts of the Combination Therapy 
produced by a GMP manufacturer, the Issuer may be prevented from conducting or completing 
clinical trials, which would have a material adverse effect on the business, operations and financial 
condition of the Issuer. 

Manufacturers of therapeutic products and their facilities are subject to review and periodic 
inspections by the FDA, the European Medicines Agency and other comparable regulatory 
authorities for compliance with regulations. Manufacturers of controlled substances must obtain 
and maintain necessary DEA and state registrations and registrations with applicable foreign 
regulatory authorities. Manufacturers of controlled substances must establish and maintain 
processes to ensure compliance with DEA and state registrations and requirements of applicable 
foreign regulatory authorities governing the storage, handling, security, record keeping and 
reporting for controlled substances. If there are issues with the facility where the product is 
manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product, the manufacturing 
facility or the Issuer, including requiring a recall or withdrawal of the product from the market or 
the suspension of manufacturing. The occurrence of problems with a manufacturing facility may 
inhibit the Issuer's ability to commercialize the product candidates and may otherwise have a 
material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Competition 

The Issuer may face intense competition from other companies, some of which can be expected 
to have longer operating histories, more financial resources and manufacturing and marketing 
experience than the Issuer. Increased competition from larger and better-financed competitors 
could materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of 
the Issuer. 

Public companies are currently working in the cannabis therapeutic industry. These companies, 
and other types of drugs for the treatment of traumatic brain injuries, may have an advantage in 
marketing approved products and may obtain regulatory approval of product candidates before 
the Issuer. Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may 
result in more concentrated resources among a smaller number of competitors. To remain 
competitive, the Issuer will require a continued level of investment in research and development, 
marketing, sales and client support. The Issuer may not have sufficient resources to maintain 
research and development, marketing, sales and client support efforts on a competitive basis, 
which could materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of 
operations of the Issuer. 
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Reliance on Key Personnel 

The Issuer's success is dependent upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion and good faith 
of its senior management. While employment agreements are customarily used as a primary 
method of retaining the services of key employees, these agreements cannot assure the 
continued services of such employees. Any loss of the services of such individuals, or an inability 
to attract, retain and motivate sufficient numbers of qualified senior management could have a 
material adverse effect on Scythian's business, operating results or financial condition. 

Management of Growth 

The Issuer may be subject to growth-related risks including capacity constraints and pressure on 
its internal systems and controls. Scythian's ability to manage growth effectively will require it to 
continue to implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train and 
manage its employee base. The inability of the Issuer to manage growth may have a material 
adverse effect on the Issuer's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Reliance on Computer Systems 

The Issuer's information technology and internal infrastructure is susceptible to damage from 
computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication 
and electrical failures. Significant disruption to the availability of information technology and 
internal infrastructure could cause delays in research and development work. The Issuer could 
incur liability and the development of product candidates would be delayed if any disruption or 
security breach were to result in loss of, or damage to, the Issuer's data. 

Transportation Risks 

The Issuer's shipment, import and export of the product candidates and the active pharmaceutical 
ingredients used to manufacture the Combination Therapy requires import and export licenses. 
The import and export process requires the issuance of import and export licenses by the relevant 
controlled substance authority in both the importing and exporting country. The granting and 
maintenance of these licenses is uncertain. Any failure to obtain or maintain an import or export 
license would have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations or financial 
condition of the Issuer. 

In the event licenses are granted, the Issuer may depend on fast and efficient courier services to 
distribute its product. Specific restrictions might be placed on distribution methods and logistics 
due to the regulated nature of cannabis-based products. Any prolonged disruption of courier 
service may result in the products being stored outside required temperature ranges. 
Inappropriate storage may damage the product shipment resulting in delays in clinical trials or, 
upon commercialization, a partial or total loss of revenue from one or more shipments of active 
pharmaceutical ingredients or the product candidates. A delay in a clinical trial or, upon 
commercialization, a partial or total loss of revenue from delays in shipment could have a material 
adverse effect on the business, results of operations or financial condition of the Issuer. Rising 
costs associated with courier services used by the Issuer to ship its products may also adversely 
impact the business of the Issuer and its ability to operate profitably. 

The Issuer's success may also be impacted by interstate trade barriers to the transportation and 
marketing of Cannabinoid products. If the Issuer is unsuccessful in obtaining authorization to 
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transport or market the product candidates across interstate lines it will materially adversely affect 
the Issuer' business and operations. 

Operating Risk 

If the product candidates are approved by regulatory bodies, the Issuer will need to acquire sales, 
marketing and distribution capabilities to commercialize the product candidates. This process is 
expensive and time-consuming. If the Issuer is not successful in commercializing any product 
candidate approved, either through internal processes or through third parties, the business, 
financial condition and results of operations of the Issuer could be materially adversely affected. 

Employee Regulations 

The Issuer is exposed to the risk of employee fraud and other misconduct. Employee fraud 
includes intentional failure to comply with regulations, intentional failure to provide accurate 
information to regulatory authorities and intentional failure to comply with manufacturing 
standards. Other misconduct includes failure to report financial information accurately, failure to 
disclosure unauthorized activities to the Issuer, and the improper use of information obtained in 
the course of clinical trials. Employee misconduct resulting in legal action, significant fines or other 
sanctions could result in a material adverse effect to the Issuer's business, results of operations 
or financial condition. 

Litigation 

The Issuer may become party to litigation in the ordinary course of business which could adversely 
affect its business. Should any litigation in which the Issuer becomes involved be determined 
against the Issuer, such a decision could adversely affect the Issuer's ability to continue operating, 
the market price for the Issuer's Common Shares and could use significant Issuer resources. 
Even if the Issuer is successful in litigation, litigation can significantly redirect the Issuer's 
resources. Litigation may also negatively affect the Issuer's brand. 

Intellectual Property 

The success of the Issuer's business depends in part on its ability to protect its ideas and 
technology. The Issuer's commercial success will depend on its ability to obtain and maintain 
patent and other intellectual property protection for proprietary technology and products in all 
jurisdictions it operates. The ability to obtain and maintain patent and other intellectual property 
protection is uncertain. Although a patent application has been submitted in connection with the 
drug formulation of the Issuer's Combination Therapy products, there is no guarantee that such 
application will be granted or that a determination will not be made that the product infringes on 
another patent that has already been issued. 

Even if the Issuer moves to obtain trademarks, patents, copyrights or other intellectual property 
protection, the Issuer is not assured that competitors will not develop similar technology, products, 
business methods or that the Issuer will be able to exercise its legal rights. Other countries may 
not protect intellectual property rights to the same standards as does Canada. Actions taken to 
protect or preserve intellectual property rights may require significant financial and other 
resources such that said actions meaningfully impact the Issuer's ability to successfully grow its 
business. 
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Volatile Market Price of the Common Shares 

The market price for securities of biopharmaceutical companies, including the Issuer's, have 
historically been volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, many of 
which are beyond the Issuer's control, which may affect the ability of the Issuer's shareholders to 
sell their securities at an advantageous price. The Issuer's failure to meet expectations, downward 
revision in securities analysts' estimates, adverse changes in general market conditions or 
economic trends, acquisitions, dispositions, industry related developments, results of product 
development or commercialization, changes in government regulations or other material public 
announcements by Scythian or its competitors, along with a variety of additional factors may affect 
market fluctuations. The market price of the common shares may decline even if the Issuer's 
operating results, underlying asset values or prospects have not changed. There can be no 
assurance that continuing fluctuations in price and volume will not occur. 

Exchange Rate due to U.S. trading  

The Common Shares trade in U.S. Dollars on the OTCQB Marketplace in the United States and 
in Canadian Dollars on the TSXV. Fluctuations in the exchange rate between U.S. Dollars and 
Canadian Dollars may affect the value of the Issuer's Common Shares. Specifically, as the value 
of the U.S. Dollar relative to the Canadian Dollar declines, each of the following values will also 
decline (and vice versa): (a) the Canadian Dollar equivalent of the U.S. Dollar trading price of the 
Common Shares on the OTCQB Marketplace, which may consequently cause the trading price 
of the Common Shares on the TSXV to also decline; and (b) the Canadian Dollar equivalent of 
cash dividends paid in U.S. Dollars on the Common Shares if investors holding Common Shares 
on the TSXV request dividends to be paid in Canadian Dollars.  

Dividends 

Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of the 
Issuer's Board of Directors and will depend on financial results, cash requirements, contractual 
restrictions and other factors that the Board of Directors may deem relevant. As a result, investors 
may not receive any return on an investment in the Common Shares unless they sell their shares 
of the Issuer for a price greater than that which such investors paid for them. The Issuer has no 
earnings or dividend record and may not pay any dividends on its Common Shares in the 
foreseeable future. Dividends paid by the Issuer could be subject to tax and, potentially, 
withholdings. 

18. PROMOTERS 

18.1 Promoters 

Jonathan Gilbert, a former director of the Issuer, is a former promoter because he took the 
initiative in founding and organizing the business of the Issuer. Mr. Gilbert is a resident of the 
State of New York, United States of America. To the knowledge of the issuer, Mr. Gilbert currently 
holds 375,000 Common Shares, representing 1.3% of the current issued and outstanding 
Common Shares of the Issuer on a non-diluted basis. In addition, Mr. Gilbert currently holds 
235,000 options and 290,000 DSUs, which, if all such options and DSUs were to be exercised for 
Common Shares, then Mr. Gilbert would hold approximately 3.0% of the current issued and 
outstanding Common Shares on a partially diluted basis.  
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There is nothing of value, including money, property, contracts, options or rights of any kind 
received or to be received, or to be received, by the promotor directly or indirectly from the Issuer 
or from a subsidiary of the Issuer, nor any assets, services or other consideration received or to 
be received by the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer in return. 

No asset has been acquired, within the two years before the date of this Listing Agreement, or is 
to be acquired by the Issuer or by a subsidiary of the Issuer, from a promoter. 

18.2 Orders, Bankruptcies and Sanctions 

(a) To the knowledge of the Issuer, no promoter referred to in Section 18.1 is, as at 
the date hereof, or was within 10 years before the date hereof, a director, chief 
executive officer, or chief financial officer of any person or Issuer that: 

(i) was subject to an order that was issued while the promoter was acting in 
the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or 

(ii) was subject to an order that was issued after the promoter ceased to be a 
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted 
from an event that occurred while the promoter was acting in the capacity 
as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer. 

(b) For the purposes of Section 18.2 (1), "order" means: 

(i) a cease trade order; 

(ii) an order similar to a cease trade order; or 

(iii) an order that denied the relevant person or Issuer access to any exemption 
under securities legislation that was in effect for a period of more than 30 
consecutive days. 

(c) To the knowledge of the Issuer, no promoter referred to in Section 18.1: 

(i) is, as at the date hereof, or has been within the 10 years before the date 
hereof, a director or executive officer of any person or Issuer that, while the 
promoter was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing 
to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any 
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or 
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or 
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or  

(ii) has, within the 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or 
become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold the assets of the promoter. 
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(d) To the knowledge of the Issuer, no promoter referred to in Section 18.1 has been 
subject to: 

(i) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial and 
territorial securities legislation or by a provincial and territorial securities 
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a 
provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority; or 

(ii) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that 
would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor in 
making an investment decision. 

19. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

19.1 Legal Proceedings 

The Issuer is not a party to any legal proceedings and is not aware of any such proceedings being 
contemplated. 

19.2 Regulatory Actions 

Not applicable. 

20. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

20.1 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 

No director or executive officer of the Issuer or any person or Issuer that is the director or indirect 
beneficial owners of, or who exercises control or direction over, more than 10 percent of any class 
of the Issuer's outstanding voting securities, or an associate or affiliate of any persons or 
companies referred to in this paragraph, has any material interest, direct or indirect, in any 
transaction within the three years before the date of this Listing Statement, or in any proposed 
transaction, that has materially affected or will materially affect the Issuer or a subsidiary of the 
Issuer. 

21. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS 

MNP LLP is the independent auditor of the Issuer and is independent within the meaning of the 
Rules of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario. The offices 
of MNP LLP are located at 111 Richmond St W #300, Toronto, ON M5H 2G4. 

The registrar and transfer agent for the Common Shares is TSX Trust Company at its offices in 
Toronto, Ontario. 
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22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

The following are the material contracts entered into by the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer 
within the two years prior to the date hereof: 

Material Contract Details Date 

R&D Agreement See Section 4 – Narrative Description of the Business – 
Principal Products and Services – Combination Therapy. 

July 25, 2016, as 
amended February 
10, 2017 and 
further amended 
October 6, 2017 

 

RTO Business 
Combination 
Agreement 

 

See Section 3.1 – General Development of the Business – 
General Business of the Issuer – The RTO Transaction. 

June 6, 2017 

Underwriting 
Agreement 

The underwriting agreement between the Issuer, Clarus 
Securities Inc., Haywood Securities Inc. and INFOR 
Financial Inc. whereby Clarus, Haywood and INFOR 
agreed to act as underwriters pursuant to the Prospectus 
Offering. See Section 3.1 – General Development of the 
Business – General Business of the Issuer – Events 
Following the RTO Transaction. 

 

January 23, 2018 

Warrant Indenture The warrant indenture between the Issuer and TSX Trust 
Company, as the warrant agent, for the issue of warrants 
under the February 2018 Offerings. See Section 3.1 – 
General Development of the Business – General Business 
of the Issuer – Events Following the RTO Transaction. 

 

February 13, 2018 

Letter of Intent to 
Acquire Marigold 

The binding letter of intent between the Issuer, Marigold 
and the shareholders of Marigold providing for the Issuer's 
acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding common 
shares of Marigold. See Section 4 – Narrative Description 
of the Business – General – Proposed Acquisition and Sale 
of South American and Caribbean Assets to Aphria – 
Jamaica.  

 

March 20, 2018, as 
amended July 11, 
2018 

Letter of Intent to 
Acquire MMJ 
Colombia 

The binding letter of intent between the Issuer, MMJ 
Colombia and the shareholder of MMJ Colombia providing 
for the Issuer's acquisition of all of the issued and 
outstanding common shares of MMJ Colombia. See 
Section 4 – Narrative Description of the Business – General 
– Proposed Acquisition and Sale of South American and 
Caribbean Assets to Aphria – Colombia. 

 

April 8, 2018, as 
amended July 31, 
2018 

Business Combination 
Agreement 

The business combination agreement between the Issuer, 
MMJ Argentina and LATAM Holdings Inc. (formerly 
1162269 B.C. Ltd.) relating to the acquisition of MMJ 
Argentina by way of a three-cornered amalgamation 
between MMJ Argentina and and LATAM Holdings Inc.  

May 11, 2018 
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Material Contract Details Date 

  

Letter of Intent to 
Acquire BrazilCo 

The binding letter of intent between the Issuer and BrazilCo 
providing for the Issuer's acquisition of 15% of the issued 
and outstanding common shares of BrazilCo. See Section 
4 – Narrative Description of the Business – General – 
Proposed Acquisition and Sale of South American and 
Caribbean Assets to Aphria – Brazil. 

 

July 22, 2018 

Letter of Intent to 
Acquire CannCure 

The binding letter of intent between the Issuer, CannCure 
and the shareholders of CannCure providing for the Issuer's 
acquisition of 70% of the issued and outstanding common 
shares of CannCure. See Section 4 – Narrative Description 
of the Business – General – Florida Expansion. 

July 25, 2018 

23. INTEREST OF EXPERTS 

No person or Issuer named in this document as having prepared or certified a part of the 
document or a report described in this document holds any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, 
in any securities or property of the Issuer or of an associate or affiliate of the Issuer. 

24. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

There are no other material facts that are not elsewhere disclosed herein and which are necessary 
in order for this document to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to 
the Issuer. 

25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

25.1 Financial Statements of Issuer 

The following financial statements are available under the Issuer's profile on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com, and are attached as Appendices to this Listing Statement: 

(a) audited annual consolidated financial statements of the Issuer including the 
auditor's report for the financial years ended March 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 
(Appendix C); and 

(b) Audited annual financial statements of the Issuer including the auditor's report for 
the financial years ended December 2016 and December 2015 (Appendix D). 



 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, SCYTHIAN BIOSCIENCES CORP., 
hereby applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the Exchange.  The foregoing 
contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to SCYTHIAN BIOSCIENCES 
CORP.  It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that 
is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or 
misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto, Ontario this 13th day of August, 2018. 

SCYTHIAN BIOSCIENCES CORP.  

                      “Robert Reid”                                                                                “Jonathan Held” 

Robert Reid 
Chief Executive Officer 

 Jonathan Held 
Chief Financial Officer 

                     “Brady Cobb”  “Roger Rai” 

Brady Cobb  
Director  

 Roger Rai  
Director 
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SCYTHIAN BIOSCIENCES CORP. 
(Formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.) 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 

 

Introduction 

The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) is a review of operations, current financial 

position and outlook for Scythian Biosciences Corp. (the "Company" or “Scythian”) for the years ended 

March 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, including other pertinent events subsequent to that date up to and 

including July 27, 2018.  The following information should be read in conjunction with the audited 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. Amounts are 

reported in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. 

 

The common shares of the Company are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol “SCYB”, 

the OTC - Nasdaq Intl under the symbol “SCCYF”, and on the Frankfurt Exchange under the symbol “9SB”. 

 

This MD&A provides managements view of the financial condition of the Company and the results of its 

operations for the reporting periods indicated.  Additional information related to Scythian is available as 

filed on the Canadian Securities Administrators’ website at www.sedar.com. 

 

Forward-Looking Statements 

This MD&A contains forward-looking information and statements (“forward-looking statements”) which 

reflects the current expectations of the management of Scythian, as applicable, regarding Scythian’s 

future growth, results of operations, performance and business prospects and opportunities. Wherever 

possible, words such as “may”, “would”, “could”, “will”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “plan”, “expect”, 

“intend”, “estimate” and similar expressions have been used to identify these forward-looking 

statements. These statements reflect management’s current beliefs with respect to future events and are 

based on information currently available to management. Forward-looking statements involve significant 

risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Many factors could cause the actual results, performance or 

achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements that may 

be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, those listed in 

the “Risk Factors” section of this MD&A. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, 
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or should assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements prove incorrect, actual results, 

performance or achievements may vary materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-

looking statements contained in this MD&A. These factors should be considered carefully and readers 

should not place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements. Although the forward-looking 

statements contained in this MD&A are based upon what management currently believes to be 

reasonable assumptions, Scythian cannot assure that actual results, performance or achievements will be 

consistent with these forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements contained in this 

MD&A have been based on expectations, factors and assumptions concerning future events which may 

prove to be inaccurate and are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, certain of which are beyond 

Scythian’s control, including without limitation: performance of the Company’s business and operations; 

intention to grow the business and the operations of the Company; competitive conditions of the 

biopharmaceutical and marijuana industry; uncertainties of the results of trials conducted on animals; 

uncertainties of the results of human trials based on the results of research conducted on animals; 

uncertainties of developing products for human use; uncertainties of receiving approval by appropriate 

governing agencies for marketing; uncertainties related to the grant, renewal and impact of any license 

to conduct activities with marijuana; uncertainties for approval to market and manufacture the developed 

products; volatility in the demand for products; competition for, among other things, market share; 

pricing competition for products; inability to secure licensing under the Access to Cannabis for Medical 

Purposes Regulations (the “ACMPR”); changes in laws, regulations and guidelines relating to Scythian’s 

business; any commentary related to the legalization of marijuana and the timing related thereto; 

liabilities inherent in marijuana development operations; the growth of the Cannabinoid therapeutic 

market; uncertainties associated with protection and commercialization of intellectual property; financing 

risks; global economic events or conditions; fluctuations in foreign exchange or interest rates; and other 

factors, many of which are beyond the control of Scythian. Scythian assumes no responsibility to update 

forward looking statements, other than as may be required by applicable securities laws. The factors 

identified above are not intended to represent a complete list of the factors that could affect Scythian.  

 

Business Overview 

 

Scythian is an international cannabis company with a focus on the world’s leading markets outside of 

Canada. Its fast tracked growth has come through a number of strategic investments and regional 

partnerships in cultivation, distribution and branded products across Europe, United States, South 

America and the Caribbean. These significant endeavors complement the company’s R&D partnerships 

with some of the world’s leading universities. It is this comprehensive approach that is positioning 

Scythian as a future global frontrunner in the medical cannabis industry.  On June 5, 2018, the Company 

announced that it would change its name to SOL Global Investments Corp., to better portray its go-

forward business plan.  The change in name will be included at the next meeting of shareholders. 

 

Acquisitions 

 

On March 11, 2018, the Company signed a non-binding letter of intent to acquire 100% of MMJ 

International Inc. (“MMJII”) in exchange for 6,176,320 common shares of the Company.  MMJII owns 100% 

of ABP S.A., an Argentina based pharmaceutical import and distribution company.  On May 11, 2018, the 

Company signed a business combination agreement.  The closing of the acquisition remains subject to 

TSXV approval and other closing conditions. 
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On March 21, 2018, the Company signed a binding letter of intent to acquire a 100% interest in Marigold 

Acquisitions Inc. (“MAI”) in exchange for 6,000,000 common shares of the Company.  MAI owns through 

a holding company, a 49% interest in Marigold Projects Jamaica Ltd. (“Marigold”), a Jamaican company 

with conditional licenses to cultivate, process, sell and provide therapeutic or spa services utilizing 

cannabis products.  The closing of the acquisition remains subject to the signing of a final business 

combination agreement as well as TSXV approval and other closing conditions. 

 

On April 9, 2018, the Company signed a binding letter of intent to acquire 100% of MMJ Colombia Partners 

Inc. (“MMJ Colombia”).  MMJ Colombia owns the right to acquire 90% of Colcanna SAS (“Colcanna”), a 

company that has applied for licenses to cultivate, produce, research and export medical cannabis CBD 

and THC in Colombia.  The Company has agreed to acquire MMJ Colombia for: 

 

• Advancing US$1,200,000 of the purchase price in cash upon receipt by Colcanna of the final 

cannabis licenses;  

• issue on the closing date CDN$32,000,000 of common shares in the capital of Scythian (the “Common 

Shares”) at an issue price equal to the volume weighted average price of the Common Shares over 

the 20 trading days prior to the closing date of the Acquisition, provided that no less than 1,570,000 

Common Shares will be issued as share consideration; 

• issue on the closing date US$5,000,000 of non-interest bearing, unsecured promissory notes for the 

following principal amounts due on the following dates: 

o US$2,000,000, due on June 30, 2018; 

o US$2,000,000, due on September 30, 2018; 

o US$500,000, due on December 30, 2018; and 

o US$500,000, due on March 19, 2019. 

 

The promissory notes may be repaid by way of cash or Common Shares at the option of Scythian.   

 

The closing of the acquisition remains subject to the signing of a final business combination agreement as 

well as TSXV approval and other closing conditions. 

 

On July 20, 2018, the Company signed a binding letter of intent with Brazil Investments Inc. (“Brazil 

Investments”).  Brazil Investments owns the right to acquire a 100% interest in Green Farma Brasil.  

Under the terms of the letter of intent, the Company shall issue $2,400,000 of common shares at a 

20 day volume weighted average price immediately prior to closing date in exchange for: 

• 15% of the issued and outstanding shares of Brazil Investments; 

• drag along rights, at Scythian’s sole discretion, such that Scythian may sell up to 50.1% of the 

shares of Brazil at a pre-agreed valuation, under which all shareholders of Brazil Investments shall 

sell a pro-rata portion of their shares to fulfil the 50.1% requirement; and 

• a right of first refusal to acquire the remaining 49.9% of Brazil Investments. 

The closing of the acquisition remains subject to the signing of a final business combination agreement 

as well as TSXV approval and other closing conditions. 
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Dispositions 

 

On July 17, 2018, the Company sign a definitive share purchase agreement with Aphria, under which it 

would sell a wholly own subsidiary LATAM Holdings Inc. (“Latam”) to Aphria Inc. (“Aphria”) in exchange 

for $193,000,000 of common shares at a price of 12.31 per share for a total of 15,678,310 common shares.     

Latam was incorporated subsequent to year end.  Prior to the closing, Scythian will complete its 

acquisitions of MMJI, MAI and MMJ Colombia, all of which will become subsidiaries of Latam. Aphria will 

also assume USD$1 million in aggregate liabilities owing to Scythian from MMJI, MAI and MMJ Colombia. 

 

The substantial liquidity provided by the Transaction will enable additional potential transactions that 

underpin Scythian's strategic transformation towards enhancing its global cannabis foundation. 

 

The Company had a wholly owned subsidiary, Go Green B.C. Medicinal Marijuana Ltd. (“Go Green”), which 

was in the process of applying to Health Canada to become a Licensed Producer under the ACMPR. On 

November 29, 2017, the Company completed the sale of Go Green.  In exchange for all of the issued and 

outstanding shares of Go Green, the Company received $200,000, with $100,000 paid at closing, and an 

additional $50,000 payable on each of the 90 and 180 day anniversaries from the closing.  In addition to 

the cash payment, 108,000 common shares of the Company were also returned for cancellation.  The 

Company incurred a loss of $234,675 as a result of this disposition and was presented as discontinued 

operations on the financial statements. 
 

Corporate Developments and Highlights 
 

On February 22, 2018, the Company rang the closing bell at the Nasdaq Stock Market, to mark the 

Company’s admission into the Nasdaq International Designation under the symbol OTC – Nasdaq Intl 

Designation: SCCYF.  The Company expects to become listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market upon receipt 

of its DTC Eligibility. 

 

Financings 

 

On February 13, 2018, the Company announced that it closed its bought deal offering, including the full 

exercise of the underwriter’s over-allotment option (the “Offering”). The Company also announced the 

closing of its previously announced concurrent brokered private placement offering (the “Private 

Placement”), including the full exercise of the underwriter’s over-allotment option. The Company sold a 

total of 3,091,772 units (each, a “Unit”) of its securities at a purchase price of $4.65 per Unit for total gross 

proceeds of $14,376,740 under each of the Offering and the Private Placement, for total gross proceeds 

of $28,753,480. Each Unit consists of one common share and one common share purchase warrant 

exercisable for a period of 24 months from the closing date at an exercise price of $5.50 per Unit. As part 

of the Private Placement Financing, Aphria Inc. (TSX:APH) subscribed for 2,688,500Units of the Company. 

 

In March 2017, the Company issued subscription receipts at $8.00 per subscription receipt for gross 

proceeds of $13,285,000 pursuant to a private placement. Subsequently, the subscription receipts were 

converted into shares of common stock on a one for one basis. 

 

During ended March 2017, the Company also completed a private placement financing raising gross 

proceeds of $2,965,945 by issuing 1,482,972 common shares at $2.00. 
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Management, Board and Advisors 

 

On April 25, 2018, Rob Reid was appointed CEO of the Company and Roger Rai rejoined the board of 

directors.  Renah Persofsky and Vic Neufeld resigned from the board, while Mr. Gilbert stepped down as 

CEO, but remained on the board of directors. 

 

On March 7, 2018, at the Company’s special meeting, Renah Persofsky and Rob Reid joined the board of 

directors, and Roger Rai and Gary Leong resigned from its board of directors. 

 

On February 15, 2018, the Company appointed Professor Michael Barnes as its Chief Medical Officer. 

 

On January 15, 2018, the Company announced the appointment of Vic Neufeld, CEO of Aphria Inc. (TSX: 

APH), and George Scorsis, CEO of Liberty Health Sciences Inc. (CSE: LHS) to the board of directors. The 

Company also announced Renah Perofsky joined its advisory board and that Peter Benz and Michael 

Petter had resigned from its board of directors. 

 

On December 11, 2017, the Company announced the addition of Ottis Jerome Anderson to its Pro Athlete 

Advisory Committee. 

 

Research Update 

 

The research is in the pre-clinical studies phase, and the Company’s Combination Therapy is undergoing 

animal testing.  Under the terms of the R&D Agreement, the fees owing to the University are paid on an 

agreed schedule, which is coordinated to correspond to different phases of the project research.  

 

The work performed by Miami through December 31, 2017, includes, generally: preparation and 

finalization of research plans (for preclinical and clinical research phases of project); start Internal Review 

Board process and obtain animal study approvals; review drug regulations for State and federal licensing; 

initiate licensing application (and obtain approval) for Schedule 1 drug handling; review and understand 

Combination Therapy drug components; build project infrastructure, equipment purchases and move to 

new space; begin hiring of new staff for project; review safety issues with the study; start research review 

of previous work in the field; visit other labs and experts in Israel at Hebrew University; order compounds 

for Combination Therapy; begin training of team members; administrative set up including team 

meetings, organizational activity and budgeting; set up reporting systems; meetings with Scythian 

regarding project; analyze dosing and drug administration methodology; ran certain control animals to 

work out hearing testing after blunt head injury; receive first supply of drug product. 

 

As of June 30, 2018, the Miami team had completed their pre-clinical studies with Fluid Percussion Model 

and announced encouraging data for improvement in cognitive test in animals with the Combination 

Therapy relative to animals that were given vehicle or individual components of our Combination Therapy.  

During these experiments they did not observe any adverse effects from either the Combination Therapy 

or its individual components.  The Miami team is currently in the midst of experiments with the Blast 

model of mild traumatic brain injury with data expected during the Q3 2018. Additional pre-clinical 

experiments will be designed upon complete analyses of data from these two models. 

 

Under the R&D Agreement, the Company currently owes the University an aggregate of US$1,553,750 in 

fees for research and development activities.  
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Reverse Takeover Transaction 

 

On June 6, 2017, the Scythian Biosciences Inc. entered into a Business Combination Agreement with 

Kitrinor Metals Inc. (“Kitrinor”), a public company whose shares trade on the TSX Venture Exchange 

(“TSXV”) and 10188760 Canada Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Kitrinor incorporated for the purposes 

of the Business Combination Agreement (“Subco”), pursuant to which the Scythian Biosciences Inc. 

amalgamated with Kitrinor by way of a three-cornered amalgamation under the federal laws of Canada 

(the “Transaction”).  The Transaction constituted a reverse takeover of Kitrinor by the Scythian Biosciences 

Inc. and the business of the resulting merged entities (the “Reporting Issuer”) became the business of the 

Scythian Biosciences Inc.  The transaction was completed on August 1, 2017, and Kitrinor was renamed to 

Scythian Biosciences Corp.  On August 8, 2017, the Company started trading on the TSXV under the symbol 

SCYB. 

 

Effective August 1, 2017, and in connection with the Transaction, the Scythian Biosciences Inc. effected a 

reverse stock split on the basis of 1:80. As such, all shares of common stock issued and outstanding were 

decreased on the basis of one new share for each eighty old shares. Subsequent to period end, on April 

13, 2018, the Company effected a stock split on the basis of 4:1, as such, all common shares issued and 

outstanding were increased on such basis. This MD&A and the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements give retroactive effect to such split and all share and per share amounts have been adjusted 

accordingly. 

 

Details of the purchase price consideration and allocation are shown below: 

 

 
 

 
 

R&D Agreement and the Treatment of Traumatic Brain Injury 

 

Scythian has a project underway that is the development of a proprietary cannabinoid-based combination 

drug therapy for the treatment of concussions and traumatic brain injury. In addition to this primary line 

of research and development, Scythian also may develop other potential cannabinoid and non-

cannabinoid based pharmaceutical products, including one that is in development for treatment of gastro-

inflammatory disease. 

 

Consideration paid

Common shares 2,642,264           2.00$          5,284,528$             

Warrants 2,308,792           1.57$          3,886,447               

Options 42,700                0.00$          -                           

Total Consideration 4,993,756          9,170,975$            

Net Assets Acquired

Cash 379$                        

Other receivables 11,816                     

Accounts payables and accrued liabilities (78,508)                    

   Due to Scythian (88,310)                    

Net assets (liabilities) acquired (154,624)                

Listing Expense 9,325,599$            
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In order to advance the development of Scythian’s proprietary treatment methodology, Scythian has 

established a relationship with the University of Miami’s (the “University”) “UConcussion Treatment & 

Management Program” (the “UConcussion Program”), a renowned center for research on brain and spinal 

cord injuries. Pursuant to a research agreement (the “R&D Agreement”) dated July 25, 2016, and 

amended on February 10, 2017 and October 6, 2017, the UConcussion Program is conducting and 

coordinating the Company’s research, including pre-clinical and clinical trials, to expand upon Scythian’s 

current patent pending methodology in the treatment of concussions and traumatic brain injury. 

 

Proprietary Methodology 

 

On October 16, 2015, Scythian filed US Provisional Patent Application No. 62-242-457 Methods for 

Treating Traumatic Brain Injury. The pending patent application: PCT/US2016/057304 entitled Methods 

and Compositions for Treating Traumatic Brain Injury claims priority to U.S. Provisional Application Serial 

No. 62/242,457.  The expected expiration date is October 17, 2036.  The type of patent protection being 

sought is use and composition of matter. Jurisdictions will be limited to patent cooperation treaty (“PCT”) 

member countries.  The proprietary methodology forming the basis of Scythian’s patent application 

utilizes a combination of two drugs to inhibit both inflammation and other aspects of the immune 

response in the brain that occur following a concussion or other traumatic brain injury (the “Combination 

Therapy”). This immune response and inflammation is a significant contributing cause of brain tissue 

damage following a head trauma. Scythian’s patent application focuses on using two or more alternative 

therapies in combination in order to combat the injury resulting from such inflammation and the immune 

systems response. 

 

More generally, a concussion causes injury and damage to the brain in three ways. First, the initial physical 

impact and the force exerted cause a direct impact to, and/or acceleration of, the brain resulting in direct 

brain tissue damage. Following the force of the initial impact, brain tissue begins to swell. The result of 

such inflammation is increased intracranial pressure due to the limited amount of space surrounding an 

individual’s brain in the skull cavity. As the individual’s brain expands with inflammation, the brain presses 

against the skull with increasing pressure and can cause extensive damage. Other components of the 

immune response trigger a cascade of chemical processes, including the release of cytokines and the 

infiltration of white blood cells (leukocytic and macrophage infiltration). Changes in calcium and 

potassium concentrations also disrupt cell function. Scythian’s therapy is designed to disrupt or reduce 

the extent of these processes. 

 

Scythian's treatment strategy has been to target multiple receptors on parallel pathways that each affect 

these immune processes. Scythian’s patent proposes multiple drugs in each class as alternative 

treatments; however, the pre-clinical studies are focusing on two specific drugs. Scythian has not created 

new drugs but rather has found a way to apply several pre-existing drugs in a way not previously done 

before. 

 

Proprietary Treatment Methodology 

 

Scythian’s provisional patent application utilizes a combination of approaches to inhibit both the 

inflammation and the immune system response to combat injury due to concussion or other traumatic 

impact. The patent application focuses on using two or more alternative therapies in combination, with 

the application covering several possible combinations of drugs. Although the patent covers multiple 

combinations, the research being conducted by the University of Miami will utilize an N-methyl-D-
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aspartate (“NMDA”) receptor antagonist plus a cannabinoid receptor type 2 CB2 receptor agonist as a 

combined drug regimen. Among other things, the activation or inhibition of these receptors affects the 

cannabinoid pathway to ultimately increase levels of Anandamide with a resulting decrease in 2-

arachidonoyl glycerol (“2-AG”). The result of this chemical effect is to reduce inflammation and to inhibit 

gliosis (and the immune cascade).  

 

There is a long history of the study of cannabinoids for use as anti-inflammatory agents, including in 

particular, Cannabidiol (“CBD”). Research on the use of delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”), CBD and 

other cannabinoids as a possible treatment for various inflammatory disorders has been ongoing for no 

less than 25 years. However, over the last 10-15 years, this research has picked up extensively.  

 

In addition to the Combination Therapy, Scythian’s patent application also covers an additional approach 

utilizing a Fatty Acid Amide Hydrolase inhibitor (“FAAH”) to trigger a different chemical pathway to 

achieve regulation of Anandamide and 2-AG. FAAH inhibitors reduce the level of 2-AG through 

upregulation of Anandamide levels without acting on the CB2 receptor. Thus, the use of a FAAH inhibitor 

would create an anti-inflammatory effect through an alternate mechanism without binding or effecting 

the CB1 or CB2 receptors. This alternative approach remains an additional possible approach at a later 

point in the research program. 

 

University of Miami Research Agreement 

 

The research is being conducted at the University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, a leading institution 

in Traumatic Brain Injury and Concussion Treatment, Management, and Prevention. The primary 

investigator of the project, Professor of Neurological Surgery at the University, Gillian A. Hotz, PhD, is a 

leading expert in neurotrauma.  She has been the Director of the UConcussion Program for the past twenty 

years, is part of the University of Miami’s Health System Sports Medicine, and the KIDZ Neuroscience 

Center at The Miami Project to Cure Paralysis. Miami Project to Cure Paralysis is a leading spinal cord 

injury research center and a designated Center of Excellence at the University of Miami Miller School of 

Medicine. Dr. Hotz is nationally recognized as a behavioral neuroscientist and expert in pediatric, adult 

neurotrauma and concussion prevention and management. Dr. Hotz has put together a core team of 

leading experts at the University’s in neuroscience, neurosurgery, neurology, neuropsychology, and injury 

prevention, including: 

 

• Dalton Dietrich, PhD Scientific Director, The Miami Project to Cure Paralysis, Senior Associate Dean 

for Discovery Science, Professor of Neurological Surgery, Neurology, Biomedical Engineering and Cell 

Biology 

• Helen Bramlett, PhD Professor of Neurological Surgery, The Miami Project to Cure Paralysis 

• Michael Hoffer, MD Professor Otolaryngology and Neurotology 

• Bonnie Levin, PhD Professor of Neurology and Director of the Division of Neuropsychology, 

Department of Neurology. 

• Tatiana Rundek, MD Professor of Clinical Neurology 

• Steve Olvey, MD Associate Professor of Clinical Neurology & Neurosurgery 

• Mohan Kottapally, MD Assistant Professor of Clinical Neurology Neurocritical Care Division  

• Kester Nedd, DO Associate Professor of Clinical Neurology 

 

Pursuant to the R&D Agreement, the UConcussion Program has committed to conduct the pre-clinical and 

clinical research studies of Scythian, including any necessary animal or preliminary testing, clinical testing, 
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from inception through Phase 3 testing and to develop for commercial application, certain targeted 

therapeutics identified or otherwise contemplated by the agreement (the “Purpose”). Pursuant to the 

R&D Agreement Scythian has agreed to pay a 5% royalty of net profits from the commercialization, 

including licensing, or any inventions or discoveries made during the term of the agreement, as well as 

from the commercialization of the specific drug regimen being tested under the agreement and as set out 

in Scythian’s patent. Any intellectual property developed during the course of the research program 

remains and/or becomes the property of Scythian. 

 

The initial term of the agreement ends January 30, 2022, and may be extended. The agreement may be 

terminated by either party on 90 days’ written notice upon an uncured material breach; upon the filing 

for creditor protection under the United States Bankruptcy Code or the appointment of a bankruptcy 

trustee or receiver; or, upon either party determining in its sole judgment that the Purpose of the 

agreement will not achieve a positive outcome. 

 

Milestones 

 

The Company currently has three major milestones:  

 

1) The first milestone is the completion of the pre-clinical studies with an estimated cost of 

approximately US$3-4 million. Although the Company believes that the pre-clinical studies will take 

approximately 1 ½ to 2 years to complete, there is no fixed deadline for completing the pre-clinical 

stage as the outcome from the data and testing cannot be predicted.  The pre-clinical studies are a 

series of tests using three different injury models. For each model of brain injury, the trials will 

compare the different compositions of the drug and will then also compare different dosage levels 

and timing on dose administration.  As a result, there are numerous permutations that will need to 

be tested.  The exact timing is not known since decisions about dose changes (to create a dose 

response curve) are made based upon the results of the previous round of testing. Once the complete 

packet of information is created, it will be sent to the FDA as part of the Company’s application for an 

IND.   

 

2) The second major milestone is filing of an Investigational New Application (IND) with the US FDA.  

 

3) The third major milestone is the completion of the clinical studies with an estimated cost of US$11-

15 million. The clinical studies will be comprised of two separate parts. The first part is the 

examination of patients to create a data map of the nature of the injury including the location and 

severity against different symptoms and measuring the physical changes that have occurred for each 

injury type. This will create a baseline against which to measure the success of the administration of 

the drug testing (once approved by the FDA) in human subjects. This part is estimated to cost 

approximately US$5-6 million.  Once the IND is approved, the second part of the clinical studies will 

involve the administration of the drug (again, as compared against a control group to assess safety 

and efficacy and to ascertain the best dosage and timing for the drug administration. The second part 

is estimated to cost approximately US$6-9 million. The clinical testing will be done in phases, including 

Phase I, II and III. 
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Overall Phases of Research Program 

 

The first phase of the program will focus on the pre-clinical studies, piloting phase of the proposed 

outcome measures, and the translational project, with the latter providing the transition from pre-clinical 

to the clinical study beginning in Year 3. Significant efforts will be directed towards narrowing and refining 

the most sensitive outcomes from domains shown to be, in varying degrees and combinations, 

significantly impacted in mild to moderate traumatic brain injury: cognitive, behavioral, psychosocial, 

sleep, pain, sensory/motor, cardiovascular, inflammatory biomarkers, and imaging parameters. During 

this phase, the program will seek to clarify and address methodological shortcomings in existing literature, 

design novel outcomes that circumvent these shortcomings, pilot the outcome measures on normal, and 

two groups of traumatic brain injury patients (acute and chronic), and propose a study methodology to 

begin in Year 3 to test the Combination Therapy product. A significant target for year two of the study is 

to carry out the translational component of the study which will require a close collaboration between 

preclinical and clinical investigators, with the goal of gathering critical data in the piloting phase in order 

to inform and insure direct application from the experimental studies to the fully powered clinical trial 

beginning in Year 3 of the study. The Company estimates that US$3-4 million will be advanced to the 

University in order to complete the pre-clinical trials. 

 

Due to delays in procuring necessary drug components, the research is effectively in the first year of pre-

clinical studies, and the Combination Therapy is undergoing animal testing. The pre-clinical testing was 

expected to have commenced no later than the third quarter of 2017, but did not begin to materially 

advance until the first quarter of 2018. The University research team has undertaken to accelerate the 

rate of testing of animal subjects than currently in the project plans.  This is expected to return the project 

to its planned schedule with initial pre-clinical data being received by the end of the first quarter of 2018, 

with more detailed data to be received during the second and third quarters of 2018. 

 

Notwithstanding that the clinical studies, which involve experimental human testing of the Combination 

Therapy, do not commence until after the conclusion of the pre-clinical trials, preliminary aspects of the 

clinical studies have already begun. One such key aspect that has begun is the development of a large 

database mapping the expression of symptoms in patients with traumatic brain injuries. As a traumatic 

brain injury is not a homogeneous injury, the symptoms and expressions of the injury vary widely between 

patients based on the location and severity of the head impact, the parts of the brain involved and the 

cause of the injury itself. To properly measure the efficacy of the Combination Therapy, the University is 

creating a database mapping the injury types to the frequency and severity of different symptoms, as well 

as measurable biological changes in the brain tissue. This portion of the project is moving forward at the 

same time as the pre-clinical study and accounts for approximately US$5-6 million that will be advanced 

to the University over the next 17 months ending July 1, 2019.  

 

Under the R&D Agreement with the University, the pre-clinical trials are expected to be completed in 

approximately 1 ½ to 2 years (the time may vary based upon the success of the specific test trials).  Clinical 

trials are expected to take approximately 3 years to complete following the end of the pre-clinical trials, 

although certain preliminary work has already commenced on the clinical trials.     

 

The pre-clinical and clinical studies do not have fixed periods. A series of experiments comprise the various 

tests, with later tests being modified based upon the data obtained from earlier tests. The pre-clinical 

trials, clinical trials and accompanying methodologies are expected to be continually refined based on 

actual test results and on data received during the term of the R&D Agreement. All pre-clinical trials must 
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be completed to obtain adequate data for filing an IND with the FDA. Clinical trials must be completed to 

obtain adequate data for an application to the FDA for a new drug application (NDA). 

 

As with any research project, the timeline and costs expended cannot be guaranteed, and the Company 

will continuously assess expenditures in light of the status of the project to ensure that funds are being 

applied appropriately.  It should also be noted that because of the nature of the project, there will be 

some overlap between the pre-clinical and clinical phases.  It should also be noted that, the funding 

schedule does not always correspond with the cost incurred and at points in time, the Company may have 

pre-paid amounts with or payables to the University. 
 

At the conclusion of the pre-clinical phase, the Company intends to submit an IND to the FDA which, if 

approved, would permit the Company to begin human testing. Depending upon the results of the pre-

clinical studies and the data collected, the FDA could approve the IND or it could reject the IND application. 

Additionally, certain outside laboratory testing will be required regarding the pharmacokinetics and other 

metabolic characteristics of the Combination Therapy prior to submission of the IND.  
 

In the event that the IND is approved, the Company will commence the clinical trial phase of the testing, 

which will include testing on human subjects. This testing process if broken into various phases, with the 

first phase, Phase 1, focusing on safety; with Phase 2 and 3 thereafter focusing on efficacy issues.  Securing 

final regulatory approval for the manufacture and sale of human therapeutic products in the U.S., Europe, 

Canada and other commercial territories, is a long and costly process that is controlled by that particular 

territory’s national regulatory agency. The national regulatory agency in the United States is the FDA, in 

Canada it is Health Canada and in Europe it is the European Medicines Agency, or EMA. Other national 

regulatory agencies have similar regulatory approval processes, but each national regulatory agency has 

its own approval processes. Approval in U.S., Canada or Europe does not assure approval by other national 

regulatory agencies, although often test results from one country may be used in applications for 

regulatory approval in another country. 
 

In the U.S., the FDA is responsible for the drug approval process. The FDA’s mission is to protect human 

health by ensuring that all medications on the market are safe and effective. The FDA’s approval process 

examines potential drugs and only those that meet strict requirements are approved. 
 

The U.S. Food and Drug Regulations require licensing of manufacturing facilities, carefully controlled 

research and testing of products, governmental review and approval of test results prior to marketing of 

therapeutic products, and adherence to good manufacturing practices. The drug approval process begins 

with the discovery of a potential drug. Pharmaceutical companies then test the drug extensively through 

a multi-stage process. 
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Selected Quarterly Financial Information 
 

For the three month periods ended: 
  March 31, 

2018  

December 

31, 2017  

September 

30, 2017  

June 30, 

2017  

March 31, 

2017  

December 

31, 2016  

September 

30, 2016  

June 30, 

2016  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Total revenue      -      - -      -      -      -      -      - 

Net loss (7,821,972) (4,442,235) (12,520,884) (1,146,295) (1,315,402) (735,766) (461,458) (463,439) 

Loss per share, basic 

and fully diluted 

(0.59) (0.21) (0.70) (0.10) (0.19) (0.41) (0.26) (0.26) 

Total assets 35,103,721 10,027,863 11,979,691 13,631,290 2,732,335 869,700 921,814 1,030,135 

Long-term liabilities - - - - - - - - 

Working capital 

(deficiency)1 

33,281,139 9,747,910 11,055,826 12,074,173 41,336 (1,011,448) (1,050,482) (757,244) 

Dividends - - - - - - - - 

  (1) Working capital (deficiency) excludes deferred share unit liabilities 

 

Comments on the significant variations of results from continuing and discontinued operations for the 

years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017: 

 

 Years Ended 

 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 

 $ $ $ 

Research and development 3,137,653 1,038,020 - 

Salaries and wages 7,253,931 1,098,941 1,932,883 

Professional fees 1,066,855 318,608 390,687 

Consulting 1,216,461 175,663 454,554 

Advertising and public relations 742,280 8,568 9,457 

Office and general 303,354 34,130 52,334 

Travel 181,977 20,433 41,836 

Depreciation 136,007 217,818 172,500 

Foreign exchange loss (gain) 27,770 14,605 (4,917) 

Total operating costs 14,066,288 2,926,786 3,049,334 

Net loss and comprehensive loss (25,931,386) (2,976,064) (3,058,535) 

 

Operating costs totaled $14,066,288 for the year ended March 31, 2018, compared to $2,926,786 for the 

year ended March 31, 2017, an increase of $11,139,502.  The key reasons for the increase was due to 

significant increases in research and development, salaries and wages, professional fees, consulting fees 

and advertising and public relations. 

 

In July 2016, the Company signed a collaborative research agreement with the University of Miami, and 

has since been funding research costs related to the Combination Therapy. This led to an increase during 

the year ended March 31, 2018, in research and development costs by $2,099,633 compared to the prior 

year as the research continues to ramp up. 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company incurred an increase in salaries and wages of 

$6,154,990.  The main reason for this increase related to the issuance of deferred share units to officers 

and directors, which resulted in compensation during the year ended March 31, 2018 of $4,593,363 (2017 

- $Nil).  The increase in salaries and wages is also attributed to the issuance of stock options, as during the 



13 

 

year ended March 31, 2018, the Company recorded $1,594,071 (2017 - $Nil) in salaries and wages related 

to these issuances.   

 

The Company also experienced increases in professional fees, consulting, and advertising and public 

relations.  These increases are all associated with the completion of a go-public transaction, recent 

transactions, as well as additional costs related to maintaining a public listing. The Company incurred 

professional fees of $494,936 directly related to the acquisitions of MMJI, MAI, and MMJ Colombia.    

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company engaged with investor relations professionals as it 

sought to publicize the Company post its listing, as well as business development activities. 

 

The Company incurred a net loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended March 31, 2018 of 

$25,931,386, (2016 - $2,976,064). The net loss and comprehensive loss included non-operating costs for 

the year ended March 31, 2018 of $11,865,098, (2017 – $49,278). The largest component of the increase 

year over year relates to one time listing costs of $9,990,840.   

 

The other significant component of non-operating costs for the year ended March 31, 2018 was a change 

in fair value of deferred share units of $1,780,637 (2017 - $Nil).  The change in fair value of deferred share 

units will vary period over period, based on the changes that occur in the share price.  The Company also 

had a loss on disposition of subsidiary of $234,675, for the disposition of Go Green, which was reported 

as a discontinued operation.  As a result of the disposition, the Company will no longer be recognizing any 

depreciation as all plant and equipment were disposed of. 

 

Comments on the significant variations of results from continuing and discontinued operations for the 

three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017: 

 
 Three Month Periods Ended 

 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 

 $ $ $ 

Research and development 891,226 581,720 -  

Salaries and wages 4,674,173 305,481 549,928 

Professional fees 738,708 251,978 37,654 

Consulting 849,211 31,422 108,421 

Advertising and public relations 169,776 2,039 2,063 

Office and general 243,213 9,343 6,618 

Travel 128,826 9,102 13,377 

Depreciation -  54,455 57,500 

Foreign exchange loss (gain) (29,322) 10,335 2,257 

Total operating costs 7,665,811 1,255,875 777,818 

Net loss and comprehensive loss (7,821,972) (1,315,402) (813,791) 

 

Operating costs totaled $7,655,811for the three months ended March 31, 2018 compared to $1,255,875 

for the three months ended March 31, 2017, an increase of $6,409,936.  The key reasons for the increase 

was due to significant increases in salaries and wages, professional fees, consulting fees, and advertising 

and public relations. 

 

During the three month ended March 31, 2018, the Company incurred an increase in salaries and wages 

of $4,368,692.  The main reason for this increase related to the issuance of deferred share units to officers 

and directors, which resulted in compensation during the three month ended March 31, 2018 of 
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$2,956,800 (2017 - $Nil).  The increase in salaries and wages is also attributed to the issuance of stock 

options, as during the three month ended March 31, 2018, the Company recorded $1,215,443 (2016 - 

$235,413) in salaries and wages related to these issuances. 

 

The Company also experienced increases in professional fees, consulting, and advertising and public 

relations.  These increases relate to the professional and consulting expenses incurred in order to acquire 

MMJII, MAI, and MMJ Colombia.  

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

As of March 31, 2018, the Company had cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of 

$32,164,233 (March 31, 2017 - $1,090,767) and working capital, excluding deferred share unit liabilities, 

of $33,281,139 (March 31, 2017 - $41,366).  The Company has a history of operating losses and of negative 

cash flows from operations. The Company will remain reliant on capital markets for future funding to 

meet its ongoing obligations. 

In November, 2016, the Company borrowed $345,000 through the issuance of short-term promissory 

notes payable, due in February, 2017, in order to make a payment on the R&D Agreement while the 

Company worked on a financing.  In February, 2017, the Company extended the due date of the 

promissory notes to May 31, 2017.  The loans were repaid in March, 2017 upon completion of a financing. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations as they become due. The 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the Company’s ability to receive 

continued financial support from its stakeholders and, ultimately, on the Company’s ability to generate 

continued profitable operations. Management is of the opinion that sufficient working capital is available 

from its financings to meet the Company's liabilities and commitments as they come due. The Company 

manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and anticipating any investing and 

financing activities. Management and the Board of Directors are actively involved in the review, planning 

and approval of significant expenditures and commitments. 

The application of the going concern concept is dependent on the Company’s ability to receive continued 

financial support from its stakeholders and, ultimately, on the Company’s ability to generate profitable 

operations. Management is of the opinion that it has sufficient working capital is available to meet the 

Company's liabilities and commitments as they come due for the next twelve months. These consolidated 

financial statements do not reflect any adjustments or reclassifications of assets and liabilities, which 

would be necessary if the Company were unable to continue as a going concern. 

 Share Capital Structure 

 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares without par value, and an unlimited 

number of non-voting, non-participating, non-cumulative preferred shares without par value, redeemable 

at the option of the Company or the holder.  As at July 25, 2018, the Company’s issued and outstanding 

shares, stock options and warrants are as follows: 
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 July 25, 2018 

Common shares 29,583,588 

Warrants 8,679,360 

Warrants – double dilution(1) 432,848 

Stock options 1,812,236 

Deferred share units 689,313 

Total fully diluted – prior to the acquisition of MAI, MMJ Colombia and MMJII 41,197,345 

Shares to be issued related to the acquisition of MAI 6,000,000 

Shares to be issued related to the acquisition of MMJII 6,176,320 

Estimated shares to be issued related to the acquisition of MMJ Colombia(2) 8,000,000 

Total fully diluted 61,373,665 

(1) 108,212 of the warrants convert into units, with each unit consisting of one common share and on warrant. 

(2) In consideration for the acquisition, Scythian will issue, on the closing date, CDN$32,000,000 of Common Shares at an issue 

price equal to the volume weighted average price of the Common Shares over the 20 trading days prior to the closing date 

of the acquisition, provided that no less than 6,280,000 Common Shares will be issued as share consideration.  Number of 

shares based on $4.00 share price. 

 

Research and Development Agreements and Commitments 

 

On July 25, 2016, the Company entered into a collaborative research agreement, and amended on 

February 10, 2017, and October 6, 2017, (the “Agreement”) with the University of Miami (the 

“University”). The University has agreed to assist the Company with the research, development and 

preclinical and clinical trials research studies. 
 

The obligation of the University to commence and continue the project is contingent upon the Company 

making payments to the University.  The Company has made the following payments to date. 

 

• 1st payment: US$250,000 paid on November 28, 2016; 

• 2nd payment: US$175,000 paid on February 1, 2017; 

• 3rd payment: US$1,000,000 paid on March 27, 2017; 

• 4th payment: US$1,000,000 paid on August 7, 2017; 

• 5th payment: US$1,100,000 paid on February 12, 2018; and 

• 6th payment: US$900,000 paid on March 14, 2018; 

 

Under the Agreement, the Company is to pay US$1,000,000 on a quarterly basis with payments being due 

on October 1, 2017 and every subsequent quarter until July 1, 2021, on which the last payment is due.  

Every fourth quarter shall include an additional payment of US$553,750. Institution overhead of 29% is 

included within all payments. Total amount of funding, inclusive of University’s overhead is 

US$20,640,000.  As of the date of this MD&A, the Company has not paid the payment of US$1,553,750 

that was due on July 1, 2018. 
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Contractual Obligations 

 

The below table presents a listing of the contractual obligations of the Company. 

 

 

 

Contractual Obligations  

 Payments due by period ($)   

 

Total  

Less than 1 

Year 

1 to 3 

Years 

4 to 5 

Years 

More than 

5 Years 

Long-Term Debt Obligations - - - - - 

Capital (Finance) Lease Obligations  -  - - - - 

Operating Lease Obligations - - - - - 

Purchase Obligations(1) $20,778,681 $5,742,665 $15,036,016 - - 

Other Long-Term Liabilities 

Reflected on our Balance Sheet  

- - - - - 

Total  $20,778,681 $5,742,665 $15,036,016 - - 

 
(1)  All amounts relate to the Agreement with the University of Miami and are denominated in US dollars. US dollars 

have been translated into Canadian dollars at an exchange rate of 1.2894 as at March 31, 2018. 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

Pursuant to the Agreement with the University of Miami, the Company has agreed to pay a 5% royalty of 

net profits from the commercialization, including licensing, or any inventions or discoveries made during 

the term of the agreement, as well as from the commercialization of the specific drug regime being tested 

under the agreement as set out in Scythian’s patent.  Any intellectual property developed during the 

course of the testing program remains and/or becomes the property of Scythian. 

 

The Company has no other off-balance sheet arrangements. 

Related Party Transactions 

 

All related party transactions are carried out in the normal course of operations and are recorded at fair 

value, unless otherwise noted herein.  The Company has identified its officers as its key management 

personnel. 

 

Balances 

 

At March 31, 2018, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is an amount of $Nil (March 31, 

2017 - $1,395,150; 2016 - $584,888) owing to directors and officers of the Company in respect of unpaid 

salaries and benefits, directors’ fees, and reimbursable expenses. Any amounts owed to related parties 

are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are payable on demand. 
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Transactions 

 

The Company incurred charges with directors and officers of the Company or with companies with 

directors or officers in common with the Company during the year ended March 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, 

all of which is included in salaries and wages on the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive 

loss as follows: 

 

 
 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 50,000 common shares of 

the Company, and paid $45,000 in cash, to settle an aggregate of $964,245 in accrued and unpaid salaries 

and wages and benefits due to two former directors and officers of the Company.  The shares issued were 

recorded at their fair value of $100,000, or $2.00 per share, which value was determined with reference 

to the price at which shares were being sold to arm’s length parties on or around the transaction date.  

The remaining $819,245 difference between the carrying value of the amounts settled and the fair value 

of consideration transferred of $145,000 was recorded as a contribution to equity.   

 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, two directors and officers of the Company forgave an aggregate 

of $669,388 in accrued salaries, wages and allowances owed to the directors and officers. The amount 

forgiven was recorded as a contribution to equity. 

 

Use of Proceeds 

 

As part of the reverse takeover transaction, the Company presented a use of proceeds in its filing 

statement dated June 30, 2017. The Company subsequently revised the planned use of proceeds upon 

the disposition of Go Green.  On February 13, 2018, the Company also completed a financing, resulting in 

additional proceeds allocated.  The following table presents the key allocations of the use of proceeds as 

well as the remaining funds allocated. 

 

 
 
(1) Based on MD&A as at December 31, 2017, Go-Green Operations have been removed and included in General and 

Administrative Costs 

(2) Financing completed on February 23, 2018, as share issuance costs were greater than expected, allocation to Research and 

development has been reduced accordingly 

2018 2017 2016

Salaries and wages 652,711$                     999,761$            1,176,747$       

Consulting fees 7,500                            -                      -                     

Share-based payments 6,069,519                    -                      1,070,800         

6,729,730$                 999,761$           2,247,547$      

Year ended March 31, 

Remaining 

Funds as at 

December 31, 

2017 (1)

Additional 

Funds as per 

Financing (2)

Reallocation 

(3)

Use of Funds 

through March 

31, 2018

Remaining 

Funds 

Allocated

Research and Development 8,566,802         13,292,711       (14,968,287)    891,226               6,000,000       

General, administrative and operating 1,380,080         2,800,000         6,968,287       2,058,188            9,090,179       

Acquisitions and transaction costs -                     8,000,000         8,000,000       2,717                    15,997,283     

TOTAL 9,946,882         24,092,711       -                  2,952,131            31,087,462     
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(3) As the Company has adjusted its business plan subsequent to year-end, funds have been reallocated reducing the allocation 

to research and development as the Company continues to focus on other acquisitions and international expansion in the 

cannabis industry. 

(4) All numbers excludes non-monetary transactions. 

 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

 

The preparation of the condensed consolidated interim financial statements requires management to 

make judgements and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of 

the condensed consolidated interim financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the 

reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s 

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances.  Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates.  

 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management 

has made at the financial position reporting date, that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, 

but are not limited to: useful lives of plant and equipment, impairment of non-financial assets, valuation 

of common shares and share purchase option valuations. 

 

Changes in Accounting Policies 

 

Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Company’s accounting 

policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new 

standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations 

have been issued, but are not expected to have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 

statements. 

 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies 
 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) which reflects all 

phases of the financial instruments project and replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for 

classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application is 

required, but comparative information is not compulsory. Early application of previous versions of IFRS 9 

(2009, 2010 and 2013) is permitted if the date of initial application is before 1 February 2015. The adoption 

of IFRS 9 by the Company on April 1, 2018, has had no impact on the classification and measurement of 

the Company’s financial assets and liabilities. 
 

IFRS 16 Leases 
 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) which replaces IAS 17, Leases and its associated 

interpretative guidance. IFRS 16 applies a control model to the identification of leases, distinguishing 

between a lease and a service contract on the basis of whether the customer controls the asset being 

leased. For those assets determined to meet the definition of a lease, IFRS 16 introduces significant 
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changes to the accounting by lessees, introducing a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is 

similar to the current finance lease accounting, with limited exceptions for short-term leases or leases of 

low value assets. Lessor accounting remains similar to current accounting practice. The standard is 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early application permitted for 

entities that apply IFRS 15. The adoption of IFRS 16 is not expected to have an impact on the classification 

and measurement of the Company’s financial instruments, when adopted in 2019. 

 

Financial Instruments 

 

As at March 31, 2018, the Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, other 

receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and deferred share unit liabilities.  The Company’s 

financial instruments, consisting of cash and cash equivalents, other receivables and accounts payable 

and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.  

Deferred share unit liabilities are measured using the fair value of the underlying shares of the Company’s 

stock based on market price in a liquid market. 

 

Currency risk 

 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in foreign exchange rates. From time to time, the Company holds financial instruments 

that are denominated in a currency other than the Canadian dollar. At March 31, 2018, the Company held 

financial assets of $621,508 (March 31, 2017 - $886,969) denominated in US dollars and had research and 

development commitments denominated in US Dollars. During the year ended March 31, 2018, the 

Company recognized foreign currency exchange loss of $27,770 (2017 – loss of $14,605) relating to 

currency fluctuations between the Canadian and US dollars.   

 

Market 

 

Scythian expects the cannabinoid therapeutics market will grow significantly in the coming years due to 

softening public and political views toward the use of medical marijuana and the potential benefits 

Cannabinoid products may provide over existing therapies. Interest in Cannabinoid therapeutics has 

increased over the past several years as pre-clinical and clinical data has emerged highlighting the 

potential efficacy and safety benefits of cannabinoid therapeutics. Studies have been conducted on the 

application of Cannabinoids in the treatment of various diseases such as diabetes, neoplasms, 

inflammatory diseases, neurological conditions, chronic pain and chemotherapy induced nausea and 

vomiting. 

 

Scythian will initially be seeking FDA approval for its products in the United States. Once FDA approval has 

been obtained, Scythian will market its products and seek approvals equivalent to FDA approval in as 

many countries as is commercially feasible. 

 

Risk Factors 

 

The Company’s overall performance and results of operations are subject to a number of risks and 

uncertainties.  The economic, industry and risk factors discussed in the Company’s annual information 

form  filed on January 23, 2018 (the “Annual Information Form”), related to the year ended December 31, 

2016, and the Company’s Final Short-Form Prospectus dated February 6, 2018, filed on www.sedar.com, 
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which risk factors are incorporated by reference into this document, and should be reviewed in detail by 

all readers.  These risks include, but are not limited to: 

• Financial risks 

• Limited operating history and no assurance of profitability 

• No revenue to date 

• Changes in laws, regulations and guidelines in Canada and the United States 

• Material agreement 

• Anti-money laundering laws and regulations 

• Heightened scrutiny in the United States 

• Regulatory risks 

• Reliance on regulatory approval 

• Reliance on pre-clinical testing and clinical trials 

• Reliance on third parties for pre-clinical and clinical trials 

• Vulnerability of results of planned clinical trials 

• Risk of product failure 

• Product liability 

• Reliance on manufacturers 

• Competition 

• Reliance on key personnel 

• Management of growth 

• Reliance on computer systems 

• Transportation risks 

• Operating risk 

• Employee regulations 

• Litigation 

• Intellectual property 

• Dividends 

• Volatile market price of the common shares 

• NASDAQ Capital Markets listing 

• Exchange rate due to NASDAQ Capital Markets listing 

 

Regulatory Developments 

 

The commercial medical marijuana industry is a relatively new industry and Scythian anticipates that such 

regulations will be subject to change. Scythian’s operations are subject to a variety of laws, regulations, 

guidelines and policies relating to the manufacture, import, export, management, packaging/labelling, 

advertising, sale, transportation, distribution, storage and disposal of the product candidates but also 

including laws and regulations relating to drugs, controlled substances, health and safety, the conduct of 

operations and the protection of the environment. While to the knowledge of management, Scythian is 

currently in compliance with all such laws, any changes to such laws, regulations, guidelines and policies 

due to matters beyond the control of Scythian may adversely affect its operations.  
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Regulatory Developments in Canada  

On October 19, 2015, the Liberal Party of Canada (the “Liberal Party”) was elected and obtained a majority 

government in Canada. The Liberal Party had made electoral commitments to legalize, regulate and tax 

recreational marijuana use in Canada. 

 

On August 24, 2016, the ACMPR replaced the Marihuana for Medical Purposes Regulations (the “MMPR”) 

in respect of the production, sale and distribution of medical marijuana and related oil extracts. The 

MMPR came as a result of the  Federal Court of Canada ruling in the case of Allard v Canada which found 

the MMPR unconstitutional as it violated the plaintiffs’ rights under section 7 of the Canadian Charter of 

Rights and Freedoms by placing restrictions on a patient’s ability to reasonably access medical marijuana. 

 

The ACMPR effectively combines the regulations and requirements of the MMPR, the Marihuana Medical 

Access Regulations (“MMAR”) and the Section 56 Exemptions relating to cannabis oil under the Controlled 

Drug and Substances Act (the “CDSA”) into one set of regulations. In addition, among other things, the 

ACMPR sets out the process patients are required to follow to obtain authorization from Health Canada 

to grow marijuana and to acquire seeds or plants from licensed producers to grow their own marijuana. 

Patients have three options under the ACMPR in order to obtain marijuana: 

 

• continue to access quality-controlled marijuana by registering with licensed producers; 

• register with Health Canada to produce a limited amount of marijuana for their own medical 

purposes; or 

• designate someone else to produce it for them. 

 

On December 13, 2016, the Task Force on Cannabis Legalization and Regulation (the “Cannabis Task 

Force”), was established by the Canadian Federal Government. The Cannabis Task Force’s role was to seek 

input on the design of a new system to legalize, strictly regulate and restrict access to marijuana, complete 

a review and publish a report outlining its recommendations. On April 13, 2017, the Liberal Party tabled 

Bill C-45, An Act respecting cannabis and to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, the Criminal 

Code and other Acts (the “Cannabis Act (Canada)”), which would legalize and regulate the production, 

distribution and sale of marijuana for unqualified adult use across Canada. The Cannabis Act (Canada) is 

expected to be implemented no later than the summer of 2018.  It is not yet clear what, if any, negative 

impact the Cannabis Act (Canada) might have on the medical marijuana industry as a whole. The impact 

of such regulatory changes on Scythian’s business is unknown, and the proposed regulatory changes may 

not be implemented at all.  

 

On September 8, 2017 the Ontario government announced a proposed retail and distribution model for 

legalized recreational marijuana modelled on the current Liquor Control Board of Ontario (the “LBCO”) 

framework.  

 

On October 3, 2017, the Parliamentary Standing Committee on Health (“HESA”) proposed amendments 

to the Cannabis Act (Canada), which would allow for marijuana edibles and concentrates to be available 

for sale within 12 months of the Cannabis Act (Canada) coming into force.  

 

On October 16, 2017, the Canadian Securities Administrators, the Toronto Stock Exchange, the TSXV and 

the Canadian Securities Exchange each released written statements outlining their interpretations and 

ongoing treatment of public companies engaged in cross-border marijuana-related activities. These 

guidelines establish a disclosure-based approach that sets out robust standards for public companies that 
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currently conduct or are contemplating marijuana-related activities in the United States. The Company 

believes the Canadian Securities Administrators’ Staff Notice 51-352 Issuers with Marijuana-Related 

Activities and the TSXV’s Bulletin Business Activities Related to Marijuana in the United States apply to the 

Company as it carries on marijuana-related activities in the United States through its association with the 

University.  

 

On November 21, 2017, Health Canada released a consultation paper “Proposed Approach to the 

Regulation of Cannabis” (the “Proposed Regulations”), which, among other things, seeks to solicit public 

input and views of the regulatory approach to the recreational marijuana market. Stakeholders were 

invited to share their views on the Proposed Regulations until January 20, 2018. Health Canada is expected 

to publish a summary of the comments received as well as a detailed outline of any changes to the 

regulatory approach.  

 

The Proposed Regulations are divided into the following major categories: 

1. Licences, Permits and Authorization; 

2. Security Clearances; 

3. Cannabis Tracking System; 

4. Packaging and Labelling; 

5. Cannabis for Medical Purposes; and 

6. Health Products and Cosmetics Containing Cannabis.  

 

Licences, Permits and Authorization 

The Proposed Regulations establish different types of authorizations, based on the activity undertaken 

and, in some cases, the scale of the activity. Rules and requirements for different categories of authorized 

activities are intended to be proportional to the public health and safety risks posed by each category of 

activity. The types of proposed authorizations include: (i) cultivation; (ii) processing; (iii) sale to the public 

for medical purposes and non-medical purposes in provinces and territories that have not enacted a retail 

framework; (iv) analytical testing; (v) import/export; and (vi) research. 

 

Cultivation licences would allow for both large-scale and small-scale (i.e. micro) growing of cannabis, 

subject to a stipulated threshold. Industrial hemp and nursery licences would also be issued as a subset 

of cultivation licences. Health Canada is considering a number of options for establishing and defining a 

“micro-cultivator” threshold, such as plant count, size of growing area, total production, or gross revenue. 

Part of the stated purpose of the Proposed Regulations is to solicit feedback from interested stakeholders 

regarding the most appropriate basis for determining what such threshold should be. 

 

The Proposed Regulations provide that all licences issued under the Cannabis Act (Canada) would be valid 

for a period of no more than five years and that no licensed activity could be conducted in a dwelling-

house. The Proposed Regulations also permit both outdoor and indoor cultivation of cannabis. 

 

Security Clearances 

It is proposed that select personnel (including individuals occupying a “key position”, such as directors, 

officers, significant shareholders and individuals identified by the Minister of Health) associated with 

certain licences issued under the Cannabis Act (Canada) would be required to hold a valid security 

clearance issued by the Minister of Health. The Proposed Regulations would permit the Minister of Health 
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to refuse to grant security clearances to individuals associated with organized crime or with past 

convictions for, or an association with, drug trafficking, corruption or violent offences. This is the approach 

currently in place under the ACMPR and other related regulations governing the licensed production of 

cannabis for medical purposes. 

 

Health Canada acknowledges in the Proposed Regulations that there are individuals who may have 

histories of non-violent, lower-risk criminal activity (for example, simple possession of cannabis, or small-

scale cultivation of cannabis plants) who may seek to obtain a security clearance so to participate in the 

legal cannabis industry. Under the Proposed Regulations, the Minister of Health is authorized to grant 

security clearances to any individual on a case-by-case basis. Part of the purpose of the Proposed 

Regulations is to solicit feedback from interested parties on the degree to which such individuals should 

be permitted to participate in the legal cannabis industry. 

 

Cannabis Tracking System 

 

As currently proposed under the Cannabis Act (Canada), the Minister of Health will be authorized to 

establish and maintain a national cannabis tracking system. The system will be to track cannabis 

throughout the supply chain to prevent the diversion of cannabis into, and out of, the legal market. The 

Proposed Regulations provide the Minister of Health with the authority to make ministerial orders 

requiring certain persons named in such order to report specific information about their authorized 

activities with cannabis, in the form and manner specified by the Minister. 

 

Cannabis Products 

The Proposed Regulations permit the sale to the public of dried cannabis, cannabis oil, fresh cannabis, 

cannabis plants, and cannabis seeds. It is proposed that the sale of edible cannabis products and 

concentrates (such as hashish, wax and vaping products) would only be permitted within one year 

following the coming into force of the Cannabis Act (Canada). 

 

The Proposed Regulations acknowledge that a range of product forms should be permitted to help the 

legal industry displace the illegal market. Additional product forms mentioned under the Proposed 

Regulations include “pre-rolled” cannabis and vaporization cartridges manufactured with dried cannabis. 

Specific details related to these new products are to be set out in a subsequent regulatory proposal. 

 

Packaging and Labelling 

The Proposed Regulations set out requirements pertaining to the packaging and labelling of cannabis 

products. Such requirements promote informed consumer choice and allow for the safe handling and 

transportation of cannabis. Consistent with the requirements under the ACMPR, the Proposed 

Regulations require all cannabis products to be packaged in a manner that is tamper-evident and child-

resistant. 

 

While minor allowances for branding would be permitted, Health Canada is proposing strict limits on the 

use of colours, graphics, and other special characteristics of packaging to curtail the appeal of cannabis 

products to youth. To ensure that consumers make informed decisions and to avoid misuse, products will 

be required to be labelled with specific information about the product, contain mandatory health 

warnings similar to tobacco products, and be marked with a clearly recognizable standardized cannabis 

symbol. 



24 

 

 

Cannabis for Medical Purposes 

The proposed medical access regulatory framework will remain substantively the same as currently exists 

under the ACMPR, with proposed amendments to create consistency with rules for non-medical use, 

improve patient access, and reduce the risk of abuse within the medical access system. 

 

Health Products and Cosmetics Containing Cannabis 

 

Health Canada is proposing a scientific, evidenced-based approach for the oversight of health products 

containing cannabis that are approved with health claims, including prescription and non-prescription 

drugs, natural health products, veterinary drugs and health products, and medical devices. Under the 

Proposed Regulations, the use of cannabis-derived ingredients in cosmetics, which is currently prohibited, 

will be permitted and subject to the provisions of the Cannabis Act (Canada). 

 

On November 27, 2017, the House of Commons passed the Cannabis Act (Canada), which proposes the 

enactment of the Cannabis Act (Canada) to legalize and regulate the production, distribution and sale of 

marijuana for unqualified adult use across Canada. The Cannabis Act (Canada) is expected to be 

implemented no later than the summer of 2018.   

 

On December 12, 2017, the Ontario government passed the Cannabis Act, 2017 (Ontario), to regulate the 

lawful use, sale and distribution of recreational marijuana in the Province of Ontario. The Cannabis Act, 

2017 (Ontario) will, among other things: 

 

• create a new provincial retailer, overseen by the LCBO, to manage the distribution of recreational 

marijuana through stand-alone stores and an LCBO-controlled online order and distribution 

service, These channels will be the only channels through which consumers will be able to legally 

purchase recreational marijuana; 

• set a minimum age of 19 to use, buy, possess and cultivate marijuana in Ontario; and  

• ban the use of marijuana in public places, workplaces and motor vehicles.  

 

Provincial governments from Alberta, British Columbia and New Brunswick have followed the Province of 

Ontario’s model to control the use, sale and distribution of marijuana. Specifics of their frameworks have 

not been confirmed and a period for public consultation has been implemented.  

 

On January 12, 2018, the Canadian Securities Administrators issued a statement following the rescission 

of the Cole Memorandum (as defined below), which indicated that it is considering whether its disclosure-

based approach for issuers with United States marijuana-related activities remains appropriate in light of 

the rescission of the Cole Memorandum. The Canadian Securities Administrators further noted that more 

details of their position would follow, but no further details have been provided as of the date of this 

MD&A.   

 

Regulatory Developments in the United States  

 

In the United States, marijuana is largely regulated at the state level. To the Company’s knowledge, there 

are to date a total of 29 states, plus the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico and Guam that have legalized 

marijuana in some form. Notwithstanding the permissive regulatory environment of medical marijuana 
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at the state level, marijuana continues to be categorized as a Schedule I controlled substance under the 

Controlled Substances Act of 1970 (the “CSA”) and as such, violates federal law in the United States. 

 

The United States has a complex regulatory landscape when it comes to medical marijuana. The CSA 

regulates the possession, importation, manufacture, distribution and dispensing of controlled substances 

under United States federal law. Under the CSA, controlled substances are classified into schedules based 

on their potential for abuse by a patient or other user. Marijuana is and always has been classified as a 

Schedule 1 substance under the CSA. Under the CSA, all Schedule 1 substances are subject to strict 

production quotas and, unlike drugs in other schedules, no medical prescription may be written for 

Schedule 1 substances. The CSA, does, however, permit the possession, manufacture, or distribution of 

marijuana or other Schedule 1 substances in furtherance of a government-approved research study. 

 

On August 29, 2013, the Deputy Attorney General, James Cole, authored a memorandum (the “Cole 

Memorandum”) directing that individuals and businesses that rigorously comply with state regulatory 

provisions in states that have strictly-regulated legalized medical or recreational marijuana programs 

should not be a prosecutorial priority for violations of federal law. The Cole Memorandum outlined certain 

priorities for the Department of Justice relating to the prosecution of cannabis offenses. In particular, the 

Cole Memorandum noted that in jurisdictions that have enacted laws legalizing marijuana in some form 

and that have also implemented strong and effective regulatory and enforcement systems to control the 

cultivation, distribution, sale and possession of marijuana, conduct in compliance with those laws and 

regulations is less likely to be a priority at the federal level. Notably, however, the Department of Justice 

has never provided specific guidelines for what regulatory and enforcement systems it deems sufficient 

under the Cole Memorandum standard. In light of limited investigative and prosecutorial resources, the 

Cole Memorandum concluded that the Department of Justice should be focused on addressing only the 

most significant threats related to marijuana. States where medical marijuana had been legalized were 

not characterized as a high priority.  

 

The United States Congress has passed appropriations bills each of the last three years that included the 

Rohrabacher Amendment Title: H.R.2578 — Commerce, Justice, Science, and Related Agencies 

Appropriations Act, 2016 (“Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment”), which by its terms does not 

appropriate any federal funds to the United States Department of Justice for the prosecution of medical 

marijuana offenses of individuals who are in compliance with state medical marijuana laws. This enacted 

legislation remains in force today. American courts have construed these appropriations bills to prevent 

the federal government from prosecuting individuals when those individuals comply with state law. 

However, because this conduct continues to violate federal law, American courts have observed that 

should Congress at any time choose to appropriate funds to fully prosecute the CSA, any individual or 

business—even those that have fully complied with state law—could be prosecuted for violations of 

federal law. If Congress restores funding, the United States government will have the authority to 

prosecute individuals for violations of the law before it lacked funding under the CSA’s five-year statute 

of limitations. 

 

In March 2017, newly appointed Attorney General Jeff Sessions again noted limited federal resources and 

acknowledged that much of the Cole Memorandum had merit; however, he disagreed that it had been 

implemented effectively and, on January 4, 2018, Attorney General Jeff Sessions issued a memorandum 

(the “Sessions Memorandum”) that rescinded the Cole Memorandum. The Sessions Memorandum 

rescinded previous nationwide guidance specific to the prosecutorial authority of United States Attorneys 

relative to marijuana enforcement on the basis that they are unnecessary, given the well-established 
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principles governing federal prosecution that are already in place.  Those principals are included in chapter 

9.27.000 of the United States Attorneys’ Manual and require federal prosecutors deciding which cases to 

prosecute to weigh all relevant considerations, including federal law enforcement priorities set by the 

Attorney General, the seriousness of the crime, the deterrent effect of criminal prosecution, and the 

cumulative impact of particular crimes on the community. 

 

As a result of the Sessions Memorandum, federal prosecutors will now be free to utilize their prosecutorial 

discretion to decide whether to prosecute marijuana activities despite the existence of state-level laws 

that may be inconsistent with federal prohibitions. No direction was given to federal prosecutors in the 

Sessions Memorandum as to the priority they should ascribe to such marijuana activities, and resultantly 

it is uncertain how actively federal prosecutors will be in relation to such activities. Furthermore, the 

Sessions Memorandum did not discuss the treatment of medical marijuana by federal prosecutors. 

Medical marijuana is currently protected against enforcement by enacted legislation from United States 

Congress in the form of the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment, which similarly prevents federal 

prosecutors from using federal funds to impede the implementation of medical marijuana laws enacted 

at the state level, subject to Congress restoring such funding. Due to the ambiguity of the Sessions 

Memorandum in relation to medical marijuana, there can be no assurance that the federal government 

will not seek to prosecute cases involving marijuana businesses that are otherwise compliant with state 

law. 

 

Subsequent to the issuance of the Sessions Memorandum on January 4, 2018, the United States 

Congress passed its omnibus appropriations bill, SJ 1662, which for the fourth consecutive year 

contained the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment language and continued the protections for the 

medical cannabis marketplace and its lawful participants from interference by the Department of Justice 

up and through the 2018 appropriations deadline of September 30, 2018. American courts have 

construed these appropriations bills to prevent the federal government from prosecuting individuals 

when those individuals comply with state law. However, because this conduct continues to violate 

federal law, American courts have observed that should Congress at any time choose to appropriate 

funds to fully prosecute the CSA, any individual or business—even those that have fully complied with 

state law—could be prosecuted for violations of federal law. If Congress restores funding, the United 

States government will have the authority to prosecute individuals for violations of the law before it 

lacked funding under the CSA’s five-year statute of limitations. 

Although recreational use of marijuana is criminalized at the state level, medical marijuana is now legal 

under the Florida Constitution. The process of legalization began in 2014, when the legislature for the 

State of Florida passed the Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act which legalized a non-euphoric strain of 

marijuana for medical use in Florida for certain patients with terminal illnesses and certain other 

conditions. In November 2016, Amendment 2 to the Florida Constitution was approved which expanded 

the reach of the Florida Constitution to include medical marijuana to treat twenty plus medical conditions 

and/or those conditions that a physician would opine could be alleviated with the use of medical 

marijuana. The Florida legislature was granted an opportunity to draft and pass legislation to implement 

Amendment 2 during the 2017 legislative session, and the legislature passed and the governor signed 

Senate Bill 8A, which is now codified as Fla. Stat 381.986 et seq.  The Florida Department of Health, Office 

of Medical Marijuana Use has also initiated its rule making process to create rules and regulations that 

implement section 381.986, and that process is ongoing. To date, several procedural and administrative 

rules have been enacted pertaining to pesticide use, penalties for statutory violations and other 

administrative matters. 
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The Company’s business and its association with the University through the pre-clinical and clinical trials 

of Scythian’s Combination Therapy, which includes the use and/or handling of marijuana as a Schedule 1 

substance, is in compliance with the laws in the State of Florida and the federal laws of the United States. 

The University was awarded a license from the Federal Drug Enforcement Agency to conduct the R&D 

Agreement as a government approved research project involving marijuana in accordance with the CSA. 

Additionally, neither Scythian nor the University are engaged in the cultivation or dispensing of medical 

marijuana to patients in Florida. The approach to enforcement of medical marijuana by both the State of 

Florida and the United States government is subject to change, and any such change in the laws relating 

to medical marijuana may adversely affect the Company.  
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Key Personnel 
 

Rob Reid, CEO, Director 

Jonathan Held, CFO 

Michael Barnes, Chief Medical Officer 

Maghsoud Dariani, Chief Scientific Officer 

 

Board of Directors 

 

Jonathan Gilbert 

Roger Rai 

Rob Reid 

George Scorsis 

 

Advisory Board 

Peter Levy 

Scott David Boruchov 

Renah Persofsky 

Jeffrey Freedman 

 

Pro Athlete Advisory Committee 

Bart Oates 

Ottis Jerome Anderson 

 

Endorsements 

Pro Football Legends 

World Boxing Association 

 

Additional information about the Company, including the Company’s Annual Information Form, is 

available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or http://scythianbio.com. 
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APPENDIX B 

FORM 51-102F6V – STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION – VENTURE ISSUERS 

Summary Compensation Table 

The following table (presented in accordance with Form 51-102F6V—Statement of Executive 
Compensation—Venture Issuers under National Instrument 51-102—Continuous Disclosure 
Obligations) sets out all direct and indirect compensation for, or in connection with, services provided to 
the Issuer and its subsidiaries for the two most recently completed financial years of the Issuer ended 
March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, in respect of the CEO, the CFO and the most highly compensated 
executive officer of the Issuer other than the CEO and CFO (collectively, the “Named Executive 
Officers” or “NEOs”), as well as the directors of the Issuer. 

 

TABLE OF COMPENSATION EXCLUDING COMPENSATION SECURITIES 

Name and Position Year 

Salary, 
Consulting 

Fee, 
Retainer or 

Commission 
($) 

Bonus 
($) 

Committee 
or Meeting 

Fees 
($) 

Value of 
Perquisites 

($) 

Value of all 
Other 

Compensation 

($) 

Total 
Compensation 

($) 

Jonathan Gilbert(1) 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Director  

2018 

2017 

176,519 

- - - 

18,642 

- - 

195,161 

- 

Jonathan Held(1) 
Chief Financial Officer 

2018 

2017 

80,000 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

80,000 

- 

David Schrader(1)(2) 

Chief Operating Officer 

2018 

2017 

129,359 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

18,642 

- 

425,647 

- 

573,648 

- 

Patrick Mohan(11) 
President, Chief Executive 
Officer and Director 

2018  

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Arvin Ramos(12) 
Chief Financial Officer 

2018  

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Roger Rai(1)(3) 

Director 

2018 

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Gary Leong(1)(4) 

Director 

2018 

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Michael Petter(1)(5) 
Director 

2018 

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Peter Benz(1)(6) 

Director 

2018 

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Victor Neufeld(7) 

Director 

2018 

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

George Scorsis(8) 

Director, Chairman 

2018 

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

30,000 

- 

- 

- 

Renah Persofsky(9) 

Director 

2018 

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Rob Reid(10) 

Director 

2018 

2017 

53,240 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

53,240 

- 

James Fairbairn 
Director 

2018  

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Richard Kellam 

Director 

2018  

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 
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TABLE OF COMPENSATION EXCLUDING COMPENSATION SECURITIES 

Name and Position Year 

Salary, 
Consulting 

Fee, 
Retainer or 

Commission 
($) 

Bonus 
($) 

Committee 
or Meeting 

Fees 
($) 

Value of 
Perquisites 

($) 

Value of all 
Other 

Compensation 

($) 

Total 
Compensation 

($) 

Andrew Budning 

Director 

2018  

2017 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

        

Notes 

(1) Mr. Gilbert, Mr. Held, Mr. Schrader, Mr. Rai, Mr. Leong, Mr. Petter and Mr. Benz were appointed as directors and officer of the Issuer 
on August 1, 2017 following the RTO Transaction. Mr. Gilbert resigned as Chief Executive Officer on April 25, 2018 and resigned as 
a director on August 1, 2018. 

(2) Mr. Schrader resigned as Chief Operating Officer on March 29, 2018.  
(3) Mr. Rai resigned as director on March 7, 2018 and was subsequently re-appointed as a director on April 25, 2018. He served in such 

capacity for 7 months of the most recently completed financial year.  
(4) Mr. Leong resigned as director on March 7, 2018. He served in such capacity for 7 months of the most recently completed financial 

year. 
(5) Mr. Petter resigned as a director on January 15, 2018. He served in such capacity for 6 months of the most recently completed 

financial year.  
(6) Mr. Benz resigned as a director on January 15, 2018. He served in such capacity for 6 months of the most recently completed 

financial year.  
(7) Mr. Neufeld was appointed as director on January 15, 2018 and subsequently resigned on April 24, 2018. He served in such capacity 

for 3 months of the most recently completed financial year.  
(8) Mr. Scorsis was appointed as director on January 15, 2018. He served in such capacity for 3 months of the most recently completed 

financial year.  
(9) Ms. Persofsky was appointed as director on March 7, 2018 and subsequently resigned on April 24, 2018.  
(10) Mr. Reid was appointed as director on March 7, 2018.  
(11) Mr. Patrick Mohan resigned as President, CEO and director on February 28, 2017.  
(12) Mr. Arvin Ramos resigned as CFO effective August 2, 2017. He served in such capacity for 4 months of the most recently completed 

financial year.  

Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities 

(a) The following table discloses all compensation securities granted or issued to each director and 
named executive officer of the Issuer for the most recently completed financial year ended March 
31, 2018. 

COMPENSATION SECURITIES  

Name and Position 

Number of 
Compensation 

Securities, Number of 
Underlying Securities, 

and Percentage of 
Class 

Date of Issue or 
Grant 

Issue, 
Conversion 
or Exercise 

Price  

Closing 
Price of 

Security or 
Underlying 
Security on 

Date of 
Grant(1) 

Closing 
Price of 

Security or 
Underlying 
Security at 
Year End Expiry Date 

Jonathan Gilbert(1) 
Chief Executive 
Officer, Director 

200,000 options 

200,000 Common 
Shares 

(10.70%) 

August 1, 2017 $2.00 $2.00 N/A August 1, 2022 

125,000 DSUs 

125,000 Common 
Shares 

(9.19%) 

August 1, 2017 N/A $2.00 N/A N/A 

35,000 options 

35,000 Common Shares 

(1.87%) 

December 11, 
2017 

$2.16 $2.16 N/A 
December 11, 

2022 
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COMPENSATION SECURITIES  

Name and Position 

Number of 
Compensation 

Securities, Number of 
Underlying Securities, 

and Percentage of 
Class 

Date of Issue or 
Grant 

Issue, 
Conversion 
or Exercise 

Price  

Closing 
Price of 

Security or 
Underlying 
Security on 

Date of 
Grant(1) 

Closing 
Price of 

Security or 
Underlying 
Security at 
Year End Expiry Date 

165,000 DSUs 

165,000 Common 
Shares 

(12.13%) 

December 11, 
2017 

N/A $2.16 N/A N/A 

Jonathan Held(2) 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

50,000 DSUs 

50,000 Common Shares 

(3.68%) 

August 1, 2017 N/A $2.00 N/A N/A 

60,000 DSUs 

60,000 Common Shares 

(4.41%) 

December 11, 
2017 

N/A $2.16 N/A N/A 

80,000 options 

80,000 Common Shares 

(4.28%) 

March 8, 2018 $5.28 $5.28 N/A March 8, 2023 

David Schrader(3) 

Chief Operating 
Officer 

50,000 options 

50,000 Common Shares 

(2.67%) 

August 1, 2017 $2.00 $2.00 N/A August 1, 2022 

Roger Rai(4) 

Director 

100,000 DSUs 

100,000 Common 
Shares 

(7.35%) 

August 1, 2017 N/A $2.00 N/A N/A 

Gary Leong(5) 
Director 

100,000 DSUs 

100,000 Common 
Shares 

(7.35%) 

August 1, 2017 N/A $2.00 N/A N/A 

Michael Petter(6) 

Director 

20,000 DSUs 

20,000 Common Shares 

(1.47%) 

August 1, 2017 N/A $2.00 N/A N/A 

80,000 DSUs 

80,000 Commons 
Shares 

(5.88%) 

August 10, 2017 N/A $2.00 N/A N/A 

Peter Benz(7) 

Director 

50,000 DSUs 

50,000 Common Shares 

(3.68%) 

August 1, 2017 N/A $2.00 N/A N/A 

50,000 DSUs 

12,500 Common Shares 

(3.68%) 

August 10, 2017 N/A $2.00 N/A N/A 

Victor Neufeld(8) 

Director 

160,000 options 

160,000 Common 
Shares 

(8.56%) 

January 15, 
2018 

$4.66 $4.66 N/A 
January 15, 

2023 

140,000 options 

140,000 Common 
Shares 

(7.49%) 

March 8, 2018 $5.28 $5.28 N/A March 8, 2023 
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COMPENSATION SECURITIES  

Name and Position 

Number of 
Compensation 

Securities, Number of 
Underlying Securities, 

and Percentage of 
Class 

Date of Issue or 
Grant 

Issue, 
Conversion 
or Exercise 

Price  

Closing 
Price of 

Security or 
Underlying 
Security on 

Date of 
Grant(1) 

Closing 
Price of 

Security or 
Underlying 
Security at 
Year End Expiry Date 

200,000 DSUs 

200,000 Common 
Shares 

(14.71%) 

March 8, 2018 N/A $5.28 N/A N/A 

George Scorsis(9) 

Director 

120,000 options 

120,000 Common 
Shares 

(6.42%) 

January 15, 
2018 

$4.66 $4.66 N/A 
January 15, 

2023 

80,000 options 

80,000 Common Shares 

(4.28%) 

March 8, 2018 $5.28 $5.28 N/A March 8, 2023 

120,000 DSUs 

120,000 Common 
Shares 

(8.82%) 

March 8, 2018 N/A $5.28 N/A N/A 

Renah Persofsky(10) 

Director  

120,000 options 

120,000 Common 
Shares 

(6.42%) 

January 15, 
2018 

$4.66 $4.66 N/A 
January 15, 

2023 

80,000 options 

80,000 Common Shares 

(4.28%) 

March 8, 2018 $5.28 $5.28 N/A March 8, 2023 

120,000 DSUs 

120,000 Common 
Shares 

(8.82%) 

March 8, 2018 N/A $5.28 N/A N/A 

Maghsoud Dariani(11) 

Chief Science Officer 

100,000 options 

100,000 Common 
Shares 

(5.35%) 

September 18, 
2017 

$2.00 1.44 N/A 
September 18, 

2022 

Notes: 

(1) Mr. Gilbert was issued an aggregate of 235,000 options and 290,000 DSUs. Each option is exercisable into one Common Share and 
each DSU is convertible into one previously unissued Common Share or cash equivalent for each whole vested DSU held. The 200,000 
options vest and become exercisable as follows: (i) 66,672 options vest on August 1, 2017; (ii) 66,672 options vest on August 1, 2018; 
and (iii) 66,656 options vest on August 1, 2019. All 200,000 options vest upon a change of control of the Issuer. All 35,000 options 
vested on issuance. 125,000 DSUs are subject to the terms and conditions of a Form 5D – Surplus Security Escrow Agreement (the 
“Surplus Escrow Agreement”) with the Issuer and TSX Trust Company (the “Escrow Agent”) dated August 3, 2017.  Under the terms 
of the Surplus Escrow Agreement, 5% of the Surplus Escrow Securities were released from escrow on September 6, 2017, with an 
additional 5% released on the date 6 months following August 4, 2017 – the date of the final TSXV bulletin (the “Bulletin”), an additional 
10% released on the dates 12 and 18 months following the date of the Bulletin, an additional 15% released on the dates 24 and 30 
months following the date of the Bulletin, and an additional 40% released on the date 36 months following the date of the Bulletin. 

(2) Mr. Held was issued an aggregate of 110,000 DSUs and 80,000 options. Each DSU is convertible into one previously unissued Common 
Share or cash equivalent for each whole vested DSU held. 50,000 DSUs are subject to the terms and conditions of the Surplus Escrow 
Agreement.  

(3) Mr. Schrader owns an aggregate of 300,000 options. Each option is exercisable into one Common Share. 250,000 options are fully 
vested. 50,000 options vest and become exercisable as follows: (i) 16,664 options vest on August 1, 2017; (ii) 16,664 options vest on 
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August 1, 2018; and (iii) 16,672 options vest on August 1, 2019. All 50,000 options vest upon a change of control of the Issuer.  250,000 
options are subject to the terms and conditions of the Surplus Escrow Agreement.  

(4) Mr. Rai was issued an aggregate of 100,000 DSUs. Each DSU is convertible into one previously unissued Common Share or cash 
equivalent for each whole vested DSU held. The 100,000 DSUs are subject to the terms and conditions of the Surplus Escrow 
Agreement. 100,000 DSUs were converted into Common Shares on March 8, 2018. 

(5) Mr. Leong was issued an aggregate of 100,000 DSUs. Each DSU is convertible into one previously unissued Common Share or cash 
equivalent for each whole vested DSU held. The 100,000 DSUs are subject to the terms and conditions of the Surplus Escrow 
Agreement. 

(6) Mr. Petter was issued an aggregate of 100,000 DSUs. Each DSU is convertible into one previously unissued Common Share or cash 
equivalent for each whole vested DSU held. 20,000 DSUs are subject to the terms and conditions of the Surplus Escrow Agreement. 
100,000 DSUs were converted to Common Shares following Mr. Petter’s resignation on January 15, 2018. 

(7) Mr. Benz was issued an aggregate of 100,000 DSUs. Each DSU is convertible into one previously unissued Common Share or cash 
equivalent for each whole vested DSU held. 50,000 DSUs are subject to the terms and conditions of the Surplus Escrow Agreement. 
100,000 DSUs were converted to Common Shares following Mr. Benz’s resignation on January 15, 2018. 

(8) Mr. Neufeld was issued an aggregate of 300,000 options and 200,000 DSU’s. Each DSU is convertible into one previously unissued 
Common Share or cash equivalent for each whole vested DSU held. Each option is exercisable for one Common Share. 206,664 options 
were fully vested at March 31, 2018. Following Mr. Neufeld’s resignation as director on April 25, 2018, Mr. Neufeld forfeited all 200,000 
DSUs.  

(9) Mr. Scorsis owns an aggregate of 200,000 options and 120,000 DSUs. Each DSU is convertible into one previously unissued Common 
Share or cash equivalent for each whole vested DSU held.  Each option is exercisable for one Common Share. 120,000 options are 
fully vested.  

(10) Ms. Persofsky owns an aggregate of 200,000 options and 120,000 DSUs. Each DSU is convertible into one previously unissued 
Common Share or cash equivalent for each whole vested DSU held.  Each option is exercisable for one Common Share. 146,664 
options were fully vested at March 31, 2018.. Following Ms. Persofsky’s resignation on April 25, 2014, Ms. Persofsky forfeited all 200,000 
options and 120,000 DSUs.  

(11) Mr. Dariani owns an aggregate of 100,000 options. Each option is exercisable for one Common Share. None of the 100,000 options 
were fully vested as at March 31, 2018. 

No director or NEO exercised any compensation securities during the most recently completed 
financial year ended March 31, 2018.  

Stock Option Plans and Other Incentive Plans 

The Stock Option Plan is a “rolling” stock option plan which was approved by the shareholders on May 
31, 2017. The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to, among other things, encourage Common Share 
ownership in the Issuer by directors, officers, employees and persons engaged to provide ongoing 
management and consulting services (“service providers”). The number of Common Shares reserved 
for issue under the Stock Option Plan may not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common 
Shares of the Issuer at any given time. The options granted under the Stock Option Plan are non-
assignable and may be granted for a term not exceeding ten years. Options may be granted under the 
Stock Option Plan only to directors, officers, employees and other service providers subject to the rules 
and regulations of applicable regulatory authorities and any Canadian stock exchange upon which the 
Common Shares may be listed or may trade from time to time. The exercise price of options issued 
under the Stock Option Plan may not be less than the market price of the Common Shares at the time 
the option is granted, subject to any discounts permitted by applicable legislative and regulatory 
requirements. 
 
The Stock Option Plan contains the following restrictions as to insider and individual eligibility 
thereunder: (i) the maximum number of Common Shares which may be reserved for issuance to insiders 
under the Stock Option Plan, any other employer stock option plans or options for services, shall be 
10% of the Common Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the grant (on a non-diluted basis); 
(ii) the maximum number of options which may be granted to insiders under the Stock Option Plan, any 
other employer stock option plans or options for services, within any 12 month period, shall be 10% of 
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the Common Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the grant (on a non-diluted basis); and (iii) 
the maximum number of Common Shares which may be issued to any one optionee, together with any 
other previously established or proposed share compensation arrangements, within a one year period 
shall be 5% of the Common Shares outstanding at the time of the grant (on a non-diluted basis). The 
maximum number of stock options which may be granted to any one consultant under the Stock Option 
Plan, any other employer stock options plans or options for services, within any 12 month period, must 
not exceed 2% of the Common Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the grant (on a non-diluted 
basis). The maximum number of stock options which may be granted to “investor relations persons” 
under the Stock Option Plan, any other employer stock options plans or options for services, within any 
12 month period must not exceed, in the aggregate, 2% of the Common Shares issued and outstanding 
at the time of the grant (on a non-diluted basis). 
 
Description of the DSU Plan 
 
The DSU Plan, which was last approved by the Issuer’s shareholders on March 7, 2018, is intended to 
strengthen the alignment of interests between DSU Participants and the Shareholders by linking a 
portion of annual compensation, as determined by the Board, from time to time, to the future value of 
the Common Shares. In addition, the DSU Plan was adopted for the purpose of advancing the interests 
of the Issuer through the motivation, attraction and retention of directors, officers and employees of the 
Issuer and its affiliates, it being generally recognized that the DSU Plan will aid in attracting, retaining 
and encouraging director, officer and employee commitment and performance due to the opportunity 
offered to them to receive compensation in line with the value of the Common Shares.  
 
Pursuant to the DSU Plan, the Board may, from time to time, in its discretion and in accordance with 
TSXV requirements, grant DSU Participants deferred share units of the Issuer DSUs, representing the 
right of the DSU Participant to receive one previously unissued Common Share or cash equivalent (a 
“DSU Payment”) for each whole vested DSU held by such DSU Participant. 
 
The maximum number of Common Shares issuable pursuant to outstanding DSUs shall be limited to 
10% of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Common Shares, less the number of Common 
Shares issuable pursuant to all other security based compensation arrangements.  
 
Under the terms of the DSU Plan, unless the Issuer has received disinterested shareholder approval to 
do so, the number of Common Shares issuable to insiders, at any time, under all security based 
compensation arrangements shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares. 
 
Under the terms of the DSU Plan, unless the Issuer has received disinterested shareholder approval to 
do so, the number of Common Shares issuable to insiders, within any one year period, under all security 
based compensation arrangements shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common 
Shares. 
 
Subject to the terms of the DSU Plan and the compensation policies of the Issuer, the number of DSUs 
to be granted and issued to each DSU Participant on each DSU Grant Date shall be calculated by 
reference to (i) the dollar amount of the DSU Participant’s remuneration as determined by the Board or 
the Issuer for the year that will be satisfied by such DSUs, and (ii) the last closing price of the Common 
Shares immediately prior to the relevant DSU Grant Date. The Board may, subject to applicable 
securities laws, also make additional determinations from time to time with respect to the number of 
DSUs to be issued, and the DSU Grant Date of DSUs to new DSU Participants appointed or hired from 
time to time, as the case may be. On each DSU Grant Date, the number of DSUs so determined by the 
Board shall be granted by the Issuer to such DSU Participant without any further action being required 
by any of them. 
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Upon a DSU Participant’s death, or retirement from, or loss of office or employment with the Issuer (the 
“Termination Date”), the Issuer shall satisfy the DSU Payment for such DSU Participant by either (i) 
issuing to such DSU Participant one Common Share for each vested outstanding DSU held by such 
DSU Participant on such relevant Termination Date, or (ii) paying an amount in cash equivalent to the 
number of outstanding DSUs held by such DSU Participant multiplied by the last closing price of the 
Common Shares immediately prior to the Termination Date for such DSU Participant, subject to 
applicable deductions. Where DSUs have been granted to a DSU Participant with reference to his or 
her remuneration for a year, in the event such DSU Participant resigns or is otherwise no longer eligible 
under the DSU Plan, as the case may be, during that year, such DSUs will only partially vest and the 
DSU Participant will only be entitled to a pro-rated DSU Payment in respect of such DSUs. 
 
The aggregate number of Common Shares issuable to all DSU Participants retained to provide activities, 
by or on behalf of the Issuer or a shareholder, that promote or could reasonably be expected to promote 
the sale of securities of the Issuer pursuant to the DSU Plan (or any other security-based compensation 
plans, including the Issuer’s Stock Option Plan) must not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding 
Common Shares in any 12 month period, calculated at the DSU Grant Date. In addition, unless the 
Issuer has received disinterested shareholder approval to do so, (i) the aggregate number of Common 
Shares issuable to insiders, at any time, under all compensation plans, shall not exceed 10% of the 
outstanding Common Shares; (ii) the aggregate number of Common Shares issuable to insiders in any 
12-month period under all security based compensation plans, shall not exceed 10% of the outstanding 
Common Shares. 
 
Under no circumstances shall DSUs be considered Common Shares nor shall they entitle any DSU 
Participant to exercise voting rights or any other rights attaching to the ownership of common shares of 
the Issuer nor shall any DSU Participant be considered a shareholder by virtue of the award of DSUs. 
 
The rights or interests of a DSU Participant under the DSU Plan are not assignable or transferable, 
otherwise than by will or the laws governing the devolution of property in the event of death. Further, 
such rights or interests are not to be encumbered. 
 
The Board of Directors may from time to time amend, suspend or terminate the DSU Plan in whole or 
in part without further shareholder approval; however, the DSU Plan sets out what the Board may and 
may not do, without obtaining the approval of shareholders, in respect of amendments to the DSU Plan. 

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements 

Effective May 1, 2018, the Issuer entered into a consulting agreement with Adroit Services, Ltd. for the 
services of Jonathan Gilbert to provide for the management of the University of Miami’s research 
program as well as other administrative services. The term of the agreement commences May 1, 2018 
and continues on a month-to-month basis until terminated.  The consulting agreement provides for a 
monthly retainer fee of $10,000 which is prorated for partial months of services. In the event the 
consulting agreement is terminated for material breach, convenience or the consulting agreement is 
terminated by the consultant or is terminated as a result of the consultant’s death or disability, then: (a) 
any fees and related taxes accrued will be paid out; (b) entitlement to us the Issuer’s supplied equipment, 
vehicle or device ill end; (c) the Issuer’s property will be returned; (d) all electronically-stored confidential 
information or invention will be transferred to the Issuer; (e) reimbursable expenses and related taxes 
will be paid; (f) the consultant will resign as a director of the Issuer; and (g) the consultant will not be 
entitled to any other notice or compensation/damages in lieu of notice or any other compensation or 
entitlements of any nature. 

Effective August 1, 2017, the Issuer entered into an employment agreement with Jonathan Gilbert which 
has an initial term of three (3) years, as well as automatic renewals for subsequent terms of one (1) year 
unless either party provides a notice of non-renewal, and provides for his employment as Chief 
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Executive Officer. The agreement provides Mr. Gilbert with an annual base salary of $250,000, 
increasing $20,000 annually, an annual bonus equal to the greater of (i) 0.5% of the Issuer’s gross 
revenue for each calendar year or portion thereof during which Mr. Gilbert is employed up to and 
including his employment termination date or (ii) 15% of Mr. Gilbert's annual base salary for the 
concluding year, and participation in stock option and/or equity stock ownership programs for ownership 
in the Issuer. The agreement protects Mr. Gilbert’s base salary against foreign exchange risk. Mr. Gilbert 
will receive a bonus of $50,000 upon (i) any new drug research and development program instituted by 
the Issuer, and (b) the grant of an IND by the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) in 
connection with each drug development project. Mr. Gilbert will also receive a bonus of $100,000 for 
each drug development project that results in the Issuer being awarded a new drug application (“NDA”) 
by the US FDA.  

Mr. Gilbert's agreement provides for severance and constructive dismissal pay (“Termination 
Compensation”) of 18 months' compensation in accordance with the terms of the agreement. Mr. 
Gilbert's Termination Compensation will increase by 1 month for each year of service completed after 
the second anniversary date of the Executive Consultant Agreement between the Issuer and Adroit 
Services Ltd. dated December 4, 2014, with maximum Termination Compensation of 24 months. Any 
lock-up restrictions Mr. Gilbert has agreed to relating to the sale of stock and options will be released 
on termination of his employment with the Issuer. Mr. Gilbert’s employment agreement contemplates 
that if Mr. Gilbert spend more than 10% of his business hours at a location other than his principal 
location that a change of control will become effective upon a change of control.   

Effective August 1, 2017, the Issuer entered into an employment agreement with David Schrader which 
has an initial term of three (3) years, as well as automatic renewals for subsequent terms of one (1) year 
unless either party provides a notice of non-renewal, and provides for his employment as Chief 
Operating Officer. The agreement provides for compensation with respect to Mr. Schrader's annual 
base salary of $180,000, increasing $20,000 annually, an annual bonus equal to the greater of (i) 0.5% 
of the Issuer’s gross revenue for each calendar year or portion thereof during which Mr. Schrader is 
employed up to and including his employment termination date or (ii) 15% of Mr. Schrader's annual 
base salary for the concluding year, and participation stock option and/or equity stock ownership 
programs for ownership in the Issuer. The agreement protects Mr. Schrader’s base salary against 
foreign exchange risk. Mr. Schrader will receive a bonus of $50,000 upon (i) any new drug research and 
development program instituted by the Issuer, and (b) the grant of an IND by the United States FDA in 
connection with each drug development project. Mr. Schrader will also receive a bonus of $100,000 for 
each drug development project that results in the Issuer being awarded an NDA by the United States 
FDA. 

Mr. Schrader's agreement provides for Termination Compensation of 18 months' compensation in 
accordance with the terms of the agreement. Mr. Schrader’s Termination Compensation will increase 
by 1 month for each year of service completed after the second anniversary date of the Executive 
Consultant Agreement between the Issuer and Haven, Astor & Block, LLC dated April 1, 2015, with 
maximum Termination Compensation of 24 months. Any lock-up restrictions Mr. Schrader has agreed 
to relating to the sale of stock and options will be released on termination of his employment with the 
Issuer. Mr.  Schrader’s employment agreement is silent as to a change of control. 

Effective August 1, 2017, the Issuer entered into a consulting agreement with ALOE Finance Inc. for the 
services of Jonathan Held to act as the Chief Financial Officer. The term of the agreement is one (1) 
year and automatically renews for subsequent one (1) year periods unless either the Issuer or ALOE 
Finance Inc. provides a notice of non-renewal. The consulting agreement provides for a monthly retainer 
fee of $10,000 which is prorated for partial months of services. In the event the Issuer declines to renew 
the term of the agreement or terminates the agreement for convenience, or ALOE Finance terminates 
the agreement upon a change of control of the Issuer, ALOE Finance will be entitled to a termination 
fee equal to six (6) months’ retainer fees. Any lock-up restrictions Mr. Held has agreed to relating to the 
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sale of stock and options will be released on termination of the consulting agreement. In the event of a 
change of control or termination of the agreement, except termination for material breach, all unvested 
equity based compensation will immediately vest and become exercisable. If the agreement is 
terminated following a change of control or for convenience the equity based compensation will be 
exercisable until the earlier of (i) the first anniversary of the termination date, and (ii) the natural expiry 
of the equity based compensation. 

Oversight and Description of Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation 

Compensation of Directors 

Directors of the Issuer do not receive any compensation for attending meetings of the Board, committees 
of the Board and shareholders meetings. Other than stock options and DSUs to purchase Common 
Shares, which are granted to the Issuer’s directors from time to time, the Issuer does not have any 
arrangements pursuant to which directors are remunerated by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries for 
their services in their capacities as directors, consultants or experts.  

Compensation of Named Executive Officers 

Principles of Executive Compensation 

The Issuer believes in linking an individual’s compensation to his or her performance and contribution 
as well as to the performance of the Issuer as a whole. The primary components of the Issuer’s executive 
compensation are base salary and option-based awards. The Board believes that the mix between base 
salary and incentives must be reviewed and tailored to each executive based on their role within the 
organization as well as their own personal circumstances. The overall goal is to successfully link 
compensation to the interests of the shareholders. The following principles form the basis of the Issuer’s 
executive compensation program: 

1. align interest of executives and shareholders; 

2. attract and motivate executives who are instrumental to the success of the Issuer and the 
enhancement of shareholder value; 

3. pay for performance; 

4. ensure compensation methods have the effect of retaining those executives whose 
performance has enhanced the Issuer’s long term value; and 

5. connect, if possible, the Issuer’s employees into principles 1 through 4 above. 

The Board is responsible for the Issuer’s compensation policies and practices. The Board has the 
responsibility to review and make recommendations concerning the compensation of the directors of 
the Issuer and the Named Executive Officers within the constraints of the agreements described under 
“Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements”. The Board also has the responsibility to make 
recommendations concerning annual bonuses and grants to eligible persons under the Stock Option 
Plan. The Board also reviews and approves the hiring of executive officers. 

Base Salary 

The Board approves the salary ranges for the Named Executive Officers. At the current stage of the 
Issuer’s development, salaries have been determined by Board discussion without any formal targeted 
objectives. Going forward, the base salary review for each Named Executive Officer will be based on 
assessment of factors such as current competitive market conditions, compensation levels within the 
peer group and particular skills, such as leadership ability and management effectiveness, experience, 



TOR_LAW\ 9537987\6 

 
 

responsibility and proven or expected performance of the particular individual. Comparative data for the 
Issuer’s peer group will also be accumulated from a number of external sources including independent 
consultants. The Issuer’s policy for determining salary for executive officers is consistent with the 
administration of salaries for all other employees. 

Annual Incentives 

Other than as disclosed in Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements, the Issuer, in its 
discretion, may award such incentives in order to motivate executives to achieve short-term corporate 
goals. The Board approves annual incentives. 

The success of Named Executive Officers in achieving their individual objectives and their contribution 
to the Issuer in reaching its overall goals are factors in the determination of their annual bonus. The 
Board assesses each Named Executive Officers’ performance on the basis of his or her respective 
contribution to the achievement of the predetermined corporate objectives, as well as to needs of the 
Issuer that arise on a day to day basis. This assessment is used by the Board in developing its 
recommendations with respect to the determination of annual bonuses for the Named Executive 
Officers. 

Long Term Compensation 

The Issuer currently has no long-term incentive plans, other than stock options and DSUs granted from 
time to time by the Board under the provisions of the Stock Option Plan and the DSU Plan. 

Pension Disclosure 

There are no pension plan benefits in place for the Named Executive Officers or the directors of the 
Issuer.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Shareholders and Directors of Scythian Biosciences Inc.: 

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Scythian Biosciences Inc. (the “Company”), 
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, and the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended March 
31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, and the related notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements).  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the Company as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  

Basis for Opinion 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.  

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Those standards also require that we comply with ethical 
requirements, including independence. We are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, the U.S. 
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
PCAOB. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB.  

An audit includes performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatements of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures 
include obtaining and examining, on a test basis, audit evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud. In making those 
risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. The Company is not 
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion.  

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies and principles used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable 
basis for our audit opinion. 

                                                                                                                                    
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016. 

Toronto, Ontario 

July 27, 2018 
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“Jonathan Gilbert”______________   “Roger Rai”________ 

Jonathan Gilbert     Roger Rai 

  

Scythian Biosciences Corp. (Formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

As at March 31, 2018 and 2017

Expressed in Canadian Dollars

Note March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash 822,397$                   1,090,767$              

Short-term investments 4 31,341,836                -                           

Other receivables 4, 10 383,478                     9,979                       

Prepaid expenses 12 2,556,010                  871,907                   

Total current assets 35,103,721                1,972,653               

Plant and equipment 6 -                              759,682                   

Total assets 35,103,721$              2,732,335$              

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7 1,822,582$                1,931,317$              

Deferred share unit liabilities 8 4,416,000                  -                           

Total liabilities 6,238,582                  1,931,317               

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Capital stock 8 52,116,837                6,216,198               

Contributed surplus 8 9,601,674                  1,506,806               

Deficit (32,853,372)               (6,921,986)               

Total shareholders' equity 28,865,139                801,018                   

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 35,103,721$              2,732,335$              

Nature and continuance of operations – Note 1 

Commitments – Notes 12 and 13 

Comparative Figures – Note 18 

Subsequent events – Note 19 
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Scythian Biosciences Corp. (Formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.)

Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss

For the years ended March 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016

Expressed in Canadian Dollars

Note 2018 2017 2016

OPERATING EXPENSES

Research and development 12 3,137,653$                1,038,020$                -$                            

Salaries and wages 7, 8b, 8d 7,253,931                   1,098,941                   1,932,883                   

Professional fees 1,066,855                   318,608                      390,687                      

Consulting 7, 8b 1,209,649                   161,010                      434,278                      

Advertising and public relations 742,280                      8,568                          9,457                          

Office and general 303,354                      34,130                         52,334                         

Travel 181,977                      20,433                         41,836                         

Depreciation 6 -                              -                               -                               

Foreign exchange (gain) loss 27,770                         14,605                         (4,917)                          

13,923,469                 2,694,315                   2,856,558                   

OPERATING LOSS BEFORE THE FOLLOWING ITEMS (13,923,469)                (2,694,315)                  (2,856,558)                  

Interest income (expense) 4, 14 141,054                      (49,278)                       27,028                         

Change in fair value of deferred share units 8d (1,780,637)                  -                               -                               

Listing expenses 5 (9,990,840)                  -                               -                               

Loss on settlement of promissory note receivable 9 -                               -                               (36,229)                       

Loss on disposal of subsidiary 10 (234,675)                     -                               -                               

Net loss and comprehensive loss from continuing operations (25,788,567)                (2,743,593)                  (2,865,759)                  

Net loss and comprehensive loss from discontinued operations 10 (142,819)                     (232,471)                     (192,776)                     

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (25,931,386)$             (2,976,064)$                (3,058,535)$                

Loss per share

Basic and diluted - continuing operations 11 (1.60)$                         (0.88)$                         (1.77)$                         

Basic and diluted - discontinued operations 11 (0.01)$                         (0.07)$                         (0.12)$                         

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic and diluted 11 16,109,438                 3,117,872                   1,614,680                   

For the year ended March 31,



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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Scythian Biosciences Corp. (Formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

For the year ended March 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016

Expressed in Canadian Dollars

Note Number Share Capital 

Contributed 

Surplus

Other Capital 

Reserves Deficit

Balance, March 31, 2015 1,180,756        1,298,027$         -$                   262,494$           (887,387)$            673,134$                

Issuance of common shares 635,100            2,294,257           -                     (262,494)            -                        2,031,763               

Redemption of common shares 9 (17,000)             (85,000)               -                     -                      -                        (85,000)                    

Subscriptions received -                    -                       -                     20,000               -                        20,000                     

Share-based compensation 8 -                    -                       939,708            -                      -                        939,708                   

Net loss -                    -                       -                     -                      (3,058,535)           (3,058,535)              

Balance, March 31, 2016 1,798,856        3,507,284$         939,708$          20,000$             (3,945,922)$         521,070$                

Issuance of common shares - for cash 8 9,499,352         3,447,845           -                     (20,000)              -                        3,427,845               

less; share issue costs 8 -                    (748,931)             483,600            -                      -                        (265,331)                 

Issuance of common shares- for services 8 200,000            10,000                 -                     -                      -                        10,000                     

Share based compensation 8 -                    -                       83,498               -                      -                        83,498                     

Net loss -                    -                       -                     -                      (2,976,064)           (2,976,064)              

Balance, March 31, 2017 11,498,208      6,216,198$         1,506,806$       -$                   (6,921,986)$         801,018$                

Subscriptions receipts, net of costs -                    -                       -                     12,196,191        -                        12,196,191             

Shares issued on conversion of subscription receipts 8 6,642,500        13,285,000         -                     (13,285,000)      -                        -                           

       Share issuance costs -                    (1,128,383)          -                     1,088,809          -                        (39,574)                    

Settlement of accrued wages with related parties 7 -                    -                       669,388            -                      -                        669,388                   

Share issuance - RTO 5 2,642,264        5,284,528           3,886,447         -                      -                        9,170,975               

Finder's fee 5 198,800           397,600              -                     -                      -                        397,600                   

Shares issued for settlement of accounts payable 7 50,000              100,000              819,245            -                      -                        919,245                   

Issuance of common shares - for cash 8a 6,183,544        28,753,480         -                     -                      -                        28,753,480             

less; share issue costs -                    (4,660,769)          1,808,117         -                      -                        (2,852,652)              

Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants 8 973,608           1,957,182           (1,171,083)        -                      -                        786,099                   

Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of options 52,664              143,001              (38,673)             -                      -                        104,328                   

Share based compensation 8 -                    -                       2,121,427         -                      -                        2,121,427               

Disposition of Go Green 10 (108,000)           (189,000)             -                     -                      -                        (189,000)                 

Deferred share units 8d 400,000            1,958,000           -                     -                      -                        1,958,000               

Net loss -                    -                       -                     -                      (25,931,386)         (25,931,386)            

Balance, March 31, 2018 28,533,588      52,116,837$       9,601,674$       -$                   (32,853,372)$      28,865,139$           

Total 

Shareholders' 

Equity
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Supplemental Cash Flow Information – Note 14 

  

Scythian Biosciences Corp. (Formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016

Expressed in Canadian Dollars

Note 2018 2017 2016

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

 Net loss from continuing operations (25,788,567)$          (2,743,593)$           (2,865,759)$           

Net loss from discontinued operations (142,819)                  (232,471)                 (192,776)                 

Items not affecting cash:

Depreciation 6 136,007                   217,818                  172,500                  

Share based compensation 8 2,121,427                93,498                    1,189,708               

Issuance of deferred share units 8 4,593,363                -                          -                          

Change in fair value of deferred share units 8 1,780,637                -                          -                          

Non-cash listing expenses 5 9,723,199                -                          -                          

Loss on sale of subsidiary 10 234,675                   -                          -                          

Loss on extinguishment of promissory note 9 -                           -                          36,229                    

Interest income accrued under promissory note 9 -                           -                          (27,028)                   

Unrealized foreign exchange 9 -                           -                          (11,741)                   

Transaction costs paid in shares 10 -                           -                          75,000                    

Changes in non-cash working capital items:

Increase in prepaid expenses  (1,684,103)              (868,037)                 (1,790)                     

Increase in other receivable (261,684)                  (9,359)                     (620)                        

Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,401,390                1,247,966               469,795                  

Cash flows relating to operating activities (7,886,475)              (2,294,178)             (1,156,482)             

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of promissory notes 16 -                           345,000                  -                          

Repayment of promissory notes 16 -                           (345,000)                 -                          

Proceeds from the issuance of common shares, net 8a 25,900,828             3,162,514               826,763                  

Proceeds from exercise of warrants 8c 786,099                   -                          -                          

Proceeds from exercise of options 8b 104,328                   -                          -                          

Proceeds from issuance of subscription receipts for common shares, net 8a 12,156,617             -                          -                          

Cash flows relating to financing activities 38,947,872             3,162,514               826,763                  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash acquired upon the acquisition of Kitrinor 5 379                           -                          -                          

Short-term investments 4 (31,341,836)            -                          -                          

Advances to Kitrinor 5 (88,310)                    -                          -                          

Proceeds from sale of subsidiary 10 100,000                   -                          -                          

Purchase of property, plant and equipment -                           -                          (250,000)                 

Cash flows relating to investing activities (31,329,767)            -                          (250,000)                 
 

Net increase in cash (268,370)                  868,336                  (579,719)                 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 1,090,767                222,431                  802,150                  

Cash and cash equivalents, ending 822,397$                 1,090,767$            222,431$                



Scythian Biosciences Corp. (formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.)  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

March 31, 2018 

Expressed in Canadian Dollars 
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS  

 

Scythian Biosciences Corp. (formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.) (the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of 

the Province of Ontario on January 28, 2005.   The Company’s common shares trade on the TSX Venture Exchange 

(“TSXV”) under the trading symbol SCYB.  On Feb 22, 2018, the Company commenced trading through the Nasdaq 

International Designation under the symbol OTC-Nasdaq Intl: SCCYF.  The Company is a reporting issuer in the 

provinces of Ontario, Alberta, British Columbia and under the Securities Exchange Commission. The Company's 

principal and registered office is 5600-100 King Street West, Toronto, ON, M5X 1C9. 

 

On August 1, 2017, the Company completed a business combination with Scythian Biosciences Inc. (“Scythian 

Inc.”) (the “Transaction”) (Note 5), a company incorporated under the Federal laws of Canada on July 9, 2014. 

Scythian Inc. is focused on the acquisition of companies in the medical marijuana market, either in its application 

for medical and academic uses in the development of new pharmaceuticals, or in the business of production and 

sales of prescription marijuana to individual consumers.  The Transaction constituted a reverse takeover (“RTO”) 

of the Company by Scythian Inc. and the business of the resulting merged entities became the business of Scythian 

Inc.   

 

Effective August 1, 2017, and in connection with the Transaction, the Company effected a reverse stock split on 

the basis of 1:20 and Scythian Inc. effected a reverse stock split on the basis of 1:80. As such, all shares of common 

shares issued and outstanding were decreased on such basis.  Subsequent to period end, on April 13, 2018, the 

Company effected a stock split on the basis of 4:1, as such, all common shares issued and outstanding were 

increased on such basis.  These consolidated financial statements give retroactive effect to such split and all share 

and per share amounts have been adjusted accordingly. 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a 

going concern, which assumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 

normal course of business.  

 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 

a) Statement of Compliance 
 

These consolidated financial statements of the Company, approved by the Board of Directors on July 27, 

2018, have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) using the significant accounting policies 

outlined in Note 3. 

 

b) Basis of Measurement 
 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s 

functional and reporting currency. These consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical 

cost basis except for financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), which 

are stated at their fair value. In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. 
 

 



Scythian Biosciences Corp. (formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.)  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

March 31, 2018 

Expressed in Canadian Dollars 
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2.     BASIS OF PRESENTATION – Continued 
 

c) Basis of Consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned 

subsidiary, Scythian Biosciences Inc.  All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated 

upon consolidation.  Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control commences until control ceases. 

 

On November 29, 2017 the Company disposed of its wholly-owned subsidiary Go Green B.C. Medicinal 

Marijuana Ltd. (“Go Green”) to an independent third party (note 9). 

 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates 

 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements and 

estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 

statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are 

continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of 

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual outcomes could differ from 

these estimates.  

 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management has made 

at the financial position reporting date, that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited 

to:  

 

Income Taxes - Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax 

laws, and the amount and timing of future taxable income. Because the Company is in a loss position, it has not 

recognized the value of any deferred tax assets in its consolidated statements of financial position. 

 

Share-based Compensation - The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the 

fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based 

payment transactions requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the 

terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the 

valuation model including the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making 

assumptions about them. 

 

Going concern risk assessment - The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, meet its 

liabilities for the ensuing year, involves significant judgment based on expectation of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

 

 

 



Scythian Biosciences Corp. (formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.)  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

March 31, 2018 

Expressed in Canadian Dollars 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash at banks and on hand, and other short-term, highly liquid investments 

with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are 

subject to an insignificant risk of change of value.  The Company uses the indirect method of reporting cash flows 

from operating activities. 
 

Short-term Investments  
 

The Company’s short-term investments consist of guaranteed investment certificates with a maturity greater than 

90 days but less than one year. 
 

Income Taxes 
 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or 

loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other 

comprehensive income. 
 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 

of previous years. 
 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 

recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction 

that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences 

relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will 

not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences 

arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be 

applied to temporary differences when the related asset is realized or liability is settled, based on the laws that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income 

taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to 

settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized 

simultaneously.  
 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the 

extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred 

tax assets are reviewed at the end of the reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
 

Management exercises judgment in estimating the provision for taxes. The Company is subject to tax laws in 

various jurisdictions where it operates. Various tax laws are potentially subject to different interpretations by the 

taxpayer and the relevant tax authority. To the extent that the Company’s interpretations differ from those of tax 

authorities or the timing of realization is not as expected, the provision for taxes may increase or decrease in 

future periods to reflect actual experience. 



Scythian Biosciences Corp. (formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.)  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

March 31, 2018 

Expressed in Canadian Dollars 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 

Provisions 
 

Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events where it 

is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 

and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. As at March 31, 2018 and 2017, no provision has been 

recorded by the Company. 
 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share 
 

Basic earnings (loss) per share are computed by dividing the net earnings (loss) available to common shareholders 

by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings (loss) per 

share is computed similar to basic earnings (loss) per share except that the weighted average share outstanding 

are increased to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, if dilutive. The 

number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised 

and that the proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire common shares at the average market price 

during the reporting periods. 
 

Share-based Payments 
 

Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the options at the date of grant 

is charged to the statement of comprehensive loss over the vesting period. Performance vesting conditions are 

taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so that, 

ultimately, the cumulative amount recognized over the vesting period is based on the number of options that 

eventually vest. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether these 

vesting conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting 

condition or where a non-vesting condition is not satisfied. 
 

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the 

options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of 

comprehensive loss over the remaining vesting period. 
 

Where equity instruments are granted to employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the equity instrument 

granted at the grant date. The grant date fair value is recognized in comprehensive loss over the vesting period, 

described as the period during which all the vesting conditions are to be satisfied. 
 

Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the goods or 

services received in the statement of comprehensive loss. Options or warrants granted related to the issuance of 

shares are recorded as a reduction of share capital. 
 

When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment cannot be reliably 

estimated, the fair value is measured by use of a valuation model or the fair value of the shares granted. 
 

All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in contributed surplus, until exercised. Upon exercise, 

shares are issued from treasury and the amount reflected in contributed surplus is credited to share capital, 

adjusted for any consideration paid. 

 



Scythian Biosciences Corp. (formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.)  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

March 31, 2018 

Expressed in Canadian Dollars 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  

 

Share-based Payments – Continued  

 

Where a grant of options is cancelled, or settled during the vesting period, excluding forfeitures when vesting 

conditions are not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts for the cancellation as an acceleration of vesting 

and recognizes the amount that otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the remainder 

of the vesting period. Any payment made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for as the repurchase 

of an equity interest except to the extent the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity instrument granted, 

measured at the repurchase date.  Any such excess is recognized as an expense.  When vesting conditions are not 

satisfied, any previously recognized expense is reversed. 

 

Deferred Share Units 
 

The Company’s deferred share unit (“DSU”) plan provides for grants to non-employee directors as a long-term 

incentive component of their compensation.  DSU’s vest immediately upon grant and are paid out in either cash 

or shares when a participant ceases to be a director of the Company.  The DSUs are recorded as a liability at fair 

value at the date of grant.  Each subsequent reporting period, the liability is updated to the period end fair value 

of the DSU’s and changes are recorded as a change in fair value of deferred share units.  The fair value of the DSU’s 

are calculated based on the period ended share price of the Company.  

 

Share Capital 
 

Common shares are classified as equity.  Costs directly attributable to the raising of share capital financing are 

charged against share capital.  The Company does not bifurcate the value of warrants issued as part of a unit raise. 
 

Segment Reporting 
 

A reportable segment, as defined by 'IFRS 8 Operating Segments', is a distinguishable business or geographical 

component of the Company, which are subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other 

segments. At March 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, the Company considers that it has only one reportable segment. 
 

Foreign Currency Translation 
 

The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates.  The 

functional currency for the Company is the Canadian dollar.  The functional currency determination was 

conducted through an analysis of the consideration factors identified in IAS 21, the Effects of Changes in Foreign 

Exchange Rates.   
 

Transactions in currencies other than the Canadian dollar are recorded at exchange rates prevailing on the date 

of the transaction.  At the end of each reporting period, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company that 

are denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the statement of 

financial position date, while non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on 

the transaction date.  Revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange rates approximating those in effect 

on the date of the transaction. Exchange gains and losses arising on translation are included in the statement of 

comprehensive loss or income. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 

Financial Instruments 
 

All financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value. In subsequent periods, all financial instruments are 

measured based on the classification adopted for the financial instruments: held to maturity, loans and 

receivables, fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), available-for-sale, fair value through profit or loss liabilities 

or other liabilities. Fair value through profit or loss assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value 

with the change in the fair value recognized in net income (loss) during the period. Held to maturity assets, loans 

and receivable, and other liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 

method. Available for sale assets are subsequently measured at fair value with the change in fair value recorded 

in other comprehensive income (loss), except for equity instruments without a quoted market price in active 

markets and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, which are measured at cost. 
 

The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows: 
 

Financial Instrument    Classification 

Cash      Fair value through profit or loss 

Other receivable Loans and receivables 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  Other liabilities 

Deferred share unit liabilities   Fair value through profit or loss 
 

The Company’s financial instruments measured at fair value on the statements of financial position consist of cash 

which is measured at level 1 of the fair hierarchy. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 

Level 1: Values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the 

measurement date for identical assets or liabilities. 
 

Level 2: Values based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model inputs that are observable 

either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 
 

Level 3: Values based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable 

and significant to the overall fair value measurement. 
 

The Company’s financial instruments, consisting of cash and cash equivalents, other receivables and accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.  

Deferred share unit liabilities are measured using the fair value of the underlying shares of the Company’s stock 

based on market price in a liquid market, which constitutes a Level 1 input. There are no financial instruments in 

Level 2 or Level 3. Also, there have been no transfers between levels during the year. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 

group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and 

only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the 

initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 

asset or group of financial assets. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  

 

Financial Instruments – Continued 

 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 

generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or 

groups of assets (each, a “cash-generating unit”). An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of a 

cash-generating unit exceeds it estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-

generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, 

the estimated future cost flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets. An impairment loss is 

charged to the profit or loss, except to the extent it reverses gains previously recognized in other comprehensive 

loss/income. 

 

Impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss 

has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 

to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no 

impairment loss has been recognized. 

 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date and when events 

or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such indication 

exists, then the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated. 

 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

 

Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in the Company’s net assets that results from transactions, events and 

circumstances from sources other than the Company’s shareholders and includes items that are not included in 

net profit. Other comprehensive income consists of changes to unrealized gain and losses on available for sale 

financial assets, changes to unrealized gains and losses on the effective portion of cash flow hedges and changes 

to foreign currency translation adjustments of self-sustaining foreign operations during the period. 

Comprehensive income measures net earnings for the period plus other comprehensive income. Amounts 

reported as other comprehensive income are accumulated in a separate component of shareholders’ equity as 

accumulated other comprehensive income. The Company has not had other comprehensive income since 

inception. 

 

Transaction costs 
 

Transaction costs for financial instruments classified as FVTPL are recognized as an expense in the year they are 

incurred.  For all non-FVTPL financial instruments, they are capitalized and amortized using the effective interest 

rate method over a period that corresponds with the term of the financial instruments. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  

 

Leases  
 

Finance leases, which transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of 

the leased item, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if 

lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance 

charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 

of the liability.  Finance charges are recognized in the statement of profit and loss and comprehensive loss.   
 

Leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset.  However, if there is no reasonable certainty that 

the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the 

estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term.  For the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company 

did not have any finance leases. 

 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit and loss and comprehensive 

loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

Plant and equipment 

 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if 

any.  Such costs include the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment, and borrowing costs for long-term 

construction projects if the recognition criteria are met.  When significant parts of plant and equipment are 

required to be replaced at intervals, the Company depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. 

Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the plant and 

equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied.  All other repair and maintenance costs are 

recognized in profit and loss as incurred.  The present value of the expected cost for decommissioning or disposing 

of an asset group after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision 

are met.   
 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line or declining balance basis over the estimated useful lives of the asset 

group, as follows: 
 

Leasehold improvements Straight line over 5 years 

Machinery and equipment 20% declining balance 
 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon 

disposal or when no future economic benefit is expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on 

derecognition of the assets, calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the asset, is included in the statement of profit and loss and comprehensive loss when the asset is 

derecognized. 
 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at 

each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  

 

Research and development costs 
 

Research costs are expensed as incurred.  

Development expenditures are expensed when incurred unless the Company can demonstrate that the 

development expenditures satisfy the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset pursuant to IAS 38 Intangible 

Assets (“IAS 38”).  Development expenditures on an individual project are recognized as an intangible asset when 

the Company can demonstrate: 
 

 ·        the technological feasibility of completing the asset so that the asset will be available for sale or use 

·         the Company’s ability and intention to use or sell the asset 

·         how the asset will generate future economic benefits 

·         the availability of resources to complete the asset 

·         the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development 
 

Following initial recognition of the development expenditures as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any 

accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.  Amortization of the asset begins when the 

development is complete and the asset is available for use.  It is amortized over the expected period of future 

benefit.  During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment at least annually. 
 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies 
 

At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and 

interpretations to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been early-

adopted by the Company. 
 

Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Company’s accounting policies for 

the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, 

amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Company’s consolidated financial 

statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued, but are not 

expected to have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies 
 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) which reflects all phases 

of the financial instruments project and replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and 

all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, 

impairment, and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 

with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is not 

compulsory. Early application of previous versions of IFRS 9 (2009, 2010 and 2013) is permitted if the date of initial 

application is before 1 February 2015. The adoption of IFRS 9 by the Company on April 1, 2018, has had no impact 

on the classification and measurement of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  

 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies – Continued  
 

IFRS 16 Leases 
 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) which replaces IAS 17, Leases and its associated 

interpretative guidance. IFRS 16 applies a control model to the identification of leases, distinguishing between a 

lease and a service contract on the basis of whether the customer controls the asset being leased. For those assets 

determined to meet the definition of a lease, IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to the accounting by lessees, 

introducing a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to the current finance lease accounting, 

with limited exceptions for short-term leases or leases of low value assets. Lessor accounting remains similar to 

current accounting practice. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, 

with early application permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15. The adoption of IFRS 16 is not expected to have 

an impact on the classification and measurement of the Company’s financial instruments, when adopted in 2019. 

 

4. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS 

 

Short-term investment consists of cashable guaranteed investment certificates maturing June 2018 to 

February 2019 bearing interest rates from 0.2% to 1.8%.  The Company has recorded interest receivable of 

$112,595 (2017 - $Nil) as other receivables on the statement of financial position. 

 

5. REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTION 

 

On August 1, 2017, the Company closed a RTO transaction with Scythian Inc. pursuant to which the Company 

acquired all of the issued and outstanding securities of Scythian Inc. by way of a three-cornered 

amalgamation (the “Amalgamation”).  As part of the Amalgamation, the Company changed its name to 

Scythian Biosciences Corp. (“Scythian Corp.”) and Scythian Inc. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company.  At the date of the Amalgamation, Scythian Inc. had advanced $88,310 to Scythian Corp. pursuant 

to the letter of intent and to pay for public company expenses prior to the consummation of the transaction.  

All amounts advanced were eliminated upon completion of the Amalgamation. 

 

Under the terms of the Amalgamation, Scythian Corp. effected a reverse stock split on the basis of 1:20 and 

Scythian Inc. effected a reverse stock split on the basis of 1:80.  Scythian Inc. shareholders received post-

consolidation shares of Scythian Corp. for each post-consolidation Scythian Inc. share held on the basis of 

1:1.  Further, all post-consolidation share purchase options and warrants outstanding in Scythian Inc. were 

exchanged for share purchase options and warrants in Scythian Corp. on the basis of 1:1. 

 

The Amalgamation was accounted for as a RTO transaction that was not a business combination and 

effectively a capital transaction of Scythian Inc.  Scythian Inc. has been treated as the accounting acquirer 

(legal subsidiary) and Scythian Corp. has been treated as the accounting acquiree (legal parent) in these 

consolidated financial statements.  As Scythian Inc. was deemed to be the acquirer for accounting purposes, 

the consolidated financial statements are presented as a continuation of Scythian Inc. 
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5. REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTION – Continued  

 

Details of the purchase price consideration and allocation are shown below: 

 

  
 

 
 

The warrant value was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following weighted 

average assumptions:  share price: $2.00; expected life: 2.13 years, expected annualized volatility: 75.51%, 

annual rate of quarterly dividends: 0.00%, risk-free interest rate: 1.25%. 

 

The fair value of Scythian Corp.’s net assets and liabilities is estimated to be consistent with their carrying 

value due to their short-term nature. 

 

The Company paid a finder’s fee of 198,800 common shares in connection with the Amalgamation. These 

shares were recorded at a fair value of $2.00 per share, or $397,600 and is included as additional listing 

expense on the statement of operations during the year ended March 31, 2018.  The Company incurred 

additional listing expenses of $267,641. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Consideration paid

Common shares 2,642,264           2.00$          5,284,528$             

Warrants 2,308,792           1.57$          3,886,447               

Options 42,700                0.00$          -                           

Total Consideration 4,993,756          9,170,975$            

Net Assets Acquired

Cash 379$                        

Other receivables 11,816                     

Accounts payables and accrued liabilities (78,508)                    

   Due to Scythian (88,310)                    

Net assets (liabilities) acquired (154,624)                

Listing Expense 9,325,599$            
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6. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Plant and equipment consists of the following: 

 
 

During the year-ended March 31, 2018, the Company recorded depreciation expense of $136,007 (2017 - 

$217,818; 2016 - $172,500).  On November 29, 2017, the Company disposed of all of the Plant and Equipment 

as part of the Go Green disposition (note 10). 
 

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES AND KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION 
 

All related party transactions are carried out in the normal course of operations and are recorded at fair 

value, unless otherwise noted herein.  The Company has identified its officers as its key management 

personnel. 
 

Related Party Balances 
 

At March 31, 2018, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is an amount of $Nil (March 31, 2017 

- $1,395,150) owing to directors and officers of the Company in respect of unpaid salaries and benefits, 

directors’ fees, and reimbursable expenses. Any amounts owed to related parties are unsecured, non-

interest bearing, and are payable on demand. 

Leasehold 

improvements

Machinery and 

equipment Total

Cost, March 31, 2015 -$                    -$                   -$                   

Additions 743,925              406,075             1,150,000          

Cost, March 31, 2016 743,925              406,075             1,150,000          

Additions -                       -                     -                     

Cost, March 31, 2017 743,925              406,075             1,150,000          

Disposal (743,925)             (406,075)            (1,150,000)        

Cost, March 31, 2018 -$                    -$                   -$                   

Accumulated depreciation, April 1, 2015 -$                    -$                   -$                   

Depreciation 111,589              60,911               172,500             

Accumulated depreciation, March 31, 2016 111,589              60,911               172,500             

Depreciation 148,785              69,033               217,818             

Accumulated depreciation, March 31, 2017 260,374              129,944             390,318             

Depreciation 99,190                 36,817               136,007            

Disposal (359,564)             (166,761)            (526,325)            

Accumulated depreciation, March 31, 2018 -$                    -$                   -$                   

Net book value, March 31, 2016 632,336$           345,164$          977,500$          

Net book value, March 31, 2017 483,551$           276,131$          759,682$          

Net book value, March 31, 2018 -$                    -$                   -$                   
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7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES AND KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION – Continued  

 

Related Party Transactions 

 

The Company incurred charges with directors and officers of the Company or with companies with directors 

or officers in common with the Company during the year ended March 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, all of which 

is included in salaries and wages on the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss as follows: 
 

  
 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 50,000 common shares of the 

Company, and paid $45,000 in cash, to settle an aggregate of $964,245 in accrued and unpaid salaries and 

wages and benefits due to two former directors and officers of the Company.  The shares issued were 

recorded at their fair value of $100,000, or $2.00 per share, which value was determined with reference to 

the price at which shares were being sold to arm’s length parties on or around the transaction date.  The 

remaining $819,245 difference between the carrying value of the amounts settled and the fair value of 

consideration transferred of $145,000 was recorded as a contribution to equity.   

 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, two directors and officers of the Company forgave an aggregate of 

$669,388 in accrued salaries, wages and allowances owed to the directors and officers. The amount forgiven 

was recorded as a contribution to equity. 

 

8. CAPITAL STOCK 

 

a. Common shares 

 

The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par 

value. 

 

Changes in the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company during the years ended March 31, 

2018, 2017, and 2016 were as follows:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2018 2017 2016

Salaries and wages 652,711$                     999,761$            1,176,747$       

Consulting fees 7,500                            -                      -                     

Share-based payments 6,069,519                    -                      1,070,800         

6,729,730$                 999,761$           2,247,547$      

Year ended March 31, 
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8.  CAPITAL STOCK 

a. Common shares – Continued 

 

   

 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company issued 6,642,500 subscription receipts at $2.00 per 

subscription receipts for gross proceeds of $13,285,000 pursuant to a private placement. In connection with 

the private placement, the Company incurred share issue costs of $1,128,383, which included agent’s 

commission and legal fees and expenses directly attributable to the transaction.  Subsequently, the 

subscription receipts were converted into shares of common stock on a one for one basis. 

Number of shares Amount

Balance, March 31, 2015 1,180,756              1,298,027$              

Shares issued

  Pursuant to private placements at $4.00 62,500                    250,000                    

  Pursuant to private placements at $5.00 152,324                 761,629                    

  Pursuant to private placements at $10.00 5,764                      57,628                      

  Pursuant to private placement re-pricing 169,512                 -                             

  Pursuant to Securities Purchase Agreement (note 10) 180,000                 900,000                    

  Finders fee (note 10) 15,000                    75,000                      

  In exchange for services 50,000                    250,000                    

Redeemed and cancelled

  Peresuant to promissory note settlement (note 9) (17,000)                  (85,000)                     

Balance, March 31, 2016 1,798,856              3,507,284$              

Shares issued

  Pursuant to private placements at $5.00 16,380                    81,900                      

  Pursuant to private placements at $0.05 8,000,000              400,000                    

  Pursuant to private placements at $2.00 1,482,972              2,965,945                 

  Share issuance costs -                          (748,931)                   

  In exchange for services 200,000                 10,000                      

Balance, March 31, 2017 11,498,208            6,216,198$               

Shares issued

  As settlement of accounts payable 50,000                    100,000                    

  Pursuant to private placements at $2.00 6,642,500              13,285,000               

  Share issuance costs -                          (1,128,383)                

  Share issuance - RTO (note 5) 2,642,264              5,284,528                 

  Finder's fee (note 5) 198,800                 397,600                    

  Pursuant to exercise of warrants 973,608                 1,957,182                 

  Pursuant to exercise of options 52,664                    143,001                    

  Disposition of Go Green (108,000)                (189,000)                   

  Pursuant to brokered financing at $4.65 6,183,544              28,753,480               

  Share issuance costs -                          (4,660,769)                

  Exercise of deferred share units 400,000                 1,958,000                 

Balance, March 31, 2018 28,533,588           52,116,837$           
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8. CAPITAL STOCK – Continued 

 

a.  Common shares – Continued 
 

On February 13, 2018, the Company completed a financing, including the full exercise of the underwriter’s 

over-allotment option raising gross proceeds of $28,753,480 through the issuance of 6,183,544 units at $4.65 

per unit. Each unit consists of one common share and one common share purchase warrant exercisable for a 

period of 24 months from the closing date at an exercise price of $5.50 per Unit. The Company incurred share 

issuance costs of $4,660,769, which included agent’s commission, legal fees and expenses directly attributable 

to the transaction, including $1,808,117 related to the issuance of broker warrants. 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, as a result of the sale of Go Green the Company cancelled 108,000 

common shares.  The closing price of the share on date of transaction (November 29, 2017) was $1.75, 

resulting in $189,000 being deducted from share capital (note 9). 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Company issued 9,499,352 common shares of the Company raising 

gross proceeds of $3,447,845.  The Company incurred issuance costs of $748,931. 
 

b. Share Purchase Options 
 

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has approved a Stock Option Plan (the “Option Plan”).  

The purpose of the Option Plan is to grant share purchase options to directors, senior officers, employees, 

and consultants of the Company.  The maximum number of shares reserved for issue under the Option Plan 

will be equal to 10% of the aggregate issued and outstanding shares of the Company at the date of approval 

of the Option Plan, but the maximum number may be revised from time to time by the Board. 
 

The Option Plan is administered by the Board. The minimum exercise price of options issued under the Option 

Plan shall be equal to the market price (as defined by the Option Plan) of the Company’s shares on the grant 

date, less applicable discount, if any, permitted by securities legislation and approved by the Board. Stock 

options may be granted under the Option Plan for an exercise period determined by the Board, subject to 

earlier termination in accordance with the terms of the Option Plan.  
 

A continuity of the Company’s outstanding share purchase options for the year ended March 31, 2018, 2017, 

and 2016 is presented below: 

 

Outstanding, April 1, 2015 -                          -$                          

Granted 295,000                 5.00                          

Outstanding, March 31, 2016 295,000                 5.00$                        

Granted 250,000                 0.05                          

Outstanding, March 31, 2017 545,000                 2.73                          

Granted 1,665,000              3.90                          

Issued pursuant to RTO 42,700                    12.50                        

Forfeited (298,333)                5.00                          

Expired (65,200)                  9.91                          

Exercised (52,664)                  2.00                          

Outstanding, March 31, 2018 1,836,503              3.47$                        

 Number of 

options 

 Weighted Average 

exercise price 
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8. CAPITAL STOCK – Continued 

 

b. Share Purchase Options – Continued 

 

At March 31, 2018, the following share purchase options were outstanding: 

 

 
 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company recorded $2,121,427 (2017 - $83,498; 2016 - $939,708) 

in share based compensation expense in connection with the vesting of share purchase options.  These 

charges were recorded on the statement of loss and comprehensive loss as follows: 

 

 
 

The fair value of the Company’s stock options issued were estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model using the following assumptions: 

 

 
 

 

Grant date Exercise price

Number of options 

outstanding  Number vested  Expiry Date 

January 30, 2017 $0.05 250,000                                250,000                   January 30, 2020

February 12, 2016 $5.00 7,500                                    7,500                        February 12, 2021

August 1, 2017 $2.00 250,003                                83,337                      August 1, 2022

September 18, 2017 $2.00 100,000                                -                       September 18, 2022

September 1, 2017 $2.00 74,000                                  27,040                      September 1, 2022

September 6, 2017 $2.00 40,000                                  14,000                      September 6, 2022

November 27, 2017 $2.00 10,000                                  4,000                        November 27, 2022

December 1, 2017 $2.00 20,000                                  8,000                        December 1, 2022

December 7, 2017 $2.00 10,000                                  4,000                        December 7, 2022

December 11, 2017 $2.16 35,000                                  35,000                      December 11, 2022

January 15, 2018 $4.66 400,000                                400,000                   January 15, 2023

March 8, 2018 $5.28 640,000                                253,333                   March 8, 2023

1,836,503                             1,086,210                

2018 2017 2016

Salaries and wages 1,594,071$                  4,700$                820,800$          

Consulting fees 527,356                       78,798                118,908            

2,121,427$                 83,498$              939,708$          

Year ended March 31,

 March 31, 2018   March 31, 2017   March 31, 2016

Expected volatility (based on historical share prices) 76.47% - 117.71% 77.95% 128.07% - 137.27%

Risk-free interest rate 1.26% - 2.08% 1.26% 0.44% - 0.55%

Expected life (years) 2.50 - 3.50 2.50 2.50 - 3.50

Expected dividend yield Nil                  Nil                  Nil

Underlying share price $1.25 - $5.25 $2.00 $1.00
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8.      CAPITAL STOCK – Continued 

 

c. Share Purchase Warrants 
 

A summary of the Company’s share purchase warrants outstanding is presented below: 

 

  
 

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Company issued 464,976 share purchase warrants exercisable at 

$2.00 per share, expiring on June 12, 2019, as commissions in connection with subscription receipt financing.  

The fair value of these warrants of $398,200 was recorded as a share issue cost during the year ended March 

31, 2017. The fair value of these warrants was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using 

the following weighted average assumptions: risk-free rate 0.86%, expected life 2.0 years, estimated stock 

price $8.00, expected volatility 78.95%, dividend yield 0.00%. 
 

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Company issued 103,808 share purchase warrants exercisable at 

$3.00 per share for a period of three years from the date of issuance as commissions in connection with a 

private placement financing. The fair value of these warrants of $85,400, was recorded as a share issue cost 

during the year ended March 31, 2017. The fair value of these warrants was estimated using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model using the following weighted average assumptions: risk-free rate 0.78%, expected life 

3.0 years, estimated stock price $8.00, expected volatility 78.73%, dividend yield 0.00%. 
 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company issued 432,848 broker warrants exercisable at $4.65 

per share, expiring on February 13, 2020, as commissions in connection with the bought deal financing. Each 

broker warrant converts into one common share and one common share purchase warrant exercisable at 

$5.50.  The fair value of these warrants of $1,808,117 was recorded as a share issue cost during the year 

ended March 31, 2018. The fair value of these warrants was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model using the following weighted average assumptions: risk-free rate 1.78%, expected life 2.0 years, 

estimated stock price $7.4750, expected volatility 75.933%, dividend yield 0.00%. 
 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company issued 6,183,544 share purchase warrants exercisable 

at $5.50 per share, expiring on February 13, 2020, as part of the bought deal financing.   
 

 

 

 

 

 Number of warrants 

 Weighted Average 

exercise price 

-                                -                             

Issued 568,784                       $2.18

Outstanding, March 31, 2017 568,784                       2.18                           

Issued 9,085,184                    3.86                           

Expired (1,000)                           12.50                         

Exercised (973,608)                      0.81                           

Outstanding, March 31, 2018 8,679,360                    $4.34

Outstanding, April 1, 2015 and March 31, 2016
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8.     CAPITAL STOCK – Continued 

 

c.  Share Purchase Warrants – Continued 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, 116,244 warrants with exercise price of $2.00, 65,572 warrants with 

exercise price of $3.00, 631,792 warrants with exercise price of $0.50, and 160,000 warrants with exercise 

price of $0.25 were exercised for cash proceeds of $786,099. The value of $1,171,081 related to the warrants’ 

original issuance was reclassified from contributed surplus to share capital. 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, 1,000 warrants with exercise price of $12.50 expired unexercised. 
 

At March 31, 2018, the Company had share purchase warrants outstanding as follows: 

  

  
 

d. Deferred share units 
 

The Board has approved a Deferred Share Unit Plan (the “DSU Plan”).  Pursuant to the DSU Plan, the Board 

may, from time to time, in its discretion and in accordance with TSXV requirements, grant to directors, officers, 

and full-time employees of the Company and its affiliates (collectively the “DSU Participants”), DSUs 

representing the right of the DSU Participant to receive one previously unissued common share of the 

Company or cash equivalent (a “DSU Payment”) for each whole DSU held by such DSU Participant.  

 

The maximum aggregate number of common shares that may be issued under the DSU Plan shall not exceed 

200,000 provided further that the aggregate number of common shares issuable under the DSU Plan, 

combined with any other securities-based compensation plan, including the Company’s Option Plan, shall not 

exceed 10% of the then issued and outstanding common shares of the Company at the grant date. 

 

The DSU Plan is administered by the Board. Upon a DSU Participants death, or retirement from or loss of office 

or employment with the Company (the “Termination Date”), the Company shall satisfy the DSU Payment for 

each DSU Participant by either (i) issuing to such DSU Participant one common share of the Company for each 

outstanding DSU held by such DSU Participant on such relevant Termination Date, or (ii) payment of an 

amount in cash equivalent equal to the number of outstanding DSUs held by such DSU Participant multiplied 

by the last closing price of the Company’s shares of common stock immediately prior to the Termination Date, 

subject to applicable statutory source deductions. 

 

A summary of the status of the Company’s outstanding DSUs for the year ended March 31, 2018, 2017, and 

2016 is presented below: 

Issuance Date  Number of Warrants 

 Weighted average    

exercise price Expiry Date

March 13, 2017 343,480                       2.00$                         June 12, 2019

March 20, 2017 37,888                          3.00                           March 20, 2020

March 31, 2017 5,600                            2.06                           March 31, 2020

August 1, 2017 1,676,000                    0.50                           October 11, 2019

February 13, 2017 6,183,544                    5.50                           February 13, 2020

February 13, 2017 432,848                       4.65                           February 13, 2020

8,679,360                    4.34$                         
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8.     CAPITAL STOCK – Continued 

 

d.   Deferred share units - Continued 

 

 
 

9. LOSS ON PROMISSORY NOTE RECEIVABLE 

 
 

On December 22, 2014, the Company received a promissory note in the amount of $70,194 (US$60,000) from 

a consultant of the Company, pursuant to a loan advanced to the consultant.  The note was bearing interest 

at 10% per annum and was due on demand by the Company, but no later than January 31, 2015.   

 

This promissory note was not repaid on January 31, 2015 and as such and in accordance with the terms of the 

note, the note was bearing a penalty of 3% per month for each month the note remained unpaid after January 

31, 2015.  During the year ended March 31, 2016, the Company recorded interest and penalty income of 

$27,028 (2015: $6,561) in connection with interest and penalties accrued under the note. 

 

On January 11, 2016, pursuant to a Settlement and Redemption Agreement, the Company agreed to forgive 

the accrued interest and penalties of $33,589 and settle the principal of the note in exchange for the 

presentment for redemption and cancellation to the Company of 17,000 shares owned by the consultant (the 

“Settlement Shares”).  The $85,000 settlement amount was recognized in equity. 

 

 

 

 

Number Value

Outstanding, March 31, 2016 and 2017                           -   -$                   

Granted - salaries and wages             1,360,000 4,593,363          

Exercised              (400,000) (1,958,000)        

Fair value adjustment -                       1,780,637          

Outstanding, March 31, 2018 960,000              4,416,000$       

2018 2017 2016

Opening Balance -$              -$              82,460$        

  Advance (Settlement) during the year/period -                -                (85,000)         

  Foreign exchange impact on principal -                -                11,741          

  Accrued interest -                -                6,098            

  Accrued penalties -                -                20,930          

  Loss on Extinguishment -                -                (36,229)         

Ending Balance  $                 -    $                 -   -$              

Year ended March 31,
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10. ACQUISION AND SALE OF GO GREEN AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

 

Acquisition 

On April 21, 2015, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) with the 

shareholders of Go Green B.C. Medicinal Marijuana Ltd. (“Go Green") (the “Vendors”), whereby the Company 

agreed to purchase 100% of the common shares of the Company in exchange for $250,000 in cash and 

180,000 common shares of the Company (the “Consideration Shares”).  As a result, Go Green became a 

wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.  

 

Pursuant to the terms of the SPA, 90% of the Consideration Shares are subject to an escrow agreement 

between the Company and the Vendors whereby the Consideration Shares will be released based on certain 

performance conditions of the Vendors. 

For accounting purposes, the transaction is reflected as acquisition of assets at fair value. The fair value of 

consideration paid of $1,150,000, comprised of (i) $250,000 (ii) Consideration Shares of $900,000, the fair 

value of which was determined with reference to the price at which common shares were being sold in 

private placement offerings at or around the transaction date, approximates the fair value of the assets 

acquired at the time of closing. 

The assets of Go Green acquired at the date of the Acquisition were as follows: 

Machinery and equipment $ 406,075 

Leasehold improvements 743,925 

Net assets acquired $ 1,150,000 

 

No liabilities were assumed in the acquisition.  

 

The Company paid a finder’s fee of 15,000 common shares of the Company to a third party (the “Finders 

Shares”).  The fair value of these shares of $75,000 was expensed through the consolidated statement of loss 

and comprehensive loss as a transaction cost.  The fair value of the Finders Shares was determined with 

reference to the price at which common shares were being sold in private placement offerings at or around 

the transaction date, and approximates the fair value of the assets acquired at the time of closing. 

 

Sale 

 

On November 29, 2017, the Company disposed of its wholly-owned subsidiary Go Green to an independent 

third party.  The disposition resulted in a loss of $234,675, the details of which are as follows: 
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10. ACQUISION AND SALE OF GO GREEN AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

 
 

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at November 29, 2017 were: 

 

 
 

The $100,000 other receivable is non-interest bearing and secured by a general security agreement over 

the assets sold.  The other receivable was collected and is due as follows: 

• $50,000 collected on Feb 27, 2018; and 

• $50,000 due on May 28, 2018, subsequently collected; 

 

The following table shows the statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the discontinued operations for 

the years ended March 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016. 

    

As depreciation and loss on disposal of subsidiary are non-cash transactions, there was no material effect 

on the statement of cash flows.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Consideration received or receivable:

Cash paid at closing 100,000$                

Other receivable 100,000                   

Return of shares (108,000 shares at $1.75/share) 189,000                   

Total consideration 389,000                   

Carrying amount of net assets sold (623,675)                 

Loss on sale 234,675$                

Plant and equipment 623,675$                

Total assets 623,675                  

Total liabilities -                           

Net assets 623,675$                

2018 2017 2016

Consulting 6,812$                         14,653$              20,276$            

Depreciation 136,007                       217,818              172,500            

142,819$                     232,471$           192,776$          

Year ended March 31,
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11. LOSS PER SHARE 
 

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share for the years ended March 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was 

based on the following data: 
 

 
 

The basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders by the weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  The diluted loss per share reflects the 

potential dilution of common share equivalents, such as stock options, share purchase warrants, and deferred 

share units in the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period, only if dilutive.  
 

As of March 31, 2018, loss per share excludes 11,908,711 (March 31, 2017 – 1,113,784; 2016 – 295,000) 

potentially dilutive common shares related to outstanding share purchase options, warrants, and deferred 

share units as the effect was anti-dilutive. 
 

12. OBLIGATION UNDER RESEARCH AGREEMENT 

On July 25, 2016, the Company entered into a collaborative research agreement, and amended on February 

10, 2017, and October 6, 2017, (the “Agreement”) with the University of Miami (the “University”). The 

University has agreed to assist the Company with the research, development and preclinical and clinical trials 

research studies. 
 

The obligation of the University to commence and continue the project is contingent upon the Company 

making payments to the University.  The Company has made the following payments to date. 
 

• 1st payment: US$250,000 paid on November 28, 2016; 

• 2nd payment: US$175,000 paid on February 1, 2017; 

• 3rd payment: US$1,000,000 paid on March 27, 2017; 

• 4th payment: US$1,000,000 paid on August 7, 2017; 

• 5th payment: US$1,100,000 paid on February 12, 2018; and 

• 6th payment: US$900,000 paid on March 14, 2018; 

2018 2017 2016

Numerator

Continuing operations (25,788,567)$    (2,743,593)$      (2,865,759)$      

Discontinued operations (142,819)            (232,471)            (192,776)            

(25,931,386)$    (2,976,064)$      (3,058,535)$      

Denominator

16,109,438       3,117,872         1,614,680         

-                     -                     -                     

Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding 16,109,438       3,117,872         1,614,680         

Loss per share

Basic and diluted - continuing operations (1.60)$                (0.88)$                (1.77)$                

Basic and diluted - discontinued operations (0.01)$                (0.07)$                (0.12)$                

  Net loss attributable to common shareholders from:

   Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

Dilutive effect of assumed exercise of stock options, warrants 

and DSUs

Year ended March 31,
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12. OBLIGATION UNDER RESEARCH AGREEMENT – Continued 

Under the Agreement, the Company is to pay US$1,000,000 on a quarterly basis with payments being due on 

October 1, 2017 and every subsequent quarter until July 1, 2021, on which the last payment is due.  Every 

fourth quarter shall include an additional payment of US$553,750. Institution overhead of 29% is included 

within all payments. Total amount of funding, inclusive of University’s overhead is US$20,640,000. 

 

Pursuant to the Agreement the Company has agreed to pay a 5% royalty of net profits from the 

commercialization, including licensing, or any inventions or discoveries made during the term of the 

agreement, as well as from the commercialization of the specific drug regimen being tested under the 

agreement and as set out in the Company’s patent. 

 

At March 31, 2018, included in prepaid expenses and deposits is an amount of $1,560,014 (US$1,210,636) in 

milestone payments paid to the University which were unspent as at March 31, 2018. (March 31, 2017 - 

$860,876 (USD$645,900); 2016 - $NIL). 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company recorded research and development expenses of 

$3,137,653 (2017 - $1,038,020; 2016 - $NIL) in connection with expenditures incurred under the terms of the 

Agreement. 

 

13. COMMITMENTS 

 

Pursuant to the sale of Go Green, the Company is no longer committed to any minimum future lease 

payments. 

 

The Company has certain commitments with regards to the research agreement with the University of Miami 

as discussed in note 11. 

 

Letters of Intent (Note 19) 

 

On March 11, 2018, the Company signed a non-binding letter of intent to acquire 100% of MMJ International 

Inc. (“MMJI”) in exchange for 6,176,320 common shares of the Company.  MMJI owns 100% of ABP S.A. 

(“ABP”), an Argentina based pharmaceutical import and distribution company.  On May 11, 2018, the 

Company signed a business combination agreement.  The closing of the acquisition remains subject to TSXV 

approval and other closing conditions. 

 

On March 21, 2018, the Company signed a binding letter of intent to acquire a 100% interest in Marigold 

Acquisitions Inc. (“MAI”) in exchange for 6,000,000 common shares of the Company.  MAI owns through a 

holding company, a 49% interest in Marigold Projects Jamaica Ltd. (“Marigold”), a Jamaican company with 

conditional licenses to cultivate, process, sell and provide therapeutic or spa services utilizing cannabis 

products.  The closing of the acquisition remains subject to the signing of a final business combination 

agreement as well as TSXV approval and other closing conditions. 

 

 

 

 



Scythian Biosciences Corp. (formerly Kitrinor Metals Inc.)  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

March 31, 2018 

Expressed in Canadian Dollars 

30 

 

 

13.  COMMITMENTS - Continued 

 

On April 8, 2018, the Company signed a binding letter of intent to acquire 100% of MMJ Colombia Partners 

Inc. (“MMJ Colombia”).  MMJ Colombia owns the right to acquire 90% of Colcanna SAS (“Colcanna”), a 

company that has applied for licenses to cultivate, produce, research and export medical cannabis CBD and 

THC in Colombia.  The Company has agreed to acquire MMJ Colombia for: 

 

• advancing US$1,200,000 of the purchase price in cash upon receipt by Colcanna of the final cannabis 

licenses;  

• issue on the closing date CDN$32,000,000 of common shares in the capital of Scythian (the “Common 

Shares”) at an issue price equal to the volume weighted average price of the Common Shares over the 20 

trading days prior to the closing date of the Acquisition, provided that no less than 6,280,000 Common 

Shares will be issued as share consideration; 

• issue on the closing date US$5,000,000 of non-interest bearing, unsecured promissory notes for the 

following principal amounts due on the following dates: 

o US$2,000,000, due on June 30, 2018; 

o US$2,000,000, due on September 30, 2018; 

o US$500,000, due on December 30, 2018; and 

o US$500,000, due on March 19, 2019. 

 

The promissory notes may be repaid by way of cash or Common Shares at the option of Scythian.   

 

The closing of the acquisition remains subject to the signing of a final business combination agreement as well as 

TSXV approval and other closing conditions. 

 

14. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

 

Investing and financing activities that do not have a direct impact on cash flows are excluded from the 

statement of cash flows. 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2018: 

 

i) the Company issued 50,000 common shares as settlement of accrued and unpaid salaries, wages, and 

benefits of $919,245 owing to two directors and officers of the Company. 

 

ii) the Company recorded $669,388 as a contribution to equity in connection with the forgiveness of accrued 

salaries, wages, and benefits owed to directors and officers of the Company. 

 

iii) the Company recorded $189,000 as a reduction to equity in connection with the cancellation of 108,000 

common shares.  Shares were cancelled as part of the sale of a subsidiary (note 9). 

 

iv) the Company recorded $50,000 other receivables in connection with the disposition of Go Green (note 9). 

 

These transactions were excluded from the statement of cash flows. 

 

The Company earned interest of $141,054 (2017 - $Nil, 2016 - $27,028). 
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15. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS 

 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations as they become due. The 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the Company’s ability to receive continued 

financial support from its stakeholders and, ultimately, on the Company’s ability to generate continued 

profitable operations. Management is of the opinion that sufficient working capital is available from its 

financings to meet the Company's liabilities and commitments as they come due. The Company manages its 

liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and anticipating any investing and financing activities. 

Management and the Board of Directors are actively involved in the review, planning and approval of 

significant expenditures and commitments. 

Currency Risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 

of changes in foreign exchange rates. From time to time, the Company holds financial instruments that are 

denominated in a currency other than the Canadian dollar. At March 31, 2018, the Company held financial 

assets of $621,508 (March 31, 2017 - $886,969) denominated in US dollars and had research and 

development commitments denominated in US Dollars. During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company 

recognized foreign currency exchange loss of $27,770 (2017 – loss of $14,605) relating to currency 

fluctuations between the Canadian and US dollars.   

16. PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE 

 

On November 22, 2016, the Company issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $345,000 in favour 

of various lenders, pursuant to cash received. The promissory notes accrued interest at a rate of 12% per 

annum and were repayable, together with accrued and unpaid interest upon the earlier of: (a) February 21, 

2017 or (b) upon the Company completing, in any 30-day period, one or more financings for an aggregate 

amount of $1,000,000 by way of debt, equity or other secured or unsecured loans. 

The Company amended the promissory note to extend the maturity date to the earlier of (i) May 31, 2017 or 

(ii) the Company completing, in any 30-day period, one or more financings for an aggregate amount of 

$1,000,000 by way of debt, equity or other secured or unsecured loans. 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company recorded interest expense of $Nil a (2017 - $48,990) 

with respect to this promissory note.  The promissory notes payable were fully repaid in March 2017. 
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17. INCOME TAXES 
 

The reconciliation of the combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rate of 26.5% (2017 

- 26.5%) to the effective tax rate is as follows: 

 

 
The following table summarizes the components of deferred tax assets and liabilities: 

 

Deferred taxes are provided as a result of temporary differences that arise due to the differences between 

the income tax values and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities.  Deferred tax assets have not been 

recognized in respect of the following deductible temporary differences: 

 

 
 

The Canadian non-capital loss carryforwards expire as noted in the table below. The net capital loss carry 

forward may be carried forward indefinitely, but can only be used to reduce capital gains.  Share issue and 

financing costs will be fully amortized in 2022.  The remaining deductible temporary differences may be 

carried forward indefinitely.  Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because 

it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the group can utilize the benefits 

therefrom. 

 

The Company’s Canadian non-capital income tax losses expire as follows: 

 

 

2017

Net Income (Loss) before recovery of income taxes (25,931,386)$       2,976,064$       

Expected income tax (recovery) expense (6,871,817)            (788,657)           

Share based compensation and non-deductible expenses 4,857,846             26,079              

Utilisation of losses for Debt forgiveness 372,856                -                         

Others 71,077                   -                         

Change in tax benefits not recognized 1,570,038             762,578            

Income tax (recovery) expense -$                       -$                  

2018

2018 2017

Property, plant and equipment -                             390,318            

Share issuance costs - 20(1)(e ) 5,487,480             212,265            

Non-capital losses carried forward 12,887,755           5,411,729         

Capital losses carried forward 255,500                -                         

Resource pools - Mineral Properties 1,245,666             -                         

Eligible capital expenditures -                             39,375              

2035 338,352                

2036 1,046,029             

2037 2,621,728             

2038 8,881,646             
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18. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

 

Certain immaterial comparative figures have been reclassified in order to conform to the consolidated 

financial statement presentation adopted for the current year.  There has been no impact on the main lines 

of the statement of financial position, statement of loss and comprehensive loss, statement of shareholders’ 

equity or statement of cash flow. 

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

On July 17, 2018, the Company sign a definitive share purchase agreement with Aphria, under which it would 

sell a wholly own subsidiary LATAM Holdings Inc. (“Latam”) to Aphria Inc. (“Aphria”) in exchange for 

$193,000,000 of common shares at a price of $12.31 per share for a total of 15,678,310 common shares.     

Latam was incorporated subsequent to year end.  Prior to the closing, Scythian will complete its acquisitions 

of MMJI, MAI and MMJ Colombia, all of which will be come subsidiaries of Latam. Aphria will also assume 

USD$1 million in aggregate liabilities owing to Scythian from MMJI, MAI and MMJ Colombia. 

On July 20, 2018, the Company signed a binding letter of intent with Brazil Investments Inc. (“Brazil 

Investments”).  Brazil Investments owns the right to acquire a 100% interest in Green Farma Brasil.  Under 

the terms of the letter of intent, the Company shall issue $2,400,000 of common shares at a 20 day volume 

weighted average price immediately prior to closing date in exchange for: 

• 15% of the issued and outstanding shares of Brazil Investments; 

• drag along rights, at Scythian’s sole discretion, such that Scythian may sell up to 50.1% of the shares of 

Brazil at a pre-agreed valuation, under which all shareholders of Brazil Investments shall sell a pro-rata 

portion of their shares to fulfil the 50.1% requirement; and 

• a right of first refusal to acquire the remaining 49.9% of Brazil Investments. 

The closing of the acquisition remains subject to the signing of a final business combination agreement as well 

as TSXV approval and other closing conditions. 



 

D-1 

APPENDIX D 
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE ISSUER INCLUDING THE 

AUDITOR'S REPORT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 
DECEMBER 31, 2015  

(See attached) 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

  (an exploration stage company) 
 
 

Audited Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 
 
 
 

As at and for the years ended 
December 31, 2016 and 2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 
(an exploration stage company) 

 
 
 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed financial statements of Kitrinor Metals Inc. (the "Company") are the 
responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. 
 

The financial statements have been prepared by management, on behalf of the Board of Directors, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Where necessary, 
management has made informed judgments and estimates in accounting for transactions which were not complete at the 
Statement of Financial Position date. In the opinion of management, the financial statements have been prepared within 
acceptable limits of materiality and are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards appropriate in the 
circumstances. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the financial statements together with other financial 
information of the Company and for ensuring that management fulfills its financial reporting responsibilities. An Audit 
Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling this responsibility. The Audit Committee meets with management to 
review the internal controls over the financial reporting process. The Audit Committee meets with management to review the 
financial reporting process and the financial statements together with other financial information of the Company. The Audit 
Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for its consideration in approving the financial statements together 
with other financial information of the Company for issuance to the shareholders.  
 
Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs in compliance with established financial 
standards, and applicable laws and regulations, and for maintaining proper standards of conduct for its activities. 
 
 
 
 
  
“Lisa McCormack”        “Arvin Ramos”    
President and Chief Executive Officer      CFO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Kitrinor Metals Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Kitrinor Metals Inc., which comprise the statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity, and cash
flows for the year ended December 31, 2016 and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Kitrinor Metals
Inc. as at December 31, 2016, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2016
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which describes the material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Other Matters

The financial statements of the Company, for the year ended December 31, 2015, were audited by another auditor
who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on May 20, 2016.

April 20, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants
Toronto, Ontario Licensed Public Accountants
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Nature of Operations and Going Concern (Note 1) 
Subsequent Events (Note 15) 
 
Approved on behalf of the Board on April 20 2017: 
 
 
Signed   "James Fairbairn"                Signed   "Patrick Mohan"            
Director        Director 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statements of Financial Position 
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As at December 31,  2016 2015 

 $ $ 

Assets   

Current Assets   

  Cash  2,874 280 

  Receivables (Note 6) 4,874 3,047 

 7,748 3,327 

   

Liabilities   

Current Liabilities   

Loan payable (Note 8) - 42,420 

Trade and other payables (Note 7) 22,614 401,699 

 22,614 444,119 

   

Deficiency in Assets     

Capital Stock (Note 10) 2,806,531  2,806,531 

Special Warrants 392,000 - 

Warrant Reserves 106,000 - 

Share-based Payments Reserves (Note 12) 1,459,792 1,459,792 

Deficit   (4,779,189)   (4,707,115)  

 (14,866) (440,792) 
 7,748  3,327 
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(an exploration stage company) 

 

Statements of Comprehensive Loss 
 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

  
Years Ended December 31,  2016 2015 

 $ $ 
Administrative Expenses   

Management and consulting fees (Note 9) - 60,000 

Professional fees 33,307 16,166 

General and administrative 17,175 25,554 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures (500) - 
Shareholder information  33,025 23,750 
 (83,007) (125,470) 

Debt forgiveness 10,933 - 

Net loss and comprehensive loss   (72,074) (125,470) 

   

Loss per share  - basic and diluted  (0.015) (0.052) 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic -diluted 4,818,473 2,430,638 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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*During the year, the Company underwent a 10:1 share consolidation.  All previous share amounts have been restated on a 10:1 basis. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 
(an exploration stage company) 
 

Statements of Changes in Equity  
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 Capital Stock  Special Warrants  Reserves   

 Number of 
shares* Amount  

Number of 
shares 

Amount  Share based 
payments Warrants Deficit Total 

Balance at January 1, 2015       2,430,638 $ 2,806,531  - $               -  $    1,459,792 $               - $   (4,581,645) $   (315,322) 
Net loss - -  - -  - - (125,470) (125,470) 

Balance at December 31, 2015         2,430,638 $ 2,806,531  - $               -  $    1,459,792 $               - $   (4,707,115) $   (440,792) 
Special warrants issued for cash - -  10,000,000 $   500,000  - - - 500,000 
Issuance costs – cash - -  - (2,000)  -  - (2,000) 
Share issuance costs – broker warrants - -  760,000 (106,000)  - 106,000 - - 
Net loss - -  - -  - -  (72,074)  (72,074) 

Balance at December 31, 2016         2,430,638 $ 2,806,531  10,760,000 $   392,000  $    1,459,792 $   106,000 $   (4,779,189) $   (14,866) 



5 
 

 

 
(an exploration stage company) 

 

Statements of Cash Flows 
 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

Years Ended December 31, 2016 2015 
Operating activities $ $ 

   

Net loss  (72,074) (125,470) 

Adjustment to reconcile comprehensive loss to net cash used by 
operating activities:         

  

Debt forgiveness 10,933  

Interest accretion on loan payable (2,420) 2,420 

 (63,561) (123,050) 
    Net Change in non-cash working capital items:    

Trade and other receivables  (1,827) 5,606 

Trade and other payables  (390,018) 75,865 

 (455,406) (41,579) 

Financing activities   

Issuance of special warrants, net issuance costs 498,000 - 

Proceed from loan from related party 25,000 40,000 

Repayment of loan from related party (65,000)  

 458,000 40,000 

Increase (Decrease) in cash 2,594 (1,579) 

Cash at beginning of period 280 1,859 

Cash at end of period $             2,874 $            280 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 
 
Kitrinor Metals Inc. (“Kitrinor” or the “Company”) is incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario. The 
Company is considered to be in the exploration stage. The principal business of the Company is the acquisition, 
exploration and development of mineral properties in Canada. The Company’s registered head office is 365 Bay 
Street, Suite 400, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 2V1. 
 
The Company’s common shares trade on the TSX-V under the trading symbol “KIT”. The Company is a reporting 
issuer in the provinces of Ontario, Alberta and British Columbia. 

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $14,866 (2015 – $440,792), had not yet 
achieved profitable operations, has accumulated losses of $4,779,189 (2015 - $4,707,115) and expects to incur future 
losses in the development of its business, all of which casts substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. These financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Company will continue as 
a going concern and do not reflect the adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the 
reported expenses and balance sheet classifications that would be necessary if the Company were unable to 
realize its assets and settle its liabilities as a going concern in the normal course of operations.  Such 
adjustments could be material.  
 
The business of mining and exploring for minerals involves a high degree of risk and there can be no assurance that 
current exploration programs will result in profitable mining operations.  The recoverability of the carrying value of 
interest in mineral properties and the Company's continued existence is dependent upon the preservation of its 
interest in the underlying properties, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the achievement of profitable 
operations, or the ability of the Company to raise additional financing, if necessary, or alternatively upon the 
Company's ability to dispose of its interests on an advantageous basis.  Changes in future conditions could require 
material write-downs to the carrying values.   
 
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting exploration and in 
which it has an interest, in accordance with industry standards for the current stage of exploration of such properties, 
these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title.  Property title may be subject to unregistered prior 
agreements, aboriginal claims, unregistered claims, and non-compliance with regulatory and environmental 
requirements. 
 
When stock market conditions become favourable for mineral exploration companies to raise capital, 
management plans to secure the necessary financing through a combination of the exercise of existing 
warrants for the purchase of common shares, the issue of new equity or debt instruments and the entering into 
joint venture arrangements. Nevertheless, there is no assurance that these initiatives will be successful.  
 
The Company will require substantial additional funds to further explore and, if warranted, develop its 
exploration properties.  The Company has limited financial resources and no current source of recurring 
revenue, and there is no assurance that additional funding will be available to the Company to carry out the 
completion of its planned exploration activities.  There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to 
obtain adequate financing in the future or that the terms of such financing will be favourable.  Failure to obtain 
such additional financing could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of further exploration and property 
development.  The terms of any additional financing obtained by the Company could result in substantial 
dilution to the shareholders of the Company.   
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2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
2.1 Statement of compliance 
 
These audited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 
These financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the Company on April 20 2017.   
 
2.2 Basis of presentation and functional and presentation currency 
 
These audited financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost 
convention, except fair value through profit and loss assets which are carried at fair value, and have been prepared 
using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow information, as explained in the accounting policies set out 
in Note 3.  
 
The financial statements are presented in Canadian Dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company. 
 
2.3 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations 
 
New standards and interpretations adopted 
 
No new relevant standards were applied for the first time during the year ended December 31, 2016. 
 
Standards issued but not yet effective 
 
Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRSIC”) that are 
mandatory and would be applicable to Kitrinor for annual periods on or after January 1, 2017. Many are not applicable 
or do not have a significant impact to the Company and have been excluded. The following have not yet been adopted 
and are being evaluated to determine their impact on the Company. 
 

• IFRS 9 – Financial instruments (“IFRS 9”), was issued by the IASB in July 2014 and will replace IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether 
a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The 
approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business 
model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Most of the requirements in IAS 
39 for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The 
new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment 
methods in IAS 39.  A new hedge accounting model is introduced and represents a substantial overhaul of 
hedge accounting which will allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities in the financial 
statements.  The most significant improvements apply to those that hedge non-financial risk, and so these 
improvements are expected to be of particular interest to non-financial institutions.  The Company has yet to 
assess the full impact of IFRS 9. 

 
• IFRS 16 – Leases – The standard was issued by the IASB on January 13, 2016, and will replace IAS 17, 

“Leases”. IFRS 16 will bring most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single model, eliminating the 
distinction between operating and financing leases. Lessor accounting however remains largely unchanged 
and the distinction between operating and finance leases is retained. The new standard is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 with early adoption permitted if IFRS 15 has also been 
applied. The Company is assessing the impact of this standard on the Company’s financial statements. 



 
(an exploration stage company) 
 

 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
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3.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
3.1 Mineral properties 
 
All exploration and evaluation costs, are charged to operations in the period incurred until such time as it has been 
determined that a property has economically recoverable reserves, in which case subsequent exploration costs and 
the costs incurred to develop the property are first tested for impairment and then capitalized as a mining asset under 
development. On the commencement of commercial production, depletion of each mining property will be provided on 
a unit‐of‐production basis using estimated resources as the depletion base. 
 
Ownership in mineral properties involves certain risks due to the difficulties in determining the validity of certain claims 
as well as the potential for problems arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyance history characteristics of many 
mining interests. The Company has investigated the ownership of its mineral properties and, to the best of its 
knowledge, ownership of its interests are in good standing. 
 
3.2 Share-based payments 

 
The Company’s directors and senior executives, who provide services to Kitrinor under consulting contracts, receive a 
portion of their remuneration in the form of share‐based payment transactions, whereby they render services as 
consideration for equity instruments (“equity‐settled transactions”). 
 
In situations where equity instruments are issued and some or all of the goods or services received by the entity as 
consideration cannot be specifically identified, they are measured at fair value of the share‐based payment. 
 
The costs of equity‐settled transactions with employees are measured by reference to the fair value at the date on 
which they are granted. 
 
The costs of equity‐settled transactions are recognized, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award (“the vesting date”). The cumulative expense is recognized for 
equity‐settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the Company’s best estimate of the 
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The profit or loss charge or credit for a period represents the 
movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period and the corresponding 
amount is represented in the share based-payments reserve. 
 
No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon 
a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied 
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. 

 
Where the terms of an equity‐settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the expense as if the 
terms had not been modified. An additional expense is recognized for any modification which increases the total fair 
value of the share‐based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of 
modification. 
 
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional dilution in the computation of earnings per share. 
 
3.3 Taxation 
 
Income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently payable and deferred tax.  
 
Current income tax 
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the date of the statement of financial position.  
 



 
(an exploration stage company) 
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
3.3 Taxation (continued) 
 
Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the date of the statement of financial 
position between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, except 
where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;  
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each date of the statement of financial position and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each date of the statement of financial 
position and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred 
tax asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the date of the statement of financial position. 

 
Deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
3.4 Valuation of equity instruments  
 
The Company has adopted the residual method with respect to the measurement of common shares and warrants 
issued as private placement units or initial public offering units. Warrants attached to units are valued based on the 
fair value of the warrants using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the share price at the time of financing, 
and the difference between the proceeds raised and the value assigned to the warrants is the residual fair value of the 
shares. 
 
The proceeds from the issue of units are allocated between share capital and reserve for warrants. If and when the 
warrants are exercised, the applicable amounts of reserve for warrants are transferred to capital stock. Consideration 
paid on the exercise of the warrants is credited to capital stock.  
 
3.5 Loss per share 
 
The basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the year. The diluted loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit attributable to 
common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted 
average number of shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential of warrants and options 
into common shares. During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, shares issuable on exercise of all the 
outstanding stock options and warrants were not included in the computation of diluted loss per share as the effect 
would have been anti-dilutive. 
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
3.6 Financial assets 
 
All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into one of the following four 
categories: held‐to‐maturity, available‐for‐sale, loans‐and-receivables or at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

 
Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized through 
the statement of comprehensive loss. The Company’s cash is classified as FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets classified as loans‐and‐receivables are measured at amortized cost. The Company’s HST 
recoverable is classified as loans‐and-receivables. 

 
Transactions costs associated with FVTPL financial assets are expensed as incurred, while transaction costs 
associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset. 

 
3.7 Financial liabilities 
 
All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as either FVTPL or 
other‐financial‐liabilities. 

 
Financial liabilities classified as other‐financial‐liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable 
transaction costs. The Company’s trade and other payables and the loan payable due to a related party are classified 
as other‐financial‐liabilities. 

 
Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated 
upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Fair value changes on financial liabilities classified as FVTPL are recognized 
through the statement of comprehensive loss. At December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 the Company has not 
classified any financial liabilities as FVTPL. 
 
3.8 Impairment of financial assets 

 
The Company assesses, at each date of the statement of financial position, whether a financial asset is impaired. 

 
3.9 Related party transactions 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Kitrinor’s officers and 
directors are considered related parties due to the significant influence they have over Kitrinor’s operations. A 
transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between 
related parties.  
 
3.10 Significant accounting judgments and estimates 
 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgements and estimates and form 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, management 
evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, and expenses.  Management uses historical 
experience and various other factors it believes to be reasonable under the given circumstances as the basis for its 
judgements and estimates.  Actual outcomes may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and 
conditions.  
 
Judgments made by management that have a significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the current and following fiscal years are discussed below: The most 
significant estimates relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
3.10 Significant accounting judgments and estimates (continued) 

• Warrants granted are accounted for using the fair value method. Under this method, the fair value of 
warrants granted are measured at estimated fair value at the grant date and recognized over the vesting 
period.  

 
• the calculation of the fair value of share‐based payments and equity settled transactions requires the use of 

estimates of inputs in the Black-Scholes option pricing valuation model; 
 
• assessment of the going concern presumption as detailed in Note 1 to the financial statements; 

 
4.   CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company, in order to support the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties and to ensure it 
continues as a going concern.  The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 
management as this form of measure is irrelevant to the effective management of capital for an exploration stage 
company. Instead, the Board relies on the expertise of the Company’s managements to sustain future development 
of the business. 
 
All of the properties in which the Company currently has an interest are in the exploration stage with no operating 
revenues; as such the Company is solely dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out 
the planned exploration and pay for administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working capital and 
raise additional amounts as needed. The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an 
interest in additional properties if it feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate 
financial resources to do so. 

 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, given 
the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 
 
The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by regulatory body, other than of the TSX Venture 
Exchange (“TSXV”) which requires adequate working capital or financial resources of the greater of (i) $50,000 and 
(ii) an amount required in order to maintain operations and cover general and administrative expenses for a period 
of 6 months. As of December 31, 2016, the Company is not compliant with the policies of the TSXV. The impact of 
this violation is not known and is ultimately dependent on the discretion of the TSXV. 

 
There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the year ended December 31, 
2016. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
5.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
Fair value 
  
The Company has designated its cash fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), which are measured at fair value.  
Trade and other payables and loan payable are classified for accounting purposes as other financial liabilities, which 
are measured at amortized cost, which also equals fair value.  Fair values of trade and other payables are 
determined from transaction values which were derived from observable market inputs.  

 
As at December 31, 2016, the carrying and fair value amounts of the Company's financial instruments are 
approximately equivalent due to the relatively short periods to maturity of these instruments.   
 
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information and information about 
financial instruments.  These estimates are subject to and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment, 
therefore cannot be determined with precision.  Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.  
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5.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
Fair value (continued) 

 
A summary of the Company's risk exposures as it relates to financial instruments are reflected below: 

 
i)   Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counter-party’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations.  The credit 
risk is attributable to various financial instruments, as noted below.  The credit risk is limited to the carrying value 
amount carried on the balance sheet. 

 
• Cash  

Cash and cash equivalents are held with major Canadian banks and therefore the risk of loss is 
minimal. 

 
ii)       Liquidity risk 
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities 
as they become due.  As at December 31, 2016, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $14,866 (2015 – 
$440,792).  In order to meet its longer-term working capital and property exploration expenditures, the Company 
intends on securing further financing to ensure that those obligations are properly discharged.  As such, 
management believes that the Company will then have sufficient working capital to discharge its current and 
anticipated obligations for a minimum of one year.  There can be no assurance that Kitrinor will be successful in its 
efforts to arrange additional financing on terms satisfactory to the Company.  If additional financing is raised by the 
issuance of shares from the treasury of the Company, control of Kitrinor may change and shareholders may suffer 
additional dilution.  If adequate financing is not available, the Company may be required to delay, reduce the scope 
of, or eliminate one or more exploration activities or relinquish rights to certain of its interests.  Failure to obtain 
adequate additional financing on a timely basis could cause the Company to forfeit some or all of its interests and 
reduce or terminate its operations therein. 
 
iii) Market risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates, commodity prices and/or stock market movements (price risk). 
 

• Interest rate risk 
The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate price risk due to the short-term nature of its 
monetary assets and liabilities.  Cash not required in the short term, is invested in short-term 
guaranteed investment certificates, as appropriate. 
 
In terms of interest rate risk on the related party loans outstanding as of December 31, 2016.   
Management believes there is minimal risk that the interest rate on the loan would change significantly 
prior to being repaid. 

 
6.  RECEIVABLES  
 

The Company’s trade and other receivables arise from two main sources:  receivables due from third parties for 
property sales and harmonized services tax (“HST”) receivable.  These are broken down as follows: 
 

As at December 31, 2016 2015 
HST recoverable $         4,374    $        3,047    
Other Receivables 500 - 
Total Trade and Other Receivables  $         4,874    $        3,047    
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7. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

Trade and other payables of the Company are principally comprised of amounts outstanding for trade purchases 
relating to exploration activities and amounts payable for operating and financing activities.  The usual credit period 
taken for trade purchases is between 30 to 90 days. 
 
The following comprises trade and other payables: 

 
As at December 31, 2016 2015 
Trade payables $             613 $        25,508 
Professional fees 22,001 21,191 
Consulting fees - 355,000 
Total Trade and Other Payables $        22,614     $      401,699     

 
During the year ended December 31, 2016 $10,933 (2015 – nil) of debt was forgiven. 

  
8. DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 

 
As at December 31, 2016, the trade and other payables balances includes related-party amounts of $12,001 (2015 - 
$367,691). 
 
On March 2, 2015 and revised June 19, 2015 and May 3, 2016,  the Company executed a Promissory Note in the 
amount of $65,000 to a director, officer and shareholder of the Company (hereinafter called the “Holder”), bearing 
interest at a rate of 8% calculated monthly, not in advance, as well as after as before and after default.  Funds were 
used towards general operating expenses. Under the terms of the Promissory Note the principal and any accrued 
and unpaid interest owing shall become due and be paid in full on demand, which demand may be made by the 
Holder at any time.  In addition, at any time and from time to time, any portion of the principal may be repaid without 
any notice being given to the Holder and without any bonus or penalty being paid to the Holder. On October 31, 
2016 the Company paid this loan in full. 

 
9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION 

 
The financial statements include balances and transactions with directors and/or officers of the Company. The 
company defines its key management as its CEO, CFO, Vice President of Exploration and its board of directors.  
 

These expenditures are summarized as follows: 

For the year ending December 31,  2016 2015 

Management and consulting fees $              - $      60,000 

Legal fees $    23,137 $        7,466 
 
10. CAPITAL STOCK 
 

(a) Authorized 
 
An unlimited number of common shares. 
 
(b) Issued 
 No. of Shares                         $ 

Balance at December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014  2,430,638 $    2,806,531 
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10. CAPITAL STOCK (continued) 
 
On October 11, 2016 the Company completed a private placement of pre consolidated special warrants at a price of 
$0.005 per special warrant.  Each pre consolidated special warrant unit is exchangeable, for no additional 
consideration, into one-tenth (1/10) of a post consolidation unit of the Company resulting subscribers receiving one 
whole post consolidation unit for each pre consolidation special ten (10) special warrants purchased following the 
Consolidation (as defined below) of the common shares of the Company.  Each post consolidate whole Unit is 
comprised of one common share of the Company and one common share purchase warrant of the Company. Each 
Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one-tenth (1/10) of a pre consolidated Warrant Share for a period of 
three (3) years after the closing date of the Offering at a price of $0.01 per pre consolidated Warrant Share (subject 
to adjustment following the Consolidation). 
 
The Special Warrants will automatically be exchanged for Units upon satisfaction of the following Conditions: 
 

1. the completion of a consolidation of the outstanding common shares of the Company on a 10 (old) 
common shares for 1 (new) common share (the “Consolidation”); 

2. receipt of approval of the TSX Venture Exchange for the Offering and the Consolidation; and 
3. receipt of all regulatory approvals required for the Offering and the Consolidation. 

 
Certain eligible persons will be paid a commission equal to 8% of the gross proceeds of the Offering (satisfied 
through the issuance of Units at the Purchase Price or cash, at the option of the Finder) and issue non-transferable 
broker warrants equal to 8% of the Special Warrants issued pursuant to the Offering. Each Broker Warrant will 
entitle the holder to acquire one Unit at the Purchase Price (subject to adjustment following the Consolidation) for a 
period of two (2) years following the closing date of the Offering. 
 
In connection with the private placement, the Company paid $2,000 in finders fees and issued 760,000 special 
warrants. 
 
 (c) Outstanding Issued Warrants 

 
The outstanding issued warrants balance at December 31, 2016, is comprised of 5,000 non-broker warrants at an 
exercise price of $2.50 that expire on December 19, 2017;10,760,000 special warrants and 800,000 broker warrants 
at an exercise price of $0.05 that expire October 11, 2018.  
 
(d) Stock Options 

 
The Company established a stock option plan (the “Plan”) as a method of providing incentives and as a form of 
remuneration to its officers, directors, employees and consultants.  The Plan allows for the issuance of up to 10% of 
the issued and outstanding common shares. At December 31, 2016, total options available for issuance under this 
Plan amount to 243,064 common shares.   

 
Stock option transactions and the number of stock options issued and outstanding are as follows: 

 
 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 

 Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
Number of 

Options 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
Number of 

Options 

Outstanding and exercisable at beginning of year $     2.50 213,500 $     2.50 213,500 

Outstanding and exercisable at end of year $     2.50 213,500 $     2.50 213,500 
 

The remaining weighted average life remaining on the stock options is 0.97 years (2015 – 1.97). 
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11. WARRANT RESERVES 
 
A summary of the changes in the Company’s reserves for warrants for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 
2015 are set out below: 
 

 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 
 Amount 

$ 
Amount 

$ 

Balance at beginning of year - - 
  Broker warrants issued 106,000 - 
 
Balance at end of year 106,000 - 

 
The following table summarizes the assumptions used with the Black-Scholes valuation model for warrants issued and 
outstanding as at December 31, 2016:  
 
 

Grant date October 11, 
2016 

Total 

No. of warrants 800,000 800,000 
Exercise price $        0.05  
Expected life in years 2  
Volatility 179.99%  
Risk-free interest rate 0.56%  
Grant date share price 0.15  
Dividend yield -  
Fair value of warrants  $  106,000 $  106,000 
 
Option pricing models require the use of highly subjective estimates and assumptions including the expected stock 
price volatility. Volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company. Changes in the underlying assumptions 
can materially affect the fair value estimates. 
 
Broker warrants issued to non-employees were valued using the fair value of the equity instrument granted in the 
absence of a reliable estimate of the fair value of the goods or services received. 

 
12. SHARE BASED PAYMENT RESERVES 

 
A summary of the changes in the Company’s reserves for share based payments for the years ended December 31, 
2016 and 2015 are set out below: 
 

 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 
 Amount 

$ 
Amount 

$ 

Balance at beginning of year  1,459,792 1,459,792 

Balance at end of year 1,459,792 1,459,792 
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13. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES 
 
The exploration and evaluation expenses for the Company are broken down as follows: 
 

  Year Ended  
 December 

31, 2016 
December 

31, 2015 
Cumulative to date 

    
Bayview Property $              - $          - $  11,143 
Caley Lake - - 16,782 
Culroc Property (500) - 471,977 
Feather River 
Property - -  420,160 
Exploration and 
Evaluation Costs $       (500) $          - $ 920,062 

 
Caley Lake Property 
 
The Company staked mining claims that are located in the Patricia Mining Division south west of Pickle Lake, 
Ontario.  
 
On July 15th, 2010, the Company optioned the Caley Lake Property to a third party providing them an undivided 
80% right, title and interest in and to the claims in consideration for completion of certain Work Costs (as defined in 
the agreement) during the Option Period expiring on July 15th, 2015 such that the cumulative sum of all Work Costs 
totals $250,000 or the sum of all Work Costs and a direct cash payment made by the Optionee totals $250,000. 
Kitrinor retains a 2% net smelter return/royalty, which the Optionee has the exclusive right and option to purchase 
one half of the Royalty (1%) at any time for $750,000. 
 
On June 25, 2015, the conditions, as above, necessary for title to pass to the Optionee had been met and the 
Company has transferred title according to the agreement with the Company retaining 20% interest. 
 
On January 20, 2017 the Company entered into an Assignment Agreement to assign all of its rights, title and 
interest in the Option Agreement to Generic Capital Corporation. 
 
Culroc Property 
 
On September 27th, 2011 the Company entered into a Mining Claim Acquisition Agreement (the “Agreement”) 
whereby Kitrinor acquired 100 percent interest (“Sothman Property”) located in the Township of Sothman in the 
Porcupine mining division of Ontario. 
 
Under the terms of the Agreement, Kitrinor paid $10,000 upon the execution of the Agreement. 
 
Kitrinor shall pay to the Vendors a 3 percent (3%) Net Smelter Return (NSR) production royalty from the production 
or sale of gold or other minerals from the Culroc Property.  Kitrinor will have the sole and exclusive right and option 
to purchase 1% of the Royalty (such that the remaining Royalty shall be reduced to 2% of Net Returns) for a price 
equal to the Reduction Price of $1,500,000. 
  
On December 18, 2012 the Company entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (the “MOU”) with the 
Mattagami First Nation (“MFN”) in order to promote a cooperative ongoing discussion between the parties with 
regards to the exploration and development of the Company’s mining claims located in the traditional territory of the 
MFN (the “Project”).  
 
The MOU establishes the general framework for these discussions by setting out, among other things, business, 
employment and training opportunities for members of the MFN to participate in the exploration and development in 
connection with the Project. 
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13.    EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES (continued) 
 
Culroc Property (continued) 
 
Pursuant to the terms of the MOU, the Company has: (i) paid 2% of all drilling and exploration costs incurred to date 
with respect to the exploration program on the Project; (ii) issued to the MFN 5,000 options to acquire common 
shares of the Company at an exercise price of $2.50; and (iii) issued 5,000 common shares in the capital of the 
Company.  
 
The Company is also required to pay the MFN’s legal costs associated with negotiating the MOU of $2,500, and pay 
up to a maximum of $15,000 per year to the MFN’s Elders Committee. The Company is also required to enter into 
negotiations to come to terms on an Impact Benefit Agreement (“IBA”), which is to be negotiated before the 
completion of a feasibility study, covering such matters as education and training; employment opportunities; 
workplace conditions; business opportunities; financial participation and/or compensation; environmental protection, 
litigation, monitoring and reporting; and access to the project area. Under the MOU the Company is also required to 
pay the MFN’s reasonable costs of negotiating the IBA. 
 
On November 24, 2016 the Company entered into a Mining Claim Acquisition Agreement (the “Agreement”) 
whereby Kitrinor sold 100 percent interest in the Sothman Property for a cash payment of $500. 
 
Feather River Property 
 
In March 2011 and amended on February 18, 2014, the Company entered into an Option Agreement (the 
“Agreement”) whereby it was granted the sole, exclusive and irrevocable right and option to acquire up to an 
undivided 100 % interest in St. Germain Township, Sault Ste. Marie Mining Division, Province of Ontario (“Feather 
River Property”) in the Mishibishu Lake area west of Wawa. 

 
Under the terms of the Agreement, upon any recapitalization, such as a split or consolidation which transpired on 
June 1, 2011, the number of consideration shares issued shall be adjusted to preserve the economic equivalent. As 
such, Kitrinor may exercise its option and thereby earn its interest in the property upon fulfilling the commitment to 
pay the seller $150,000 and 75,000 shares of Kitrinor as follows: 
 

a)  $15,000 (paid) and 5,000 shares (issued) upon signing of the agreement; 
b)  an additional $25,000 (paid) and 5,000 shares on March 1st, 2012 (issued);  
c)  an additional $35,000 (paid) and 5,000 shares on March 1st, 2013 (issued);  
d)  an additional 35,000 shares on March 1st, 2014; (issued); 
e)  an additional $75,000 and 25,000 shares on March 1st, 2015 (see below);. 
 f) by carrying out expenditures to keep the claims in good standing. 
 

Kitrinor shall pay to the Vendors a Net Smelter Return (NSR) production royalty form the production or sale of gold 
or other minerals from the Feather River Property.  The production royalty rate shall be 2 percent (2%).  Kitrinor will 
have the sole and exclusive right and option to buy back the entirety of the royalty (2%) in increments of $500,000 
per 0.5% each for a total of $2,000,000 
 
The Company’s commitment to the Feather River Property Agreement with respect to the Feather River property 
above required payment of cash and shares on March 1, 2015. As of the date of this report this Kitrinor is in default 
of this payment but has not yet received a Notice of Termination of the Agreement.  
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13.    EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES (continued) 
 
Bayview Property 
 
This property has been staked by Kitrinor and is contiguous to Feather River.  

 
Upon Kitrinor meeting the terms and conditions for the Feather River Property, there shall be an “Area of Interest” 
consisting of any mineral interest, any part of which falls within these adjoining claims.  The whole of such interest to 
the seller of the Feather River Property shall be limited as above and Kitrinor shall pay to the Vendors a Net Smelter 
Return (NSR) production royalty from the production or sale of gold or other minerals from the Bayview Property.  
The production royalty rate shall be 2 percent (2%).  Kitrinor will have the sole and exclusive right to option to buy 
back the entirety of the royalty (2%) in increments of $500,000 per 0.05% each for a total of $2,000,000. 
 
On February 16, 2017 the Company entered into a Mining Claim Acquisition Agreement (the “Agreement”) whereby 
Kitrinor sold 100 percent interest in the Bayview Property for a cash payment of $100. 
 
 

14. INCOME TAXES 
 

(a) Provision for Income Taxes 
The Company’s income tax provision differs from the amount resulting from the application of the Canadian 
statutory income tax rate. A reconciliation of the combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates with 
the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows: 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2016 2015 
 $  $  
     
Loss before income taxes  (72,074)   (125,470)  
Combined statutory rate 26.50%  26.50%  
  (19,100)   (33,000)  
     
Exploration and evaluation expenditures capitalized 
for income tax purposes -  -  
Non-capital loss -  8,800  
Deferred tax benefit not previously recognized (102,000)  (8,800)  
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets  121,100  33,000  
     
 -  -  
     

 
The Canadian statutory income tax rate of 26.50% (2015 – 26.50%) is comprised of the federal income tax rate at 
approximately 15% (2015 – 15%) and the provincial income tax rate of approximately 11.50% (2015– 11.50%).  
 
The unamortized balance, for income tax purposes, of the share issuance fees amounts to approximately $ 32,130 
(2015 - $28,563) and will be deductible in Canada over the next several years. 
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14. INCOME TAXES (continued) 
 

(a) Provision for Income Taxes (continued) 

As at December 31, 2016 the Company has $1,476,989 (2015 - $1,476,989) of unused Canadian Exploration 
Expenditures (“CEE”) and Canadian Development Expenditures (“CDE”) available to offset future taxable income.  The tax 
benefits pertaining to these expenses are available to carry forward indefinitely.   

 
(b) Tax Loss Carry-forwards 

The Company has accumulated non-capital losses of $ 2,839,287, which may be deducted in the calculation of 
taxable income in future years.  The losses expire as follows: 

 
2027   12,870 
2028   199,376 
2029   128,907 

2030                               -       

2031   520,685 
2032   862,833 
2033   703,940 
2034   176,568 
2035                     125,470 
2036   108,638 

   $        2,839,287 
 
 
 

 (c) Deferred Tax Balances 
The deferred income tax asset is compromised of the following temporary differences:  

 
As at December 31, 2016 2015 

Resource expenditures  $ 1,477,000  $ 1,477,000 

Non-capital loss carry forwards     2,839,000   2,385,000 

Unamortized financing costs 32,000 29,000 

Deferred tax assets not recognized    (4,348,000)    (3,891,000) 
  $ -  $ - 

 
15.    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
On February 21, 2017 the Company announced that it has entered into a non-binding letter of intent dated February 17, 
2017 (“Letter of Intent”) with Scythian Biosciences Inc., a private Canadian Corporation (“Scythian”), in connection with a 
proposed reverse take-over of the Company (the “Proposed Transaction”), subject to approval of the TSX Venture 
Exchange (“TSXV”), to list the shares of the resulting entity (the “Resulting Issuer”) on the TSXV. The Resulting Issuer will 
operate as a life sciences issuer continuing the business of Scythian.  
 
Proposed Transaction 
The Letter of Intent provides that the Company and Scythian will negotiate and enter into a definitive agreement in 
respect of the Proposed Transaction on or before March 10, 2017 (the “Definitive Agreement”). 
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15.    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued) 
 

Pursuant to the terms of the Letter of Intent, completion of the Proposed Transaction will be subject to a number of 
conditions, including completion of an Offering (described below), shareholder approval, if required, completion or waiver 
of sponsorship, receipt of all required regulatory approvals, including the approval of the TSXV, completion of satisfactory 
due diligence reviews, satisfaction of the initial listing requirements of the TSXV and all requirements under the policies of 
the TSXV relating to the completion of the Proposed Transaction, and execution of the Definitive Agreement. 
 
The Company and Scythian will complete the Proposed Transaction by way of a three-cornered amalgamation whereby a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will amalgamate with Scythian to form a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Resulting Issuer. The Proposed Transaction is an arm’s length transaction. 
 
Prior to or contemporaneously with the completion of the Proposed Transaction, Scythian will complete a consolidation of 
its issued and outstanding common shares on a 4 for 1 basis.  
 
The anticipated completion date for the Proposed Transaction is May 31, 2017.  
 
A filing statement or management information circular, as applicable, will be prepared and filed in accordance with the 
policies of the TSXV. 
 
Concurrent Financing 
As a condition to the completion of the Proposed Transaction, Scythian will complete a brokered subscription receipt 
financing, through a syndicate of agents led by Clarus Securities Inc. and including Haywood Securities Inc. (the 
“Agents”), for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $10,000,000 through the issuance of up to 25,000,000 subscription 
receipts (“Subscription Receipts”) at a price of $0.40 per Subscription Receipt (the “Offering”), subject to the rules of, and 
approval by, the TSXV. Upon satisfaction of the escrow release conditions, including all conditions precedent to the 
Proposed Transaction being satisfied, each Subscription Receipt will automatically convert without any further action on 
the part of the holder into one (1) common share of the Resulting Issuer. Should the escrow release conditions not be 
satisfied, the Subscription Receipts will be cancelled and all proceeds from the sale of Subscription Receipts will be 
returned to subscribers without interest.  
 
As compensation for the services provided in connection with the Offering, the Agents will receive a cash commission 
equal to 7% of the gross proceeds raised in connection with the Offering and broker warrants equal to 7% of the Resulting 
Issuer Shares. 
 
Upon completion of the Proposed Transaction, the proceeds of the Offering will be used to further develop the business of 
the Resulting Issuer and for general working capital purposes. 
 
Sponsorship  
Sponsorship of the Proposed Transaction may be required by the TSXV unless an exemption or waiver from this 
requirement can be obtained in accordance with the policies of the TSXV. The Company intends to apply for a waiver of 
the sponsorship requirement. There is no assurance that a waiver from this requirement can or will be obtained. 
 


